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Delivering on our strategy



Xchanging is a fast growing, pure 
play global business processor with 
blue chip customers.

We provide complex industry 
specific processing services to the 
banking and insurance industries 
as well as procurement, finance and 
accounting, and human resources 
services across industries.

Who we are

What we do

 +19%
Revenue growth
up to £558 million from £468 million in 2007

 2.5p
Dividend per share
2.0p per share in 2007, an increase  
of 25% year-on-year

14.67p
Pro forma EPS – diluted2

10.5p in 2007

£527.2m
Revenue visibility
Increased by £81.5 million from £445.7 million in 2007, 
representing 18% year-on-year growth

Key performance indicators1

Find out more information about Xchanging on our website www.xchanging.com
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Spellman Walker Ltd is an FSC and ISO 14001 certified printer that uses vegetable inks and alcohol-free printing processes.
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Footnotes
1  A full reconciliation to the statutory numbers can be found on page 31.
2  See glossary of terms on page 124 for definition.

Revenue growth (£ million)
CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 22%

Xchanging has a track record of rapid growth, 
with a compound annual growth rate of 22%.

XEBIT2 (£ million)
CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 46%

Xchanging has continued to deliver strong profit 
growth with XEBIT up 29.0% in 2008 over 2007.

Margin has improved by 50 basis points in 2008, through 
productivity improvement, expanding our processing 
platforms and leveraging administrative expenses.

Operating cash flow has been strong with cash 
generated from operations increasing by 40.2% 
to £69.7 million in 2008.
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Cash generated from operations  
(£ million) CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 41%
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XEBIT2 margin (%)
(2004 – 2008) +370 basis points
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1+4 Go to Market 
Strategy1

•  for sustained growth

Acquisitions
•  adding volume

Footnotes
1  1+4 go to Market Strategy – ‘1’ represents partnering, our unique offering for dealing with 

complexity. ‘4’ represents our offerings: Outsourcing, products, Straight Through processing 
and Business Support, for customer flexibility and repeatability. In short, a distinctive 
‘1+4 go to Market Strategy’.

2   See glossary of terms for definition.

Partnering
•  rocket booster for 

new sectors and 
geographies

Acquisitions
• international scale
• market access

Processing centres
•  seven production assets2

•  global IT hosting

Acquisitions
•  adding scale
•  adding capability

Our strategy

Our vision is to become the global business processor. To realise our vision, 
we have a simple three-pronged strategy:
•   grow our existing platforms through partnering, Outsourcing, 

products, Straight Through processing, Business Support offerings 
and acquisitions (see page 5)

•   add new platforms in new processes, new geographies or new industry 
sectors through partnering and acquisitions 

•   become the lean processor in each major area of service through 
standardisation, scale and Global Balancing across our processing centres.

Grow existing  
platforms

Add new 
platforms

Lean processor
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Countries we serve customers in

Principal office locations

At a glance

We have established a strong reputation 
in the fast growing global BPO market

6.7%
Percentage of headcount  
growth in 2008 vs 2007 

 15%
Percentage of  
German securities 
market transactions  
processed 

4,541
Employees worldwide.  
8,607 employees within the 
Xchanging/Cambridge Group. 
(as at 31 December 2008)

4m
Number of insurance  
premium and claims  
transactions processed  
between insurers and brokers
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76%
Increase in the number 
of training programmes 
in the UK in 2008 from 2007

38
Countries worldwide in which 
Xchanging services customers 

£900m
Amount of procurement spend  
handled per year 

#1
Procurement Outsourcing 
vendor in Europe for the 
fourth consecutive year 
(Source: 2008 Black book of Outsourcing)
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Our market and opportunity

Our market
in Business process Outsourcing (BpO), customers swap their non-core costs 
for profitable services delivered to their core business, in accordance with 
their defined strategy and policy. 

We provide complex industry specific processing services to the banking 
and insurance industries as well as procurement, finance and accounting, 
and human resources services across industries.

Our opportunity 

US$68.0bn1

idc 2012 
 BpO spend

BPO+2

Projected worldwide BPO spending1

(US$ billion) CAGR (2008 – 2012) 10.7%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

45.1
49.6

55.0
61.0

67.7

Policy/
Strategy

Core
Business

Industry
Specific

IT and H
osting

H
um

an Resources

A
ccounting

Procurem
ent

Example of industry 
specific services:
deutsche Bank 
transferred its german 
securities processing 
to us. We now provide 
securities processing for 
a number of other banks, 
including Citibank and 
Sal. Oppenheim.

Example of services 
across industries:
Bae Systems transferred hR 
and indirect procurement 
to us. We provide services 
to their business units and 
to more than 20 other 
companies in various 
industries.

Footnotes
1  Source: idc, ‘economic crisis Response: Worldwide and US Business process Outsourcing 
Services 2008 – 2012 Forecast: Market Opportunity by Key Horizontal Business Process Update’, 
Doc #215861, December 2008. The graph shows total spend for HR, procurement, and finance 
and accounting in the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific.

2  BpO+ is an illustrative representation of the FY2007 Sg&a costs for 377 of the Fortune 500 
companies totalling US$1.3 trillion (as per available information on Factset).

The combined value of the human resources, finance and accounting, 
and procurement BPO markets globally was estimated to be US$45.1 billion1 
in 2008. This is forecast to grow at 10.7% over the period 2008 – 2012 
excluding industry specific processing.

Xchanging believes the ultimate addressable market for the products and 
services offered by the Group is far greater than the market as currently 
defined by IDC. For example, the combined back office (or sales, general and 
administration (Sg&a) expenditure) of the Fortune 500 companies in 2007 
was well in excess of US$1.3 trillion2. as the long-term trend towards the 
outsourcing of non-core activities continues, this expenditure will increasingly 
become part of Xchanging’s addressable market, providing an opportunity 
for long-term sustained growth.
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Our offerings

Partnering – maximising value together
Xchanging addresses complex industry specific business 
processing and cross-industry processing in human resources, 
finance and accounting, technology infrastructure and large-scale 
procurement. Our Partnering offering is open book with profit 
sharing so that our interests are aligned with our partners.

Outsourcing – guaranteeing sustainable savings
Xchanging takes on business processes or categories of spend 
where we already have platforms proving our capability and 
credibility. Through Outsourcing we scale up our platforms and 
deliver services to an agreed specification and usage charge 
or cost baseline.

Products – delivering the best solution
Xchanging supports essential parts of the business processing 
value chain with application software, such as genius for 
international insurance carriers. Our products are long-term 
strategic assets that can be tailored for customers’ specific 
needs. Products enable us to extend our reach both 
geographically and across the value chain.

Straight Through Processing – optimising the value chain
Xchanging extends the scope of the services delivered to 
customers, reducing the number of interfaces and where 
possible automating them. These additional services extend 
the process flow that Xchanging is already operating, to maximise 
the efficiency of the process as a whole.

Business Support – applying know-how for results
Xchanging offers experts to support specific business activities 
and customer improvement projects. Through Business Support, 
customers have access to Xchanging’s capabilities and re-usable 
assets. Business Support includes services such as corporate 
immigration support, resourcing, programme management 
and process improvement and Six Sigma training and support.

Our ‘go to Market Strategy’ is to provide a range of offerings to meet 
the varying needs of customers for outsourced services.

Our unique offering for dealing with complexity and scale is partnering. 
On top of this we provide four offerings: Outsourcing, products, Straight 
Through Processing and Business Support, for customer flexibility and 
repeatability. In short, a distinctive ‘1+4 Go to Market Strategy’.
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Making change happen
Performance – the Xchanging Way

Our mission is the cultural and operational reinvention of our customers’ 
non-core processing. In short: making change happen. World-beating 
performance is all about teamwork. Because people make it happen. 
and so we organise our resources and measure across seven performance 
functions. Each function has a set of re-usable assets to drive consistency 
and inspire a world-beating attitude. These, together with our company 
values, make up the Xchanging Way. 

Above left
Our people make change 
happen. They work 
in vibrant, open plan 
offices creating a positive 
working environment. 

Left
Our performance charts 
detail every aspect of 
performance.
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performance improvement is at the heart of the Xchanging Way. 
We measure performance for each of our functions in the same way 
across the whole of our business. We bring the attitudes of improving 
every aspect of our performance continuously and we act quickly to 
changing business circumstances.

Service – a commercial attitude that radiates 
customer responsiveness 
Service defines and measures service levels, spots 
problems and new needs early. Service maintains 
a continuous dialogue with customers and strives 
to exceed expectations.

Production – a lean processor attitude that embraces 
power and precision 
production engineers standard processing. it deploys 
advanced and robust technology. Production balances 
available resources with scheduled workload to 
optimise capacity usage.

Sales – a feet-on-the-street attitude with 
entrepreneurial spirit 
Sales finds new revenues. Sales creates compelling 
propositions from our five business processing 
offerings to deliver superior value to our customers.

Relations – a farsighted attitude to be the preferred 
business processor 
Relations stimulates an exchange of information and 
ideas with the market and our customers. Relations 
conducts a programme of communication to build 
awareness and trust. 

Technology – an architectural attitude for long-term 
competitive advantage 
Technology architects processing platforms, products 
and customer solutions. Technology combines 
innovation and reliability to deliver economies 
of scale and leadership.

Quality – a resolute attitude for sustaining  
fit-for-purpose performance 
Quality measures every aspect of the business to 
ensure compliance to quality standards set internally, 
and expected by customers and regulators. 

Implementation – a can do attitude for 
driving improvement
implementation invests in technology, processes 
and people. implementation manages programmes 
to install our re-usable assets to reinvent our 
customers’ non-core processing.

Implementation
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Case study

Service

Electronic trading IT capability
London Metal Exchange, London (UK)
Service is one of our performance functions. Being responsive to our customers 
is one of our values. 

We recently delivered the Select 6 electronic Trading platform to our customer, 
the london Metal exchange (lMe). Working in close co-operation with our 
customer’s members, we created a robust infrastructure meeting their needs 
and future goals.

Our objectives were to provide applications maintenance, support services 
and to manage all aspects of user requests for work within the iT environment. 
Service levels were set for a Straight Through processing system. 

The outcome was impressive. a quantum leap in the electronic trading 
capability of the LME. Its multiple users are guaranteed a clearly defined 
level of service on a world-class platform. Xchanging’s customer satisfaction 
for the LME increased by an average of 16% in 2008. And, the LME has 
pursued its future growth strategy with confidence. Service improvement 
checks continue with regular reporting.

8 XChANGING PLC

shahm
Typewritten Text
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“ With our enhanced IT capability, 
our members can execute trades 
electronically with improved reliability 
and capacity. It gives us the platform 
to pursue our future growth strategy 
with confidence.”
Michael Warren
Chief Technology Officer
london Metal exchange

9XChANGING PLC

Understanding and measuring service levels 
are fundamental to eliminating errors and 
constantly improving quality.
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Case study

Production

Insurance electronification 
London insurance market, Chatham (UK)
Xchanging has been driving forward the move from paper-based 
processing to standard electronic processing, working collaboratively 
with our customers in the london insurance market. Our standardised 
production approach and technology infrastructure allow us to deliver 
the efficiencies our customers expect.

a single standard electronic platform for the entire london insurance 
value chain meant standardising processes across processing centres 
and eliminating manual work. Our production teams achieved this 
by implementing Workflow Control – one of our standard production 
approaches. it has delivered ‘end-to-end’ electronic processing for the 
whole insurance value chain. processing for our customers was enhanced 
with instant access to records, easier tracking of customer requests and 
management of team productivity.

By managing the workflows electronically, we employed our Global Balancing 
model and migrated 40% of work to nearshore and offshore facilities. 
This maximised the benefits of aggregating processes and of arbitrage 
through lower cost resources. it synchronised the use of lower cost locations 
with critical processes being near to the customer. All of this raised service 
levels and met our customers’ expectations. Furthermore, the transparency 
of operational performance made productivity much more effective. 

Using our Global Balancing approach and investing in modern infrastructure, 
we continue to make a paperless insurance market a reality.

10 XChANGING PLC

Our processing centre in Chatham, UK, 
where optimising and standardising 
production has reduced manual work 
using our electronic platform.
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“  As part of our programme of change, 
our production standardisation and 
electronic Workflow Control provide us 
with the scalability, flexibility and control 
we need to meet some of the most 
demanding processing requirements 
in any industry sector.”
Rob Myers
production director
UK Insurance

11XChANGING PLC
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Re-alignment through standardisation
Fondsdepot Bank, Hof (Germany)
September 2008 saw the completion of the re-alignment phase for 
Fondsdepot Bank, our Enterprise Partnership with Allianz Global Investors 
(AGI). The first set of objectives was to instil Xchanging’s service-driven 
culture and methodology, and to optimise Fondsdepot Bank’s operations.

change in culture was achieved through the Xchanging Way training 
programmes for Fondsdepot Bank employees. These programmes involved 
presentations and role play. it allowed employees to understand Xchanging’s 
entrepreneurial culture that drives our growth. at management level, 
we created an experienced team from both Xchanging and AGI. 

Fondsdepot Bank’s work areas were redesigned to create a positive work 
environment. This follows our standardised approach for all our locations. 
These re-alignment changes have already improved service levels. For instance, 
customer call waiting times reduced by 20%.

So far, our re-alignment has provided a solid foundation from which 
we can deliver reliable and fit-for-purpose service to our customers. 
The implementation will now move to the next phase – streamlining. 
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“ Our Enterprise Partnership with 
Xchanging during the re-alignment 
stage has seen efficiencies and product 
improvement initiatives with call waiting 
times reducing by 20%.”
Dr. Thomas Wiesemann
Chief Executive Officer 
Allianz Global Investors KAG

Our implementation teams identify both existing 
and future opportunities to drive change.
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Corporate social responsibility and our people

Our people make change happen

We recruit, manage and develop a versatile and dynamic workforce. 
Our reputation is founded on the transparency of our business 
proposition and living our values. 

We realise our people’s ambitions and achieve our common goal as 
a business processor. This commitment to our employees is supported 
by a structured career development framework and comprehensive 
training. it includes high-potential senior management programmes 
and succession planning.

Our two-year graduate programme gives graduates the opportunity to 
work closely with senior executives. Our graduates undergo a director-level 
mentoring programme. They are exposed to a mix of industry, geographical 
and functional experience, gaining a real insight into the business. Additionally, 
they have the opportunity to gain a professional qualification.

We are committed to incorporate best practice across all our operations. 
2008 marked the first year where we set and disclosed corporate social 
responsibility (CSR) related objectives and targets. 

Visit the CSR section on our website for more 
information www.xchanging.com 
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Right
employees from 

Xchanging hosting 
Services helped 
reinvigorate the 

sensory garden at the 
little havens children’s 
hospice near Basildon.

Bottom right
Students attending 
a Biz Camp summer 

programme, hosted by 
network for Teaching 

entrepreneurship (nFTe) 
at our Frankfurt office. 

Our CSR Committee implements change 
across our business

Our CSR programme is driven by four elements:
•	  People: focusing on aspects of cSR that support and develop 

Xchanging’s employees
•	  Environment: reducing the impact that Xchanging has on the 
environment by ensuring efficient and responsible use of resources

•	  Communities: working with the communities within the regions 
we operate, focusing on youth and education. We support charitable 
causes by providing skills, resources and supporting fundraising

•	  Marketplace: achieving long-term relationships with our customers, 
suppliers and all our stakeholders. 

graduates develop fundamental and 
transferable business knowledge during 
our two-year programme. 
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Xchanging’s values are core to our reputation. They define 
our culture and set us apart from competitors. Our values are:
•  responsive to the aims of customers
•  clear thinking, resolute, brave in decisions 
•  reliable in delivering everything we promise
•  farsighted in relationships
•   skilled at releasing the entrepreneurial spirit in our people.

Our company was founded on these values and they have 
guided its development to date. They are translated into everyday 
actions: from our performance management process, training 
and development, right through to our remuneration and benefits 
strategy. These values are vital to our success. 

For more information on Xchanging, 
visit www.xchanging.com

Xchanging is proud to sponsor the Oxford and Cambridge Boat Race. This event reflects 
Xchanging’s values of training, thorough preparation, teamwork and performance.

Our values

We need to remain clear on our values 
as we grow

91%
Percentage of eligible 
employees who completed 
a Personal Development 
Review on time in 2008

76%
Increase in the number of 
training programmes in the 
UK in 2008 from 2007
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Committed to our success
our business model is even more relevant 
in these difficult times. We drive change 
and are confident that we can continue 
to grow the business in the year ahead.

Confidence

Nigel Rich
chairman see page 18

Growth

Delivering on our strategy
With global presence and local expertise, 
we are creating a new blueprint for 
the industry. 

Leadership

David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer

Generating strong growth
Xchanging’s track record of strong 
growth continues. Regardless of difficult 
market conditions, we deliver revenue and 
profit growth with margin enhancement.

Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer

Commitment Integrating best practice
Our promise to our people, wherever 
they are in the Group, is that they will 
be managed and developed in ways 
that are consistent with our values.

Melissa Bruno
Group HR Director

see page 20

see page 28

see page 38
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Chairman’s statement

Committed to our success

Our performance in 2008
2008 was Xchanging’s first full year as a 
listed company. I am delighted to report 
the Group’s revenues increased 19% to 
£557.8 million compared to 2007 and 
adjusted operating profit attributable to 
Xchanging (XEBIT) increased 29.0% to 
£40.8 million. This is an outstanding 
achievement in such a turbulent year for 
the global economy. It is proposed to 
increase the dividend by 25% to 2.5 pence 
per share.

Board changes
I took over as Chairman in May from 
John Robins who played a key role in 
supporting David Andrews in the early 

days of Xchanging and then led the 
Company through the successful initial 
public offering (IPO). John Bramley and 
David Hodgson as Non-Executive Directors 
(NEDs) were also crucial to the Company’s 
early success. All three retired at the 
AGM and we are most grateful for 
their contribution.

Adele Browne resigned as an Executive 
Director at the end of December, and will 
be leaving as an employee in March 2009, 
after being with the Company almost from 
the outset. Adele has played a significant 
part in the growth of the business. We are 
delighted that Adele will continue to 
provide us with consultancy and advice 

in the commercial area at Xchanging 
after leaving her employment with the 
Xchanging Group.

Pat O’Driscoll joined the Board on 
3 November as a NED, bringing broad 
commercial experience in different 
market sectors. Dennis Millard was 
appointed Senior Independent Director 
in January 2009.

Acquisition of  
Cambridge Solutions Limited
In October, we agreed to acquire a 
controlling interest in Cambridge Solutions 
Limited (Cambridge), an international BPO 
and IT services provider, listed on stock 

Our business model is even more relevant in these 
difficult times. We drive change and are confident 
that we can continue to grow the business in the 
year ahead.

Nigel Rich
chairman

 2.5p
Dividend per share

2007: 2.0p per share
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exchanges in India. This acquisition will 
extend Xchanging’s footprint to Australia 
and the USA, and greatly strengthen 
our presence in India. In January 2009,  
we assumed operational control and 
David Andrews and Richard Houghton 
joined the Board of Cambridge as 
Chairman and CEO, and Executive Director, 
respectively. The integration plan is 
underway in Australia, the USA and India. 
Although we are expecting the acquisition 
to complete on 2 April 2009, we believe 
that the acquisition will greatly enhance 
Xchanging’s growth prospects in the 
medium term. 

Our people
It has been a year of considerable change 
at Board level, and the acquisition of 
Cambridge will add a new dimension 
to the Company. However, Xchanging’s 
success is fuelled by a highly-motivated 
management team and the commitment 
of all our employees to provide the service 
our customers expect. We are very grateful 
for their dedication.

Prospects
The prospect for the global economy 
is very gloomy with recovery dependant 
upon a multitude of factors including 
renewal of stakeholder confidence. 

We believe Xchanging’s business model 
becomes even more relevant in these 
difficult times. Companies are under 
pressure to focus on reducing costs and 
capital expenditure; these are areas where 
Xchanging can help. We are therefore 
confident that we can continue to grow 
the business in the year ahead.

Nigel Rich
chairman
2 March 2009

 2.5p
Dividend per share

2007: 2.0p per share

C
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Delivering on our strategy

In this section
•  sharing the global business processor 

vision with our customers
• Market outlook
• Delivering on our strategy
• Growing existing platforms
• Adding new platforms
• Becoming the lean processor
•  Managing a rapidly growing 

and increasingly global business
• Conclusion – an exciting 2009

Our goal is to be the global business processor 
of choice. We bring better service, cost savings 
and an entrepreneurial culture to our customers. 
Hence our motto ‘Xchanging Cost for Profit’.

David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer

 6
Number of continents we service 
our customers in

46%
Compound annual growth rate since 
our first contract in 2001 to 2008 
showing strong growth rate

Sharing the global business processor 
vision with our customers
Our mission is the radical improvement 
of business processing for our customers. 
In 2008, we delivered services to customers 
in over 38 countries. This is set to increase 
in 2009. Our vision is to become their 
global business processor of choice. 
We believe that this is an expectation 
that our partners, customers and the 
market have of us. It guides us in what 
we will do operationally and strategically 
in 2009 and beyond. 

We recognise that it is our people that 
make it happen. I would like to thank our 
employees for the huge efforts in being 

responsive to our customers‘ needs. We 
want to be an exciting and rewarding place 
to work for our employees in the seven 
countries that we currently operate in. And 
we look forward to welcoming Cambridge 
employees on board who will become part 
of the Xchanging Group in 2009. 

Of course, 2009 is going to be a 
challenging year economically and 
generally. Nevertheless, we believe that 
we are in a growing market sector and 
that we have excellent prospects.     

Market outlook
Our customers represent some of the 
larger Fortune 500 companies who 
want consistently high quality services 

Footnote
1  Source: IDC, ‘Economic Crisis Response: Worldwide 

and US Business Process Outsourcing Services 
2008 – 2012 Forecast: Market Opportunity by Key 
Horizontal Business Process Update’, Doc #215861, 
December 2008. Total spend for HR, procurement, 
and finance and accounting in the Americas, 
EMEA and Asia Pacific.
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globally for the right price. We believe 
that there is pent-up demand. For 
instance, full year 2007 SG&A costs 
for 377 of the Fortune 500 companies 
totalled US$1.3 trillion (as per available 
information on Factset). IDC estimated 
that the global market for BPO will be 
us$68 billion1 by 2012. The market is 
still only in early stages of development. 
So, the global business processor vision 
is there for us to go after. 

Furthermore, the economic downturn is 
likely to accelerate the demand for better, 
cheaper business processing. At the 
same time, with increased regulatory 
requirements, pressure to be in compliance 

will result in investment and running cost 
increases for businesses. We are confident 
that these underlying drivers will result 
in exciting opportunities for business 
processing services.

We saw early indications of the accelerated 
market demand with a higher number of 
new opportunities in 2008 than previously. 
We see the trend continuing in 2009. 
Of particular note is the trend towards 
bigger and more complex partnering 
opportunities with an international 
dimension. We believe that this trend 
will play to our strengths. 

Although such major partnering 
opportunities in both processing 

and procurement are going to take longer 
to conclude, we will be aggressively 
pursuing several during 2009. At the same 
time, we are mindful of the paramount 
importance of partnering with robust 
companies, where it makes long-term 
economic sense for both of us. This will 
continue to be our measure. 

2008 has also proved the importance 
of maintaining a heavy emphasis on our 
Outsourcing, Products and additional 
services to existing customers. We continue 
to see a healthy pipeline for these offerings 
in 2009. As market conditions worsen, 
we expect companies to look to savings 
though the economies of scale that our 

Business review
/ operational
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continued

We expect the adoption of efficient electronic processing 
infrastructures to gather pace during 2009 and 2010. 
We believe that Xchanging is uniquely positioned to become 
the preferred processor globally for both brokers and carriers. 

Growing existing platforms
2008 has been an important year for 
investing in our insurance, banking 
and procurement platforms, as well as 
strengthening our technology infrastructure 
capabilities. As a result, we have enhanced 
our international capabilities in the UK, 
Continental Europe, India, the USA and 
Bermuda. Delivering complex mission-
critical processing gives us an unparalleled 
position for further international growth 
in 2009 and beyond. 

Strong position in 
European Financial Services
Our early move into Germany, Italy and 
France puts us in the vanguard of business 
processors for banks. Together with our 
customers, we invested €17.6 million 
during 2008 on being in compliance with 
the new German withholding tax laws 
(Abgeltungssteuer) in the banking sector. 
With our blue chip banking customer base, 
we are at the forefront of consolidation, 
regulatory compliance and safer, leaner 
processing. We have also made other 
additional investments into our securities 
processing platform. 

platforms and solutions provide. Our aim 
here is to sell these offerings to grow at a 
level that the market allows and consistent 
with our past performance. 

Delivering on our strategy
To realise our vision and mission we have 
a simple three-pronged strategy: grow 
existing platforms, add new platforms 
and be the lean processor. Doing complex 
processing for blue chip customers, we 
understand what world-class performance 
means. It requires powerful economies 
of scale and processing precision. 
Therefore, at the heart of our strategy 
is the Xchanging Way for defining and 
measuring performance and achieving 
processing precision. 

The Xchanging Way
We have invested in the Xchanging Way 
as our standard operating methodology 
for implementing and delivering business 
processing services globally. During 2008, 
we put significant emphasis on embedding 
the Xchanging Way of doing business 
across all of our operations in seven 
countries. We will continue to develop 
and embed our Xchanging Way operating 
methodology to achieve the level of 
world-class performance that our 
customers expect.

In this annual report, we provide some 
case studies to illustrate performance 
management – the Xchanging Way. 

For our financial services customers, 
we significantly expanded the Central 
Price Services (CPS) capabilities and 
automated the existing valuation process. 
With CPS, we provide institutional 
investors with validated prices for 
a variety of financial instruments. 

Leading insurance processor
Xchanging’s insurance processor success 
to date comes from working collaboratively 
with our customers. In 2008, through 
working together with the London market, 
we achieved significant success in moving 
from a paper-based to an electronic 
processing platform. The investment in 
the Insurers’ Market Repository will simplify 
dealing with the London insurance market. 
This new suite of electronic services will 
help in bringing new business to London 
and generate additional revenues for 
Xchanging in 2009. 

On the broking processing side, 
our contract in 2008 with Cooper Gay 
demonstrates the scale benefits envisaged 
when we established the broking platform 
in 2006. In 2009, we expect to see 
customers added to this platform, with 
an emphasis on Europe, the USA and Asia.

We expect the adoption of efficient 
electronic processing infrastructures 
to gather pace during 2009 and 2010. 
We believe that Xchanging is uniquely 
positioned to become the preferred 
processor globally for both brokers 
and carriers. 

 #1
Winner of ‘Industry Leadership 
for Straight Through Processing’ 
ACORD Accomplishment 
Award 2008

 #1
Winner of ‘Outsourcer’ 
ACORD Accomplishment 
Award 2008

 #1
Top European procurement 
provider, #2 globally
Source: 2008 Black Book of Outsourcing
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Benefits of the outsourcing offering to our customers:
•  reliability of a standardised platform 
• economies of scale 
• flexibility of a service delivery model

Xchanging’s modern global 
infrastructure with pricing 
flexibility, expandability 
and economies of scale 
benefit Cooper Gay in 
meeting its current and 
future business needs.

In late 2006, 
Xchanging established 
an enterprise 
Partnership with 
Aon to build a broker 
processing platform. 
This platform, called 
Xchanging Broking 
Services (XBS), 
connects the value 
chain from the broker 
right through to the 
underwriter. One of 
the promised benefits 
of the Partnership was 
a future share of third 
party revenues. 

Delivering on our 
promise, we added 
Cooper Gay as a 
customer to the 
processing platform. 
In August 2008, 
it entered into an 
agreement with 
Xchanging to 
outsource specific 
back-office functions. 

Cooper Gay is a leading 
global independent 
wholesale, reinsurance 
and specialist retail 
broker. It believed its 
future growth strategy 
required an innovative 
and scalable service 
delivery model for 
sustainable process 
efficiencies. XBS 
provides just that 
platform.

Our expertise in the 
London insurance 
market made 
Xchanging the 
business processor 
of choice. Also, 
Xchanging’s 
responsiveness to 
Cooper Gay’s service 
level requirements was 
key in forging this 
relationship. 

Aon and Xchanging 
can unlock superior 
value from the 
platform through 
greater economies 
of scale. 

Global technology solution for carriers
For QBE, in 2008 we successfully 
concluded the first phase of a European 
roll out of Genius – our global insurance 
software product. We also entered into an 
enterprise license agreement with Allianz 
Global Corporate and Specialty for the 
international implementation of Genius. 

We have also signed Business Support 
contracts with new customers such as ACE 
and completed work for existing customers 
such as Lloyd’s. 

Global procurement 
and technology hosting
In January 2008, we acquired 100% 
of the share capital of Mercuris SA, 
a procurement outsourcer serving the 
financial markets and insurance industries. 
Since 1 September 2008, Mercuris SA has 
been known as Xchanging Procurement 
Services (France). This acquisition provides 
a solid base from which to extend our 
European procurement services. In 2009, 
we expect to expand our procurement 
services to Germany, Asia and the USA. 
In 2008, we also entered into an agreement 
for the management of Birds Eye’s utilities 
spend in the UK.

In 2008, our Hosting services have expanded 
significantly to support the demand for 
complex technology infrastructures we 
operate for our customers. We contracted 
with Northgate Arinso, the UK and Ireland’s 
leading supplier of HR solutions, for 
mainframe and BACS processing services. 
In 2008, we implemented a new 
technology trading infrastructure for the 
London Metal Exchange. The requirement 
for complex technology infrastructure 
solutions is set to continue as part of 
mission-critical business processing services. 

Growing existing 
platforms through 
outsourcing

Business review
/ operational
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Business review/ operational 
continued

Cambridge will be an excellent fit, complementing 
our existing capacity with US, India and Asia Pacific scale. 
Moreover, Cambridge will bring us IT depth, with advanced 
capabilities and some leading-edge products.

Adding new platforms
In 2008, we deliberately turned our 
attention to increasing our reach to 
become a global business processor. 
At the same time, we have consolidated 
our position in Germany with the successful 
implementation of the partnership with 
Allianz Global Investors. 

Cambridge Solutions – an excellent fit
In October 2008, we agreed to acquire a 
controlling interest in Cambridge Solutions 
Limited (Cambridge). Cambridge is an 
international BPO and IT services provider 
listed in India. It has more than 4,000 
employees in the USA, India, South East 
Asia and Australia. Cambridge provides 
BPO and IT services to the insurance, 
banking, manufacturing and 
healthcare sectors. 

Cambridge has been a supplier to 
Xchanging since 2006. It will be an 
excellent fit, complementing our existing 
capacity with US, India and Asia Pacific 
scale. Moreover, Cambridge will bring 

as a global BPO powerhouse. Cambridge’s 
Singapore, Malaysian and Japanese 
operations will further strengthen our 
South East Asian market credibility and our 
ability to serve customers in the region.

In Australia, Cambridge’s strength in 
claims processing gives us the opportunity 
of further developing our global capabilities 
as a leading claims processor. It also 
gives us a base to work from, to meet 
the local demands of several large global 
financial companies. 

Enterprise Partnership with 
Allianz Global Investors
In November 2007, we took operational 
control of Fondsdepot Bank (FDB), our 
Enterprise Partnership with Allianz Global 
Investors. FDB provides retail investment 
account management services and 
provides a funds processing platform 
for institutional customers.

During 2008, we successfully completed 
the re-alignment phase of the partnership. 
The implementation now moves in to 
the streamlining phase. This focuses on 
production standardisation and bringing 
in third party business. Ahead of plan, 
we grew third party customer accounts 
(Open Architecture) by 40% since change 
of control. 

Over 80% of investment account 
administration is performed in-house in 
Germany. Therefore, during 2009, we will 
be actively seeking back-office consolidation 
opportunities with asset managers to offer 
economies of scale to customers.

us IT depth, with advanced capabilities 
and some leading-edge products.

Integration of Cambridge is underway 
and will follow our standard approach. 
During 2009, we will focus our attention 
on relationships with key Cambridge 
customers and on production improvement.

Critical mass in the USA
Cambridge will provide us with the 
opportunity to accelerate in the Insurance 
sector where we are aware of a latent 
demand for our services. In 2009, we will 
move resources to the USA and recruit to 
build up our presence to meet this demand. 
Our aim is to expand our London market 
claims processing capabilities for customers 
in the USA. At the same time, during 
2009, we will also start to develop our 
relationships with Cambridge’s large 
American customers. 

Proven Asia Pacific credentials 
In India, Cambridge’s local listing will 
increase Xchanging’s visibility and enable 
us to take advantage of India’s position 
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Adding new platforms 
through acquisitions

The acquisition of Cambridge Solutions Limited 
is closely aligned to our strategy:
•  adds international presence and market access
• creates scale to drive lean processing
•  brings IT depth
 

On 3 October 2008, 
Xchanging signed 
contracts to acquire 
75% of the fully 
diluted share capital 
of Cambridge Solutions 
Limited. We will 
consolidate the results 
from 1 January 2009, 
being the date 
when we assumed 
operational control.

This is an exciting 
relationship with 
strategic advantages. 

With Cambridge, we 
have invested in our 
future. This acquisition 
is in clear alignment 
with our growth 
strategy.

It will give us the 
geographic breadth 
to grow our platforms:
•  large American 

customers
•  strong Australian 

business with 
substantial 
processing 
infrastructure

•  IT development 
scale in India, 
Singapore and 
Malaysia.

We will have new 
platforms:
•  claims processing 

platforms in the 
usa and australia

•  IT and processing 
services platforms 
in the USA.

As a combined group, 
we will have the scale 
for lean processing:
•  operations in nine 

countries
•  c.1,300 employees 

in the USA, 
c.3,900 in Europe 
and c.3,400 in 
Asia Pacific.

The acquisition will 
truly take Xchanging 
forward in the 
realisation of our 
ambition to be the 
global business 
processor.

The acquisition will truly take 
Xchanging forward in the 
realisation of our ambition to be 
the global business processor. 

Combined revenues by geography
Xchanging and Cambridge (2007/08)

Based on combination of Xchanging’s revenues for the 
year ended December 2007 and Cambridge's revenues 
for the year ended March 2008.

Xchanging’s geographic split 
by revenue (2008)

Xchanging for the years ended December 2005, 2006, 
2007, 2008; Cambridge for the years ended March 
2006, 2007, 2008 based on IFRS as adopted by 
Xchanging. Based on GBP:Rs exchange rate of 1:79.6049.

Xchanging’s and Cambridge's revenue 
(£ million) (2005/06 – 2007/08) 

2008

557.8 Xchanging  Cambridge 

05/06

144.3

2005

350.0

06/07

170.5

2006

393.5

07/08

159.0

2007

468.2

uK 56%

North America 17%

Rest of the world 3%

continental europe 20%

australia 4%

Business review
/ operational

uK 69.7%

 

continental europe 28.0%

 

Rest of the world 2.3%
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Business review/ operational
continued

We are building the strength and depth 
of management team required to meet 
our vision to be the global business processor. 

Becoming the lean processor
With increased regulatory oversight and 
the rising cost of compliance, there is an 
even greater need for processing precision, 
coupled with the power of economies 
of scale. This is exactly what the lean 
processing element of our strategy 
strives for. 

Processing precision
Xchanging has established a unique 
approach for processing precision. It goes 
well beyond Six Sigma and is part of our 
continuing investment in the Xchanging 
Way. During 2008, we implemented a set 
of standard production methods across 
our top 10 centres globally. We also 
commissioned a new technology 
infrastructure to support complex 
processing. Combining standard 
production, world-class technology 
and global scale, Xchanging is creating 
a new blueprint for the business 
processing industry. 

A winning formula for Global Balancing
We aim to balance workloads globally and 
meet the highest standard demanded by 
customers in the regulated industries we 
serve. In 2008, we made significant strides 
in sharing spare capacity and combining 
the advantages of local, nearshore and 
offshore processing. During 2009, we 
will continue to develop the concept 
of Global Balancing. 

Medium term, the acquisition of Cambridge 
will provide further opportunities to create 
scale advantage. 2009 will see a continuing 
emphasis on standard production. We will 
set up standard processing centres in the 
USA, India and Australia that will be 
linked with Xchanging’s existing capacity 
during 2010.  

Managing a rapidly growing 
and increasingly global business
We are building the strength and depth 
of management team required to meet our 
vision to be the global business processor.  
We welcome Stewart McCulloch and 
Matthias Sohler who joined the Xchanging 
Management Board from 1 January 2009. 
Both previously held senior positions 
outside of Xchanging, and bring a wealth 
of industry and international experience. 

In 2009, several of our existing senior 
members of management are re-locating 
to the USA and to Asia Pacific to spearhead 
our global vision. We will continue to add 
new members to the management team to 
represent geographic and cultural breadth. 

We said goodbye to Adele Browne and 
Mike Margetts who have been with the 
Xchanging Group since its earliest days. 
We wish them well for the future. 
As Nigel has highlighted in his Chairman’s 
report, Adele leaves in March 2009. 
Thereafter, she will continue to provide 
us with commercial consultancy on a 
part-time basis.

Our communication hubs in Germany, 
India and the UK
The Xchanging Way is evident in all our offices. 
Our hubs show our global standardised approach.

89%
Percentage of employees  
in top 10 processing centres
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Conclusion – an exciting 2009
We do not under-estimate the scale 
of change or difficulties that 2009 could 
bring. Nevertheless, I am excited about 
Xchanging’s prospects. We have a clear 
vision, mission and strategy that we are 
delivering on. We now have the necessary 
global coverage and critical mass. 

The market for our services remains active. 
We are well placed to deliver organic 
growth and seize opportunities to add 
new platforms. At the same time, we 
will continue to work on improving 
our margin. 

We begin our tenth year as a company 
with the ambition to be the global 
business processor of choice by our 
customers and a good place to work.

David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer
2 March 2009

Lean processing 
in procurement 

Benefits of lean processing:
•  processing precision through standardised production
•  cost efficiencies through optimised performance
•  maximised capacity usage 

Xchanging is a 
pioneer in optimising 
and standardising 
production. We 
formalise our 
know-how into the 
Xchanging Way – 
our standardised 
operating 
methodology to drive 
productivity and 
service improvement.  

Xchanging 
Procurement Services 
provide order raising 
and invoice processing 
services to a number 
of blue chip 
customers. 

in one situation 
our performance 
measurement flagged 
up invoice query cycle 
times that needed to 
be reduced. Only 21% 
of invoice queries were 
resolved within the 
customer requirement 

of 20 working days. 
Follow-up queries 
from vendors led to 
non value added work 
and responses from 
vendors being left in 
individual mail boxes.

In response, our 
process team put a 
vendor query tracking 
system in place to 
optimise the process. 
As a result, the 
percentage of invoice 
queries resolved within 
20 working days 
increased from 21% 
to 92%. And the 

number of queries 
from vendors reduced 
from 520 per day 
to 52 per day. 
This naturally led to 
increased customer 
satisfaction. Resources 
freed up were 
re-deployed elsewhere 
in the business. 

By working at 
a detailed level, 
our process teams 
contribute to lean 
processing across 
Xchanging.

Our process precision 
methodology is about ‘radical 
improvement’. It is a powerful 
force for change, bringing 
better service to our customers 
and helping us achieve lean 
processor status.

Business review
/ operational
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 £558m
Revenue

 +19%
Revenue growth

 £70m
Cash generated from operations

Business review/ financial 

Generating 
strong growth

Xchanging’s track record of strong 
growth continues. Regardless of difficult 
market conditions, we deliver revenue and 
profit growth with margin enhancement. 
Major contributors to this performance 
are our revenue visibility, blue chip customer 
base and focus on lean processing.

Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer

In this section

• Summary
• Performance review
• Resilient platforms
• Group performance
• Segmental performance
• Other drivers of Group performance
•  Key risks, impacts and 

mitigation strategy

 £50m
Adjusted operating profit
Xchanging’s focus on profitable growth and lean 
processing has driven growth in adjusted operating 
profit of 28%

 139%
Cash conversion ratio
The business continues to be highly cash-generative 
with strong cash conversion
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Summary
2008 was a pleasing year overall from 
a financial perspective. There was strong 
growth in both revenues and profits, 
with cash generation particularly 
impressive. The cash position of the 
Group strengthened during the year 
despite significant investment. 

Performance review
Drivers of financial performance
Revenue growth
The attractive market we operate in, 
combined with our broad choice of 
offerings, results in robust organic growth. 

Revenue visibility
The long-term nature of many of our 
contracts gives us high visibility of revenues 
at the beginning of a financial year. 

Margin growth
Margin growth arises due to productivity 
improvements, scaling of our central cost 
base and our global delivery approach.

Cash generation
Tight working capital management 
ensures that we have high conversion 
of our operating profits into cash 
to fund future investment.

Resilient platforms
Our platforms are generally resilient to 
the cycle. Revenues arise from fixed price 
contracts or tend to be driven by factors 
that are insulated from short-term 
fluctuation in economic conditions.

Details of our financial performance 
during 2008 are provided in the following 
financial review.

Business review
/ fi

nancial
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Business review/ financial 
continued

Xchanging has delivered continued strong growth 
in all of the Group’s key performance indicators 
despite the difficult economic climate.

Strong profit growth
Statutory operating profit grew 46.7% to 
£46.5 million (2007: £31.7 million), while 
adjusted operating profit grew 27.8% to 
£49.7 million (2007: £38.9 million). 

Xchanging’s share of adjusted operating 
profit (XEBIT) grew by 29.0% to 
£40.8 million (2007: £31.6 million). 
This represents an XEBIT operating margin 
of 7.3% (2007: 6.8%). The growth in 
XEBIT margin of 50 basis points is in line 
with the 50 basis points growth that the 
Group targets annually. XEBIT growth is 
driven by strong performances across all 
three sectors, including a contribution 
from FDB in its first full year of operation 
and the acquisition of Mercuris SA 
effective 1 January 2008. 

Xchanging has continued to drive XEBIT 
margin growth through productivity 
improvement and leveraging our central 
costs. The Group’s administrative expenses 
declined as a percentage of revenues to 
3.0% of revenues (2007: 3.2%). Margin 
growth has been partially offset by the 
dilutive effect of the integration of FDB 
and the weakness in Business Support 
revenues, which tend to be high margin. 
FDB only made a small contribution in its 
first full year of operation as is expected 
from a new Enterprise Partnership (EP). 

Xchanging’s share of adjusted profit after 
tax (XPAT) grew by 44.4% to £33.0 million 
(2007: £22.8 million). This represents an 
XPAT margin of 5.9% (2007: 4.9%). XPAT 
growth was higher than growth in XEBIT 
due to an increase in finance income and 
a decrease in the effective tax rate to 
27.0% (2007: 31.8%).

Group performance
Revenue growth
Revenue growth has continued to be 
strong, increasing 19.1% to £557.8 million 
in 2008 (2007: £468.2 million). The Group 
has delivered consistently strong growth, 
with a compound annual growth rate of 
22% between 2004 and 2008. Growth 
was predominantly organic in 2008, with 
acquisitions accounting for less than 
1% of the growth during the year.

Sales across the full range of offerings, 
combined with revenues from contracts 
won in 2007 (particularly Fondsdepot Bank 
(FDB)), our Enterprise Partnership with 
Allianz Global Investors, have made a 
major contribution to growth in 2008. 
The Group experienced strong volumes 
throughout the year in our securities 
processing and procurement businesses. 
The one area of weakness was in Business 
Support which was adversely impacted 
by the current economic climate.

Revenue visibility
The Group has high revenue visibility due 
to the long-term nature of its contracts 
and the relatively high predictability of 
revenues generated. The revenue visibility 
measure represents revenue that can be 
expected to arise in the year from current 
customers where we have a contractual 
relationship in place. Revenue visibility 
going into 2008 was £445.7 million, 
which was 80% of the full year revenue 
achieved. On the same basis, revenue 
visibility going into 2009 is £527.2 million, 
up 18% on 2008. 

Revenue growth (£ million)
CAGR (2004 – 2008) 22%

1  See glossary of terms on page 124 for definition.

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

254.1

350.0
393.5

468.2

557.8

XEBIT1 (£ million)
CAGR (2004 – 2008) 46% 

20052004 2006 2007 2008

19.7

9.0

22.2

31.6

40.8

XEBIT1 margin (%)
(2004 – 2008) +370 basis points

20052004 2006 2007 2008

5.6

3.6

5.6

6.8
7.3
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The Group’s KPIs are summarised below1:
   12 months 12 months  
   ended ended  
   31 December 31 December   
   2008 2007 Increase

Revenue   £557.8m £468.2m 19.1%

Xchanging’s share of adjusted 

operating profit (XEBIT)1   £40.8m £31.6m 29.0%

XEBIT Margin   7.3% 6.8% +50 bps

Xchanging’s share of adjusted  
profit after tax (XPAT)1   £33.0m £22.8m 44.4%

Pro forma EPS – diluted2   14.67p 10.51p 39.6%

Cash generated from operations  £69.7m £49.7m 40.2%

Cash conversion ratio   139% 128% 

Free cash flow  £33.0m £27.7m 19.0%

1  The Group measures and tracks both operating and after tax profit directly attributable 
to equity shareholders (net of EP minority interests) as the comparable and consistent 
measure of profit performance for Xchanging’s shareholders. We use two measures 
to monitor the performance of profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Group: 
•  adjusted operating profit attributable to equity holders of the Group (XEBIT)

 •  adjusted profit for the year after tax attributable to equity holders of the 
Group (XPAT).

2  See glossary of terms on page 124 for definition.

The tables below detail the adjustments 
to operating profit to determine XEBIT 
and XPAT.

  2008 2007 
XEBIT £m  £m

Statutory  
operating profit 46.5  31.7 

Add:  

Exceptional items   – 6.2

Share-based payment charges 2.3 0.5

Amortisation of intangible  
assets previously unrecognised  
by acquired entities 0.9 0.5

Adjusted  
operating profit 49.7  38.9 

Adjusted profit before  
taxation attributable to  
minority interests (8.9)  (7.3) 

XEBIT 40.8  31.6 

  2008 2007 
XPAT £m  £m

Statutory  
profit for the year 35.5 20.5 

Add:  

Exceptional items  – 6.9

Share-based payment charges 2.3 0.5

Amortisation of intangible  
assets previously unrecognised  
by acquired entities 0.9 0.5

Imputed interest 2.0 0.8

Tax effect of above (1.3) (1.5) 

Adjusted profit  
after taxation 39.4  27.7 

Adjusted profit after  
taxation attributable to  
minority interests (6.4)  (4.9) 

XPAT 33.0  22.8 

Free cash flow (£ million) 
(2004 – 2008)

20052004 2006 2007 2008

9.2
–0.7 4.3

27.7

33.0

Cash generated from operations 
(£ million) (2004 – 2008)

20052004 2006 2007 2008

34.5

17.4

29.4

49.7

69.7

Average 109%

Cash conversion (%) 
(2004 – 2008)

20052004 2006 2007 2008

99.0
92.0 91.0

128.0
139.0

Business review
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Business review/ financial 
continued

Despite the difficult market conditions, Xchanging 
has been able to create value for our shareholders. 

Exceptional costs
The Group has not incurred exceptional 
costs in 2008 (2007: £6.9 million). 
Exceptional costs incurred in 2007 were 
in relation to the Group’s IPO. They 
totalled £6.2 million at the operating 
profit level and a further £0.7 million 
classified as an exceptional finance cost.

Finance costs 
Adjusted net finance income, which 
excludes imputed interest on put options 
and employee loans, increased by 104% 
to £4.7 million (2007: £2.3 million). 
Finance income has increased due to 
interest earned on the higher cash 
balances held by the Group. Cash has 
increased as a result of strong cash 
conversion and the full year effect of the 
primary funding received from the IPO 
during the first half of 2007. Finance costs 
have decreased due to a reduction in 
actual and imputed interest charges on 
deferred consideration for acquisitions and 
minority buy outs.

Net finance income (pre exceptional items) 
increased by 78.2% to £2.7 million 
(2007: £1.5 million).

Taxation
The Group’s effective tax rate on 
Xchanging’s share of adjusted profit 
before tax decreased to 27.0% 
(2007: 31.8%). This reduction is primarily 
due to utilisation of tax losses in the 
central services entity. The effective tax 
rate in the prior year was negatively 
affected by the decrease in corporation 
tax rates in Germany and the UK, resulting 
in a reduction of deferred tax assets. 
Additionally, in 2007 the Group did not 
utilise prior year accumulated unrecognised 
tax losses, which favourably impacts the 
Group’s effective tax rate. The use of these 
was limited in 2007 by additional tax 
deductions in relation to employees 
exercising share options in that year.

Pro forma earnings per share 
When calculating earnings per share, 
the Group considers it appropriate to 
use XPAT, as it represents the underlying 
performance of the business. As the 
Group’s results were impacted by the 
change in capital structure resulting from 
the IPO in April 2007, a pro forma number 
of shares has been used for comparison 
purposes. The pro forma number of shares 
for the year ended 31 December 2007 has 
been calculated by adding the weighted 
average number of shares issued between 
IPO and 31 December 2007 to the actual 
number of shares in issue at IPO.

The pro forma analysis is set out below to 
show how the Group’s adjusted earnings 
per share would have been calculated had 
the Group’s post-IPO capital structure 
been in place from the beginning of 2007.

  2008 2007

XPAT (£m) 33.0 22.8

Pro forma number 
of shares in issue (m)3 216.4 209.5

Pro forma basic earnings 
per share 15.22 10.89

XPAT (£m) 33.0 22.8

Pro forma diluted 
number of shares (m)3 224.6 217.2

Pro forma diluted earnings  
per share (pence) 14.67 10.51

The Company believes that the pro forma 
earnings per share provide the best analysis 
of the underlying performance of the 
business for the period. For reference, 
the 2007 adjusted earnings per share 
using the actual weighted average shares 
during the year is 11.68 pence basic and 
11.20 pence diluted.

 £117.8m
Net cash held by the Group  
at the end of the year2

Future growth underpinned by access to significant 
cash resources 

Footnotes
1  See glossary of terms on page 124 for definition.
2  Group net cash includes £25.5 million held 

in escrow in relation to the pending acquisition 
of Cambridge and so restricted in use.

3 Weighted average number of shares.

Pro forma EPS – diluted1 (pence)
(2006 – 2008) 

2006 2007 2008

7.89

10.51

14.67

XPAT1 (£ million)
(2004 – 2008) 

20052004 2006 2007 2008

13.6

6.1

17.1

22.8

33.0
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The Group’s effective tax rate on the 
statutory results was also down for 
the period at 27.7% (2007: 36.8%). 
In addition to the explanation in the 
paragraph above, the effective tax rate 
in 2007 was affected by exceptional costs 
related to the IPO; a high proportion of 
which were disallowable for tax purposes.

Balance sheet and liquidity
The balance sheet has strengthened 
between reporting periods, primarily as 
a result of strong cash conversion and 
investments in infrastructure assets in 
the Financial Markets and Insurance 
sectors. The net deficit in relation to 
defined benefit pension and retirement 
schemes increased to £18.2 million 
(2007: £8.7 million). The accounting 
deficit is primarily due to falls in the value 
of the schemes’ investments during 2008. 
In particular, the value of the schemes’ UK 
equity holdings fell sharply in the last four 
months of 2008 reflecting the uncertain 
global economic outlook and the impact 
of this on the UK banking sector.

Net cash held by the Group at the year end 
was £117.8 million (2007: £98.4 million). 
This includes £25.5 million held in 
escrow in relation to the Cambridge 
acquisition and so restricted in use (note 21 
on page 93). Centrally managed cash, 
which includes the amount in escrow, 
was £75.3 million (2007: £57.5 million) 
and £42.5 million (2007: £40.9 million) 
was held by EPs. The major movements 
in cash between the periods related 
to strong cash conversion partly offset 
by capital investment and distributions 
to shareholders.

The Group has a strong liquidity position. 
During the year we extended our Lloyd’s 
facility to £90 million, partly to fund the 
acquisition of Cambridge, and partly to 
provide headroom to fund future growth. 
At the year end, the Group had utilised 
only €20 million (£19.5 million) of this 
facility to support a letter of credit. These 
facilities, the strong cash generation and 
the net cash position, give the Group 
headroom to finance future growth post 
the Cambridge acquisition.

Business review
/ fi

nancial

Business Lines 45.2%
(2007: 44.6%)

Insurance 28.8% 
(2007: 34.1%)

Financial Markets 26.0% 
(2007: 21.3%)

United Kingdom 69.7%
(2007: 74.6%)

continental Europe 28.0%
(2007: 23.5%)

Rest of the world 2.3%
(2007: 1.9%)

Business Lines 32.5% 

(2007: 33.9%)

Insurance 43.5%
(2007: 48.8%)

Financial Markets 24.0%

(2007: 17.3%)

Geographic split of revenue 
2008 (%)

Adjusted EBIT by sector
2008 (%)

Revenue by sector
2008 (%)

_4_XCH_ar08_front_section b_.indd   6 31/03/2009   09:51:20



annual  report  and  ac counts  2008

34 Xc ha n g i n g  p lc

Business review/ financial 
continued

Segmental performance
Business Lines
Revenue in the Business Lines sector 
increased by 21.3% to £261.8 million 
(2007: £215.8 million). Business Lines 
revenue grew primarily due to strong 
organic growth in procurement revenues. 
Procurement revenues were driven by 
increased volumes from existing long-term 
customers and the full effect of new 
contracts, which were in the process of 
being implemented during the course 
of 2007. The acquisition of Mercuris SA 
contributed 1.4% of this revenue increase. 

XEBIT grew during 2008 by 8.6% to 
£21.4 million (2007: £19.7 million), 
driven by the increased procurement 
revenues together with improvements 
in procurement margins. Growth in 
XEBIT was diluted in the year by the 
disappointing performance of the Business 
Support offering within the sector, which 
has been adversely impacted by the current 
economic climate. While Business Support 
constitutes only a small part of the sector, 
these services operate at higher margins. 
There are no minority interests within the 
sector, hence XEBIT is the same as adjusted 
operating profit.

XEBIT margin has decreased to 8.2% 
(2007: 9.1%). This was predominantly 
driven by the impact of the current 
economic climate on the sector’s Business 
Support offering, which offset margin 
improvement in the procurement business. 

Insurance 
Revenue in the Insurance sector 
increased by 1.4% to £167.0 million 
(2007: £164.7 million). This slight increase 
has resulted from higher claims volumes 
and growth in Straight Through Processing 
revenues offset by the impact of guaranteed 
discounts and the loss of certain policy 
preparation services resulting from 
regulatory changes. Automation of 
insurance processes in 2008 will drive future 
growth in revenues from the electronic 
handling of premiums and claims. 

XEBIT for 2008 remained in line with 
the previous year at £20.6 million 
(2007: £20.8 million). Higher claims 
handling volumes and net cost savings 
in Xchanging Broking Services (XBS) had 
a favourable impact on XEBIT. Profitability 
was adversely impacted by loss of certain 
policy preparation services, weaker 
Business Support revenues and 
non-recurring implementation costs 
incurred during the year relating to 
offshoring and electronification of the 
London market. 

Xchanging’s sectors are the platforms for future growth 
offering industry specific or cross-functional services.

XEBIT margin declined slightly to 12.3% 
(2007: 12.6%). Adjusted operating margin 
was in line with the prior year at 17.2% 
(2007: 17.2%).

Financial Markets
Revenue in the Financial Markets sector 
increased by 46.0% to £150.3 million 
(2007: £102.9 million), primarily as a 
result of revenue contributed by FDB. 
In addition, Financial Markets experienced 
strong securities transaction volumes in 
Xchanging Transaction Bank (XTB) during 
the year. The strengthening of the Euro 
against Sterling during 2008 also 
positively affected Financial Markets 
revenue and contributed 12.9% to 
overall sector growth.

XEBIT increased by 44.8% during 2008 
to £15.1 million (2007: £10.4 million). 
XEBIT growth is primarily attributable 
to a contribution to profit from increased 
processing volumes, the impact of 
arbitrage savings from offshoring and 
non-recurrence of the associated 
implementation costs in 2007. In addition, 
the sector benefited from a small 
contribution from FDB in its first full year 
of operation. These gains were partly 
offset by an increase in guaranteed 
discounts to Deutsche Bank. Adjusted 
operating profit increased by 57.6% 
to £15.8 million (2007: £10.1 million). 
The strengthening of the Euro during 
the year contributed 12.3% of the overall 
sector XEBIT growth.
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XEBIT margin has remained flat at 10.0% 
(2007: 10.1%). Margin improvements 
have been offset by increased guaranteed 
discounts and the dilutive effect of the FDB 
Enterprise Partnership that was completed 
at the end of 2007. FDB contributed to a 
significant increase in revenue but on a 
near break-even basis as expected in the 
first year of operation as an EP. Adjusted 
operating margin for the sector increased 
to 10.5% (2007: 9.8%). 

Corporate and Business Processing 
Services (BPS) 
Corporate and BPS costs decreased 
during 2008 by 15.6% to £16.3 million 
(2007: £19.3 million). Corporate costs 
decreased due to implementation costs 
for XBS being materially completed in 
2007. Lower corporate costs were also 
driven by the closure of the Sydney 
business development office and lower 
depreciation and amortisation. 

Business Processing Services (the Group’s 
Indian processing operations) moved 
to break-even during 2008. BPS was 
loss-making in previous years as the 
Group invested in developing the 
offshore capability.

Geographic performance 
Xchanging operates globally in 
38 countries which includes operations 
in the UK, Continental Europe, the USA, 
Australia, and Asia. In excess of 30% 
of the Group’s 2008 revenues were 
generated outside of the UK.

Insurance

 £167.0m +1.4%
Revenue
Strong organic growth in revenue has offset the effect of contracted discounts 
and the loss of certain policy checking services resulting from regulatory changes.

 £20.6m –1.1%
XEBIT
Productivity improvements and cost arbitrage has been offset by contracted 
discounts and reduced margins from the Business Support offering impacted 
by the current economic climate.

 12.3%
XEBIT margin

Financial Markets

 £150.3m +46.0%
Revenue
Growth, driven by the full year impact of Fondsdepot Bank, complemented 
by strong securities processing volumes.

 £15.1m +44.8%
XEBIT
Strong growth driven by cost arbitrage through offshoring, organic volume growth, 
and a contribution from Fondsdepot Bank in its first full year of operation.

 10.0%
XEBIT margin

Business Lines

 £261.8m +21.3%
Revenue
Organic procurement volume growth complemented by new revenue from 
the acquisition of Mercuris SA.

 £21.4m +8.6%
XEBIT
Profitable growth on increased procurement volumes offset by the impact 
of the economic climate on Business Support services.

 8.2%
XEBIT margin

Business review
/ fi

nancial
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Business review/ financial 
continued

Other drivers of Group performance
Operating cash flow
The business continued to be strongly 
cash-generative with reported cash 
generated from operations increasing 
by 40.2% to £69.7 million.

  2008 2007

Cash generated from 
operations (£m) 69.7 49.7

Adjusted operating 
profit (£m) 49.7 38.9

Cash conversion 139% 128%

Cash performance is measured using a 
cash conversion ratio, calculated as cash 
generated from operations (pre capital 
expenditure) divided by the Group’s 
adjusted operating profit. Cash conversion 
was 139% (2007: 128%) driven by tight 
working capital management during 
the year.

Free cash flow, defined as operating cash 
flow less capital expenditure, interest 
and taxation, increased by 19.0% to 
£33.0 million (2007: £27.7 million).

Capital expenditure
The Group invested £39.0 million 
(2007: £14.2 million) in capital 
expenditure (on intangible assets, 
primarily software; and property, plant 
and equipment (PPE)) during the year, 
representing 7.0% of revenue (significantly 
above our expected long-term average 
of 4.0%). Capital was invested across 
the Group, primarily in developing 
infrastructure assets to support new and 
existing business in the Financial Markets 
and Insurance sectors. It is expected that 
investment in intangible assets and PPE 
will fall during the next year but remain 
above the expected long-term average of 
4% during 2009 as the Group invests in 
the Cambridge business and continues 
development of the insurance market 
electronic infrastructure assets.

The depreciation and amortisation 
charges of £17.3 million incurred during 
2008 (2007: £13.8 million) in relation 
to intangible assets and PPE increased 
as a proportion of revenue to 3.1% 
(2007: 2.9%).

In addition, the Group deferred 
£0.4 million (2007: £0.2 million) of 
pre-contract costs, which are disclosed as 
trade and other receivables in the statutory 
accounts. Costs directly attributable to 
winning a contract are deferred when it is 
virtually certain that the contract will be 
awarded. These costs are amortised over 
the life of the contract; the amortisation 
charge for 2008 was £1.4 million 
(2007: £1.2 million).

Xchanging is highly cash-generative, providing capital 
to fund the Group’s continued growth. Investment of 
Xchanging’s capital resources is focused on generating 
shareholder value.

Regulatory capital
Xchanging operates in a number 
of regulatory regimes. The securities 
processing and retail investment account 
management businesses in Germany, 
known as XTB and FDB, maintain banking 
licences and are regulated under the 
German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (BaFin). Components of 
the insurance businesses are regulated 
in the United Kingdom by the Financial 
Services Authority (FSA).

During the year, the regulatory capital 
requirements of XTB increased by 
£4.0 million. XBS required an injection 
of £0.3 million. This does not impact the 
overall Group cash but does reduce the 
amount of centrally controlled cash by 
transferring £4.3 million into our EPs.

Dividend
The Board recommends the payment of 
a dividend of 2.5 pence per share payable 
on 29 May 2009 to all shareholders on 
the share register at the record date 
27 March 2009. This proposed dividend 
is not reflected in the 2008 financial 
accounts. Based on the 2008 adjusted 
pro forma diluted EPS of 14.67 pence, 
this dividend is covered 5.9 times.

Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer
2 March 2009
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Key risks, impacts and mitigation strategy 
Xchanging maintains risk registers for each of the sectors and for the Group, which cover 
the key internal and external risks to our businesses. The Group’s register is reviewed by the 
Board and ensures we have mitigation plans in place to minimise the impact of these risks 
on the Group.

Key risks Impacts Mitigation strategy
Our growth strategy is 
dependent on attracting 
new customers in large-scale 
arrangements

Our reputation is reliant on 
successful implementation 
of large-scale partnerships 
and outsourcing contracts

Our customers and partners 
demand efficient processing 
and high levels of service 
to help them achieve 
their objectives

We may be exposed to 
complex and technical 
contractual terms with 
key customers

Continuing to retain our key 
personnel and recruit new 
talented individuals is key 
to our success

Our service delivery and 
reputation is highly reliant 
on business continuity and 
security of our IT systems

We may be impacted by the 
general economic downturn

Not attracting new customers 
could make it difficult to achieve 
our financial goals

Poor implementation of 
partnerships could impact 
customer service levels and 
profitability, thereby damaging 
our reputation

Not meeting our customer and 
partner demands could impact 
our relationships and reputation

Breaching contract may lead to 
customer relationship issues and 
potential financial penalties.
In certain cases partners may 
have rights to ‘put’ their shares, 
creating a cash requirement, or 
to ‘call’ the Group’s shares for 
little consideration

Failure to retain and develop our 
skill sets may hinder the ability 
to achieve our goals

Business disruption or IT system 
and security issues may result 
in loss of service, loss or 
compromise of customer and 
internal data, breach of legal 
and regulatory obligations 
and damage to reputation

Market conditions have lead 
to a slow down in economic 
growth in a number of sectors 
and territories, potentially 
impacting our ability to secure 
new revenue opportunities

• Clearly defined service offerings and sales strategies
•  Building and developing strong relationships are key to 

our core values
• Central and sector sales teams with strong sales governance processes

•  Application of standard procedures for implementing 
new partnerships

•  Rigid approval processes requiring defined standard deliverables
•  Using experienced employees with strong project, change and 

people management skills to ensure continuity of service and 
retention of employees

•  Using standard supporting tools proven to be effective 
in previous implementations

•  Disciplined measuring and monitoring of performance across 
all functions

•  Continued focus on one of our core values of being responsive 
to customer needs

•  Clearly defined operating strategy and target model
•  Quality functions focused on improving processes, controls 

and performance

•  Clearly defined partnership governance structures helping 
to identify and resolve potential issues

•  Embedded Delegated Authorities process requires involvement 
of senior management for complex transactions

•  Structural service management approach identifies issues early 
and triggers corrective actions

•  Close monitoring of all key contractual obligations with partners 
through detailed registers

•  Retention plans in place for key employees
•  Established structure for employee performance and 

development monitoring
•  Clear recruitment strategy and graduate scheme attracting 

high-potential employees
•  Leadership training schemes in place to underpin succession plans

•  Defined information security policies and protocols
•  Focus on continued development of business continuity 

and disaster recovery planning and testing
•  Information Security Officer roles within each sector

•  Clearly defined service offerings and sales strategies
•  Strong Outsourcing offering and partnership model, 

complimentary to customer needs in such market conditions
•  Disciplined sales governance processes

Business review
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Corporate social responsibility and our people

Integrating  
best practice

Xchanging is all about people. Our people 
foster a working environment built on our values. 
We constantly strive to improve as well as sustain. 
Our CSR strategy is built on improvement activities 
that are consistent with our aspirations as a business.

Melissa Bruno
Group HR Director

Introduction
Our promise to our people, wherever 
they are in the Group, is that they will be 
managed and developed in ways that are 
consistent with our values. We therefore 
follow a strong performance management 
culture. Our bi-annual Personal Development 
Review (PDR) process measures performance 
against set objectives. In 2008, we improved 
PDR timely completion rates, from 77% 
to 91%. An internal audit was conducted 
to measure the effectiveness of PDR 
objective setting and to identify areas 
that require improvement.

Additionally, our annual Championship 
Team Survey (CTS) measures employee 
satisfaction. Our CTS completion rates 
improved by 12%, from 63% to 75%, 
year-on-year. We are passionate about 
monitoring the effectiveness of our 
people. This is how we drive consistency 
and results, while embracing accepted 
local practices. 

Our CSR programme encourages everyone 
to consider the wider aspects of their 

behaviour. It is driven by four elements: 
people, environment, communities and 
marketplace. CSR is embedded into all 
our planning and processes. It is closely 
aligned with our values. We aim to further 
grow in a socially responsible way – one 
that positively impacts our employees, the 
communities in which we work and the 
broader environment. We are committed 
to making a difference the Xchanging Way.

Learning and development
In 2008, delegate attendance increased 
by 183% on a number of the Xchanging 
Way programmes in the UK on Sales, 
Implementation, Service and Production. 
These programmes were also delivered 
globally.

The Xchanging Executive Forum was 
launched in 2008 in collaboration with 
Cambridge University’s Judge Business 
School. This programme is for our 
high-potential senior managers. It aims 
to develop their leadership potential, 
business knowledge and network. 

In this section

• Introduction
• Learning and development
• Graduate programme
• Career development
• Reward
•  Equal opportunities 

and diversity
•  Health, safety 

and wellbeing
•  ethics
• Offshoring
•  Environment
•  Community 
•  Marketplace
•  Our customers
•  Our suppliers
•  Structure
•  SEE risk management
•  Verification
•  Targets, objectives 

and measures

Number of employees globally

Figures for 2004 – 2006 are average numbers of 
employees and include Executive Directors.

Figures for 2007 – 2008 are actual numbers of 
employees as at 31 December 2007 and 2008 
and exclude Executive Directors.

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

2,465

3,116
3,449

4,255
4,541
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 76%
Increase in the number of training 
programmes in the UK in 2008 
from 2007

We delivered our Leadership Training for 
Success programme again following the 
previous year’s success.

Graduate programme
Our two-year graduate programme 
gives graduates the opportunity to 
work closely with senior executives. 
Our graduates undergo a Director-level 
mentoring programme. They are exposed 
to a mix of industry, geographical and 
functional experience, gaining a real 
insight into the business. Additionally, 
they have the opportunity to gain a 
professional qualification.

Career development 
A career development framework for 
our employees was launched in 2008. 
We are phasing the roll out through 2009 
and 2010. Further enhancements and 
functionality will be developed during 2009. 

Reward
Our reward structure is competitive 
with the market and aligned closely 
to our business strategy. The variable 

element, including bonuses, plays 
a key part in continuing to drive our 
performance culture.

Equal opportunities and diversity
We promote equality of opportunity to 
all our employees irrespective of gender, 
race, colour, ethnic or national origin, 
disability, political opinions, age, nationality, 
sexual orientation, religion, marital status, 
social class or family circumstances. 
We ensure that diversity is appropriately 
supported in our workforce and reflected 
in our leaders. For instance, 47% of our 
employees globally are women. 

Health, safety and wellbeing 
Providing and promoting the health, 
safety and wellbeing of all our employees 
remains a priority for Xchanging. 
All Xchanging employees work in an 
environment where health and safety risks 
are understood and managed responsibly. 
Based on OHSAS 18001, our health and 
safety management system has a number 
of initiatives for a safe and healthy 

environment for everyone affected by 
Xchanging’s activities. Our priority now is 
to review our existing wellbeing practices 
and provide a wide range of health and 
wellbeing improvement programmes 
throughout the Group. 

Ethics 
All applicable laws, regulations and 
standards in the places where we do 
business are adhered to. Our values are 
backed up by specific policies that set 
out the standards that we expect our 
employees to work to. This includes 
the Ethical Code of Business Conduct. 
Our whistle-blowing policy encourages 
employees to report breaches of our 
policies or illegal activity. 

Offshoring 
Xchanging has a socially responsible 
business model. Our Global Balancing 
approach includes the building of on-site, 
nearshore and offshore capacity. We use 
this capacity to service new customers and 
to avoid redundancies wherever possible. 

C
SR and our people
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Employees donated their processing skills to an AIDS 
hospice in South Africa. 
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Corporate social responsibility and our people
continued

CSR is closely aligned with our values. We are committed 
to incorporating best practice across all of our operations. 

Environment 
As a business processor, we think 
carefully about how we can positively 
affect our environment. Overall, we feel 
our environmental footprint has a limited 
impact. However, we recognise our 
responsibility to conduct business in a 
sustainable manner. Therefore, measuring 
our energy consumption and reducing 
our global carbon footprint is high on 
our agenda. 

We are developing a global environmental 
plan. For example, we are reviewing our 
waste management practices and will 
take active steps in reducing the amount 
of waste going to landfill. We will record 
all data relating to energy use in our 
offices, collate it centrally and report 
on it annually. 

During the year, we updated our Group 
environmental policy. It aims to integrate 
sound environmental practices into 
our operations.

Our activities include:
•  ‘Switch it off!’ global campaign. 

It encourages employees to take 
responsibility for the energy 
consumption at each of our sites. 
This includes unplugging mobile 
phone chargers and switching off 
computer screens when not in use

•  replacement chiller units in our City of 
London office. It delivered significant 
savings in energy consumption and 
carbon emissions. The Carbon Trust 
calculates this will deliver an annual 
energy saving of 112,002kWh with 
a carbon saving of 13,216kg per year

•  reducing waste for our customers. 
Our procurement team works 
with United Biscuits to help them 
reduce their waste going to landfill, 
water consumption and road mileage

•  increased use of video conferencing. 
Installing facilities in more locations 
will further reduce travel, saving time 
and money. 

Calculated using the GHG Protocol Corporate 
Accounting and Reporting Standard. Includes 
actual and estimated data for all offices operated 
by Xchanging. Excludes employees working at 
customer sites. Based on scope one, two and 
three (excluding waste). 

uK 6,130

Malaysia 55 

France 53 

India 2,079 

usa 88 

Germany 2,325 

Australia 10 

Group’s carbon footprint in 2008
(tonnes of CO2e) 
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Volunteers from our office in India decorating 
a local school’s furniture

a nnua l  re po rt  a n d  accou n ts  2008

41Xchang ing  p lc

UK •  employees in the South East are volunteering their time 
as mentors for Career Academy students

 •  employees volunteered their time at the National Junior 
Indoor Rowing Championships. More than 1,100 inner 
city children competed for various titles

 •  Xchanging insurance employees spent their team away day 
clearing land for the Kent Wildlife Trust 

 •  Xchanging Hosting Services volunteered their time 
to reinvigorate the sensory garden at the Little Havens 
Children’s Hospice near Basildon

 •  Lloyd’s Community Programme in East London receives 
our continued support

Germany •  Frankfurt office supported Network for Teaching 
Entrepreneurship (NFTE) throughout 2008 and hosted 
a Biz Camp summer programme

 •  employees are supporting Frankfurter Bürgerinstitut e.V. und 
CENIT and a number of children’s homes in the local area 

 •  employees from our office in Hof supported Verein 
Kinderhilfe e.V. who care for sick children in hospitals, 
hospices and in foster care

India •  employees contributed to Asharan, an orphanage run 
by Hope Foundation. Several Xchanging teams have 
visited the orphanage to volunteer their time 

 •  a number of employees ran the Delhi Half Marathon 
in support of the Concern India Foundation

 •  volunteers from our India office spent time decorating 
a local school’s furniture

Africa •  employees donated their skills to an AIDS hospice in 
South Africa. They updated policies and helped the 
administration team prepare for an audit. The benefits 
of this project were twofold. The Holy Cross AIDS hospice 
received expert advice and skills that were beyond their 
financial reach. The Xchanging volunteers did what they 
do best – work in a diverse environment to make a 
difference the Xchanging Way

Xchanging’s community initiatives
Making a difference the Xchanging Way 

Community 
As a Group, we work with the communities 
within the regions we operate. Our specific 
focus is youth and education linking to 
one of our values ‘skilled at releasing 
the entrepreneurial spirit in our people’. 
We provide skills, resources and support 
fundraising activities. We encourage 
employees who wish to develop a 
community programme within their site. 
We promote this through emails and 
through a dedicated area on our Group 
intranet where details of employee 
community initiatives can be found. 

C
SR and our people
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Corporate social responsibility and our people 
continued

Xchanging successfully entered the FTSE4Good Index 
Series in September 2008. It confirms our commitment 
to responsible business practice. 

Our customers
We appointed a Global Service Director 
in February 2008. She is responsible for 
ensuring our communication remains clear 
and open. We deliver our services to 
customers in 38 countries. Understanding 
them is critical for us to provide excellent 
customer service. Our Service teams 
invest a considerable amount of time 
speaking with our customers individually. 
They collect our performance feedback to 
understand customer satisfaction levels. 
We measure empirical and perceived 
performance for every customer. Every 
month, these scores are reviewed by the 
customer service review boards, to ensure 
business strategies are aligned to our 
customers’ requirements. 

Our suppliers 
We have more than 100 high-calibre 
procurement professionals and leverage 
more than £1 billion spend per annum. 
We have been reviewing our procurement 
approach regarding ethical and 
environmental impact. In 2009, we will 
work with suppliers to improve the social 
and environmental impact of our purchases. 
Responsible procurement principles will 
be adopted to help suppliers understand 
our objectives. This will lead to the creation 
of detailed supply guidelines. 

Structure 
The Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee met three times in 2008. 
This Committee is responsible for overseeing 
the Company’s performance in CSR. 
The members are Stephen Brenninkmeijer, 
the Non-Executive Director who chairs 
these meetings, the Group HR Director, 
the Group Relations Director, and the 
Group Quality Director. 

We appointed CSR Champions in all of 
our major processing centres. They lead 
local CSR teams and form a Group-wide 
CSR taskforce. Quarterly meetings are held 
to focus on developing the four elements 
of our CSR programme. 

A Group-wide CSR policy is in place. 
We are raising awareness through 
induction, employee communication 
processes and part of the employee 
performance appraisal process. 

SEE risk management 
Assessment of social, ethical and 
environmental risks (SEE) was introduced 
into our existing risk management 
processes. The CSR Committee review 
the Group’s SEE register. It checks that 
plans are in place to mitigate the impact 
of these risks.

Verification 
The CSR Committee is confident that 
the internal measures taken to review 
the CSR information is of a suitable level. 
Xchanging calls upon industry specialists 
on specific issues as necessary. 

Visit the Corporate Social Responsibility section of our website www.xchanging.com

Marketplace 
Our marketplace demands the highest 
professional standards and processes. 
We aim to be honest, transparent 
and ethical in all of our interactions. 
Our five values and ethical code of 
business conduct support what we 
expect of our people and how we treat 
our customers and suppliers in the 
marketplace. Our purpose is to achieve 
long-term business success with all 
our stakeholders. 

FTSE Group confirms that Xchanging plc has been 
independently assessed according to the FTSE4Good 
criteria, and has satisfied the requirements to become 
a constituent of the FTSE4Good Index Series. 
Companies in the FTSE4Good Index Series have met 
stringent social, ethical and environmental criteria, 
and are positioned to capitalise on the benefits of 
responsible business practice.
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Issue Objective Target Progress

Management    

• Measuring Improve measuring and Improve our CSR data collection processes  
 and monitoring monitoring of Group-wide  End of 2009 
  CSR performance   

• Employee Develop and measure employee Achieve employee awareness of Xchanging’s CSR  
 engagement engagement in Xchanging’s activity of 75% End of 2010 
  CSR programme   

• Acquisitions Evaluate the CSR practices  Understand CSR activities of the Cambridge Group  
  of Cambridge following the  End of 2010 
  completion of the acquisition  

People     

• Wellbeing Ensure the health and wellbeing Deliver a workplace health programme that is aligned  
  of employees at work to the business and makes a positive contribution to End of 2011 
   the health and wellbeing of our people  

• Career  Continue to provide career Introduction of career development framework  
 development development opportunities   across the Group End of 2011 
  for all employees   

Environment    

• Energy use Make efforts to reduce Understand ways in which we can reduce  
 reduction Xchanging’s impact on the our energy consumption and create specific End of 2009 
  environment and help tackle reduction plans 
  climate change  

• Environmental Improve employee engagement Run an ‘Environmental week’ to engage employees  
 engagement in environmental issues across the Group End of 2009

Communities    

• Give As You Earn Widen implementation of the Achieve silver payroll giving award  
 (GAYE) GAYE initiative across the UK (5% of employees donating) End of 2010 
      

Marketplace    

• Ethical Interact with our suppliers Implement ethical and environmental considerations  
 supply chain to promote CSR into our into supplier policies, tools and processes End of 2009 
  supply chain 

 Mostly achieved  In progress  Not yet started

Targets, objectives and measures

2008 marked the first year where we set and disclosed CSR-related objectives and targets. 
The information below relates to the Group.

We continue to improve our global reporting processes and build on our existing local 
monitoring systems. We also measure and report CSR within our performance management 
frameworks to the Xchanging Performance Committee. 

C
SR and our people
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Our management team 

A wealth of experience  
across industries

The Xchanging Management Board’s (XMB) experience and 
capabilities reflect the diverse nature of the BPO market. 
The XMB is collectively responsible for developing and 
delivering the strategy, the three-year plan and the 
annual budget. 

1. David Andrews 
Chief Executive Officer Age: 59
Founded Xchanging and Chief Executive 
Officer since inception. Prior to Xchanging 
he was the Managing Partner for 
Accenture’s West Europe business. 
He built up their BPO business. As such 
he led the successful accounting 
outsourcing for British Petroleum, the 
operational outsourcing and technology 
replacement for the London Stock 
Exchange and the trading systems at 
Deutsche Börse. David is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, has 
a Masters in Finance from Sheffield 
University and is William Pitt Fellow 
of Pembroke College, Cambridge. 

2. Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer Age: 50
Joined Xchanging in 1999 and was 
appointed Chief Financial Officer, with 
responsibility for Finance, Legal and  
Group Implementation, in September 2003. 
Before joining Xchanging, Richard was 
Chief Executive Officer of the Industrial 
Products Division of Caradon plc. He has 
lived and worked in the USA and Australia 
and began his career at Esso, having 
graduated in Chemical Engineering from 
Cambridge University. He completed an 
MBA at Harvard and subsequently spent 
five years at McKinsey & Company. 

3. Matthias Sohler
Head of European Financial Services Age: 40
Joined Xchanging in January 2009 as Head 
of European Financial Services. Prior to this, 
he was a member of the Senior Executive 
Committee of the UniCredit Group and 
on the management board of Bayerische 
Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG. At UniCredit 
Group he was Deputy Head of Global 
Operations responsible for the operating 
model, sourcing, cost containment and 
real estate. Matthias has a Masters in 
Business Economics and brings more than 
16 years of banking and business processing 
experience in the financial industries.

4. Steven Beard
Head of the Americas Age: 35
Joined Xchanging in 2002 and is the 
recently appointed Head of the Americas, 
responsible for delivering the sector 
strategy and financial performance. 
Steven started his career in finance and 
has held Director-level positions in 
insurance, technology and venture capital 
companies. Prior to joining Xchanging, 
Steven’s previous roles included Finance 
Director of a division of XL Capital, and 
Executive Director and Chief Financial 
Officer of a venture capital plc. Steven is 
a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants. 

5. David Rich-Jones
Head of Business Lines Age: 48
Joined Xchanging in 2000 and is 
Head of Business Lines, responsible 
for delivering the sector strategy and 
financial performance. Prior to Xchanging, 
David was Group Purchasing Director 
at Caradon plc, Vice President of Global 
Purchasing at SmithKline Beecham, and 
Group Purchasing Director (IT) for National 
Westminster Bank plc. He is past president 
of the Chartered Institute of Purchasing 
and Supply. He has a degree in business 
studies and holds a Diplôme Supérieur de 
La Chambre de Commerce de Paris. 

6. Stewart McCulloch
Head of Insurance Age: 46
Joined Xchanging in 2008 and is currently 
Head of Insurance, responsible for 
delivering the sector strategy and financial 
performance. Prior to Xchanging he was 
the Chief Executive Officer at Lockton 
Companies International and previously 
spent five years at Willis and nine years at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Stewart brings 
18 years’ experience in the insurance 
sector and in advising, implementing 
and leading change. He has a Bachelor 
of Science in Mathematics from Warwick 
University and is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants.
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Board of Directors

Experience aligned  
with operating focus

The Xchanging Board’s experience continues to closely 
align with Xchanging’s industry, geographic and sector 
operating focus. It comprises two Executive Directors 
and six Non-Executive Directors. The Directors and their 
expertise are set out below.

2. David Andrews
Chief Executive Officer Age: 59 (3)

Founded Xchanging and has served 
as Chief Executive Officer of the Group 
since inception. Formerly a Board 
member of Andersen Worldwide and 
the Managing Partner of Andersen 
Consulting West Europe. He is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
a William Pitt Fellow of Pembroke College, 
Cambridge and a member of the PCC 
of Holy Trinity Brompton. 

3. Richard Houghton
Chief Financial Officer Age: 50
Joined the Group in 1999 and appointed 
Chief Financial Officer in 2003. Formerly 
worked at Caradon plc, where he was 
Chief Executive Officer of the Industrial 
Products Division. Richard Houghton 
has lived and worked in the USA and 
Australia and began his career at Esso 
having graduated in Chemical Engineering 
from Cambridge. He completed an 
MBA at Harvard and subsequently 
spent five years working in consulting 
at McKinsey & Company. 

4. Stephen Brenninkmeijer 
Non-Executive Director Age: 52 (1 2 3 4)

Joined the Group Board in 2000 as a 
Non-Executive Director and currently chairs 
the Remuneration Committee and the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. 
He has considerable experience in the 
operational and retail sectors, working 
for C&A in Continental Europe, Japan and 
the UK. He founded the Andromeda Fund 
(part of the Entrepreneurs Fund, owned 
by COFRA) and was founding Chairman 
of NFTE UK (Network for Teaching 
Entrepreneurship). He is a member of the 
COFRA Advisory Board, and a Director of 
responsAbility Social Investment Services, 
Irvine Bay Trustee Co, OptiNose, Porticus 
UK, Enterprise Education Trust and the 
Schwab Foundation.

5. Johannes Maret 
Non-Executive Director Age: 58
Joined the Group Board in 2003 as a 
Non-Executive Director. He is Managing 
Director of Maret GmbH and is Advisory 
Board Chairman of Bex Beteiligungs, 
Cincinnati Extrusion, Basler Fashion 

1.

2. 3.

1. Nigel Rich 
Chairman Age: 63 (3)

Joined the Group Board as Non-Executive 
Deputy Chairman in November 2006 and 
appointed Chairman in 2008. He also 
chairs the Group Board’s Nominations 
Committee. Currently he is Chairman of 
SEGRO and a Non-Executive Director of 
Pacific Assets Trust and KGR Absolute 
Return PCC. His previous roles include 
Chairman of Exel and CP Ships, Managing 
Director of Jardine Matheson Holdings 
and Chief Executive of Trafalgar House. 
He is a chartered accountant and was 
awarded a CBE in 1995. 
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial 
statements of the group for the year ended 31 december 2008.

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the provision of a range 
of complex industry specific processing services to the banking 
and insurance industries as well as procurement, finance and 
accounting, and human resources services across industries. 
The principal activity and business review is discussed further 
on pages 1 to 37.

Business review
The Chairman’s statement, operational and financial business 
review and performance reviews for the Group’s main businesses, 
on pages 1 to 47, provide detailed information on the Group and 
its strategy, the operation of the businesses and the results and 
financial position for the year ended 31 December 2008. These 
report on the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, 
post balance sheet events and likely future developments. The 
information in the review constitutes the business review required 
under the companies act and forms part of the directors’ report.

Results and dividends
The profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders was 
£29,155,000 (2007: £15,336,000). The Directors recommend the 
payment of a dividend of 2.5 pence per share (2007: 2.0 pence).

Research and development
The Group incurs development costs in the design of processes 
and systems that substantially improve those already installed 
in the Enterprise Partnerships, which includes business process 
mapping, process re-organisation and software development. 
Research and development is discussed further in the Group 
performance on page 36.

The amount capitalised in the year in respect of development 
expenditure was £8,137,000 (2007: £4,797,000).

Charitable donations
Donations towards various international, national and local 
charities amounted to £25,000 during the year (2007: £10,000). 
No donations have been made to political parties.

Directors and their interests 
Details of changes to the Board during the year and up to the 
date of this report are set out on pages 52 and 53.

Details of Directors’ service contracts are set out in the Directors’ 
remuneration report on page 61.

the interests of the directors in the shares and share options of 
the Company are shown on pages 63 and 64.

Significant agreements
The key customer and supplier contracts and other arrangements 
essential to the Group are described throughout the business 
review. Xchanging does not consider itself to be dependent on 
a single key supplier.

Significant agreements – change of control
Upon a change of control (as variously defined in the respective 
agreements) of Xchanging plc, a number of significant 
agreements take effect, alter or terminate as follows:

Customer service agreements
Under the terms of the following service agreements, the customer 
may elect to continue to receive such services, or alternatively 
terminate the contract:
a.  the agreement for the provision of human resource services 

by Xchanging HR Services Ltd to BAE Systems plc, entered 
into on 19 April 2001

b.  the agreement for the provision of securities transaction 
services by Xchanging Transaction Bank GmbH (XTB) to 
Sal. Oppenheim Partners jr. & Cie. KGaA, entered into 
on 29 december 2004

c.  the agreement for the provision of sourcing and procurement 
to pay services by Xchanging Procurement Services Ltd 
to National Australia Group Europe Ltd, entered into on 
28 June 2006

d.  the agreement for the provision of claims handling, payment 
and settlement services by Xchanging Broking Services Ltd 
(XBS) to Aon Limited (Aon), entered into on 9 August 2006.

Enterprise Partnership shareholder agreements 
Under the terms of certain Enterprise Partnership shareholders’ 
agreements, the Enterprise Partner may elect to exercise options 
over the shares in the Enterprise Partnership, for a share value as 
variously defined in the respective agreements. The agreements 
are as follows:
a.  Deutsche Bank AG (DB) may elect to call Xchanging’s shares 

in XTB under the terms of the shareholders agreement, 
entered into between DB and Xchanging Holdco No. 3 Ltd, 
on 26 May 2004

b.  Aon may elect to put its own shares to Xchanging, or call 
Xchanging’s shares in XBS under the terms of the shareholders’ 
agreement, entered into between Aon and Xpanse Ltd, on 
9 August 2006

c.  Allianz Global Investors Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH (AGI) 
may elect to call Xchanging’s shares in Fondsdepot Bank GmbH 
under the terms of the shareholders agreement, entered into 
between AGI and XTB, on 21 August 2007.
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Revolving credit facility
Under the terms of the £90m revolving credit facility provided 
by Lloyd’s TSB Bank plc (LTSB) to Xchanging plc, entered into 
on 3 October 2008, LTSB may elect to continue to provide such 
facility, or alternatively cancel it and require all monies borrowed 
under such facility to be repaid. 

Share schemes
Under the terms of the Xchanging plc 2007 Performance Share 
Plan (PSP), all PSP awards will vest, normally pro rata to the 
period of time from grant compared to three years, and subject 
to satisfaction of the performance conditions.

Under the terms of each of the Xchanging BV Approved Share 
Option Plan, the Xchanging BV Unapproved Share Option Plan, 
the Xchanging BV Unapproved G Share Option Plan and the 
Xchanging plc 2007 Executive Share Option Plan, option holders 
under each scheme will, with the agreement of the acquirer, 
release their rights under option in exchange for the grant to 
them of rights to acquire shares of equivalent market value in 
the acquirer. 

Under the terms of the Xchanging plc 2007 Executive Share 
Option Plan, early exercise of options is permitted based on 
the level of performance up to the date of the triggering event.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect 
of the financial statements and auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report, the 
remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations. Company law requires the 
Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and Group as at the end of the financial year and 
of the profit or loss of the Group for that year. In preparing 
those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply 

them consistently
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent
•  state whether applicable accounting standards have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the accounts

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and 
the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are also required by the Disclosure and Transparency 
Rules of the Financial Services Authority to include a management 
report containing a fair review of the business and a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and Company. 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and the Group and to 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the 
remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 1985 
and as regards the Group’s financial statements, Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulations. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the Group’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ statement pursuant to the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules
Each of the Directors confirm that, to the best of each person’s 
knowledge and belief:
•  the financial statements, prepared in accordance with 

applicable accounting standards, give a true and fair view 
of the assets and liabilities, financial position and profit of 
the group and company

•  the Directors’ report contained in the annual report includes 
a fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Company and Group, 
together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
in the case of each of the persons who are directors of the 
Company at the date when the report was approved:
•  so far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which the company’s auditors are unaware
•  each of the Directors has taken all the steps he/she ought 

to have taken individually as a Director in order to make 
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware 
of that information.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the 
company may pay for directors’ indemnities out of its own 
assets. The Company has procured directors’ and officers’ 
insurance for this purpose.
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Directors’ report
continued

Share capital
At the date of this report, 219,468,787 ordinary shares of 
5 pence each have been issued, are fully paid up and are 
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange.

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary 
shares, as well as the powers of the Company’s Directors are 
set out in the Company’s Articles of Association, copies of which 
can be obtained from Companies House or by writing to the 
company secretary.

There are no general restrictions on the voting rights attaching 
to the Company’s ordinary shares (and the times by which proxies 
must be lodged are specified in the Articles of Association) or on 
the transfer of ordinary shares. No person holds ordinary shares in 
the Company carrying special rights with regard to control of the 
Company. The Company is not aware of any agreement between 
holders of ordinary shares that may result in restrictions on voting 
rights or on the transfer of ordinary shares. Unless expressly 
specified to the contrary in the Articles of Association of the 
Company, the Company’s Articles of Association may be amended 
by special resolution of the Company’s shareholders.

The Articles of Association contain provisions governing the 
appointment, retirement and removal of Directors. Under the 
Relationship Deed dated 24 April 2007 between General Atlantic 
and the Company, General Atlantic has the appointment rights 
described in the Prospectus dated 25 April 2007.

The Articles of Association grant the Company power to purchase 
its own shares subject to specific authority being granted by the 
shareholders. An authority to purchase ordinary shares was granted 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 22 May 2008. 
A resolution to renew this authority will be proposed at the AGM 
in 2009, details of which are given in the Notice of AGM 2009. 
The current authority is described in the explanatory notes 
which accompanied the Notice of AGM 2008. The details of 
the replacement authorities to be proposed at the AGM in 
2009 are given in the Notice of AGM 2009.

Substantial shareholders
On 27 February 2009, the Company had been notified of the 
following material or notifiable interests in its issued share capital 
by persons other than the Directors of the Company:

    number  
    of shares Percentage 

General Atlantic 1    39,093,080 17.81%
Fidelity Investment Services Limited  27,909,119 12.71%
Standard Life Investments Limited  13,058,645 5.95%
Blackrock Inc    10,889,394 4.96%
Aegon Asset Management   8,726,073 3.97%

1   The General Atlantic holding is currently held as follows: General Atlantic 
Partners 55, L.P. 3,061,988 shares (1.43%); GAP-Xchange Partners LLC, SCA 
5,144,897 shares (2.40%); GAP Coinvestment Partners L.P. 1,884,941 shares 
(0.88%); GAP Coinvestment Partners ll L.P., 4,421,863 shares (2.06%); General 
Atlantic Partners (Bermuda) L.P. 22,614,189 shares (10.55%); GAPstar, LLC 
1,563,467 shares (0.19%); GAPCo GmbH & Co. KG, 2,704 shares (0.0013%); 
GAP-W International L.P. 399,031 shares (0.19%). 

Minority interests
the minority interests in the group’s subsidiaries at 31 december 
2008 are set out as follows:

Minority interest Interest in Xchanging Group companies

The Corporation of 25% interest in  
Lloyd’s Limited  Ins-sure Holdings Limited
 50% interest in Xchanging  
 Claims Services Limited

International Underwriting 25% interest in  
Association Ins-sure Holdings Limited

Aon Limited 50% interest in Xchanging  
 Broking Services Limited

Deutsche Bank AG 44% interest in  
 Xchanging etb GmbH

Sal. Oppenheim jr. 5% interest in  
& Cie. KGaA Xchanging etb GmbH

Allianz Global Investors 49% interest in 
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH Fondsdepot Bank GmbH

The profits of the Xchanging Group companies in which the 
minorities have an interest are not necessarily shared in proportion 
to the shareholding interest in that company, as each of the 
above individual Enterprise Partnerships has a distinct contractual 
method of profit share.

_2_XCH_ar08_middle.indd   3 31/03/2009   09:50:08



G
overnance

a nnua l  re po rt  a n d  accou n ts  2008

51Xchang ing  p lc

Employee involvement
The Group is committed to providing employees with information 
on matters of concern to them on a regular basis. This enables 
the views of employees to be taken into account when making 
decisions that are likely to affect their interests. Employees are 
involved with the Group’s performance through our Personal 
Development Review process and through participation in our 
incentive plans.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to employment policies which follow 
best practice based on equal opportunities for all employees 
irrespective of gender, race, nationality, colour, disability, marital 
status, sexual orientation, age or religion. All decisions relating 
to employment practices are objective, free from bias and based 
upon work criteria and individual merit. It is the policy of the 
Group to offer appropriate training and career development 
to disabled persons that are, as far as possible, identical to 
other employees and in line with best practice. In the event 
of a member of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made 
by the Group to continue employment, and arrange appropriate 
retraining and offer opportunities for promotion.

Policy on payment of creditors
The Company aims to pay suppliers in accordance with the 
suppliers’ contract terms. The Company had an average of 
49 days’ purchases (2007: 45 days’) outstanding in trade 
payables in 2008.

Policy on financial instruments
The policy with respect to financial instruments is covered in the 
accounting policy note 2(xiii) on pages 74 and 75.

Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their 
willingness to continue in office, and a resolution that they be 
re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Going concern
The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and 
the Company have adequate resources to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the financial statements 
set out on pages 65 to 122 have been prepared on the going 
concern basis.

Events after the balance sheet date
Details of the acquisition of 75% of the fully diluted share capital 
of Cambridge Solutions Limited are set out in the business review 
on pages 24 and 25, and in note 39 to the annual accounts on 
page 115.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 
34 Leadenhall Street, London, EC3A 1AX at 11.30am on Thursday 
21 May 2009. The notice convening the meeting, together with 
details of the business to be considered and explanatory notes for 
each resolution, is distributed separately to shareholders. It is also 
available on the Group’s website.

By order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
company secretary
2 March 2009
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Introduction
Xchanging plc remains committed to ensuring high standards 
of corporate governance. Throughout the year, the Group Board 
(Board) has applied the provisions set out in the Combined Code 
in all respects except in relation to the Board, Remuneration 
and audit committees’ composition and appointment of a 
Senior Independent Director, in each case, as set out below. 
Progress made this year to address such shortcomings and further 
plans for such are also set out below.

The Board and Committees
The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for creating 
and sustaining shareholder value through the management of 
the Group’s businesses. It sets the Group’s strategic plan and 
budgets, monitors their implementation and, with the assistance 
of the Audit Committee, ensures that executive management 
maintain a system of internal operational, financial and regulatory 
controls that identify and manage appropriately the risks set out 
on page 37. The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for its decision, including the approval of interim and final 
financial statements, significant changes in accounting policy 
and practice, the appointment or removal of Directors or the 
Company Secretary, changes to the Group’s capital structure, 
investments, contracts, acquisitions, mergers and disposals. 

Other specific responsibilities are delegated to the Board 
sub-committees which operate within clearly defined terms 
of reference. 

Details of the schedule of matters reserved for the Board and the 
responsibilities delegated to the Board sub-committees can be 
found on the Group’s website, www.xchanging.com. 

The operational management of Xchanging is delegated to the 
Xchanging Management Board (XMB). The composition of the 
XMB is set out on pages 44 and 45. 

Board composition and structure
Following the retirements of John Robins, John Bramley and 
David Hodgson at the May 2008 AGM and Adele Browne’s 
resignation effective from 31 December 2008, the Board 
currently comprises a Non-Executive Chairman, Nigel Rich; the 
Chief Executive Officer, David Andrews; the Chief Financial Officer 
Richard Houghton; and five other Non-Executive Directors: 
Dennis Millard (the Senior Independent Director); Tom Tinsley 
(an appointee of General Atlantic); Stephen Brenninkmeijer; 
Johannes Maret; and Pat O’Driscoll. 

Dennis Millard was appointed as Senior Independent Director 
at the 11 January 2009 Board meeting. However, for the period 
between Nigel Rich becoming Chairman at the May 2008 AGM 
and the appointment of Dennis Millard, there was no designated 
Senior Independent Director. Consequently, the Company was 
not in compliance with provision A.3.3 of the Code for this 
period, but now considers itself fully compliant.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer 
are segregated and the division of responsibilities between the 
two roles has been set out in writing and approved by the Board.

As well as the two Executive Directors, the following 
Non-Executive Directors are deemed by the Board not to be 
‘independent’ under the terms of the Code and consequently 
the Group Board is not compliant with provision A.3.2 of 
the Code relating to Board composition:
•  Tom Tinsley – due to his being an appointee of General 

Atlantic Partners, a founder shareholder in Xchanging and 
still holding approximately 17.8% of Xchanging plc shares

•  Johannes Maret – due to him being a consultant to 
Xchanging GmbH, a Group company, since June 2003. 

The Board believe that Tom Tinsley contributes significantly to the 
Board, drawing on his broad experience and industry knowledge. 
The Board believe that Johannes Maret provides essential insight 
and advice on the German financial services industry – a key 
market for Xchanging. The remaining three Non-Executive 
Directors have been deemed to be independent by the Board. 

Pat O’Driscoll joined the Board following a rigorous recruitment 
process led by the Nominations Committee, who employed 
the services of an independent search firm. The Nominations 
Committee met and interviewed various candidates. The 
candidates also met with members of the senior executive 
management. Following that, a recommendation was made 
to the Board by the Nominations Committee and Pat O’Driscoll 
was appointed to the Board, Audit, Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees on 3 November 2008. A similar 
process will be used in the search for a further independent 
Non-Executive Director in the first half of 2009. 

Such an appointment would move the Company to full 
compliance with Code provision A.3.2.

Corporate governance
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Attendance at Board and committee meetings
The attendance of Directors at Group Board meetings and at meetings of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees 
during 2008 is shown in the table below:

   Board Audit Nominations Remuneration  
   meetings Committee meetings Committee meetings Committee meetings

Scheduled meetings     9  4  3  4

Nigel Rich1     9  1  3  2

David Andrews     9  N/A  3  N/A

Stephen Brenninkmeijer    7  4  3  4

Adele Browne2     7  N/A  N/A  N/A

Richard Houghton     7  N/A  N/A  N/A

Johannes Maret     8  N/A  N/A  N/A

Dennis Millard     9  4  3  4

Tom Tinsley     5  N/A  N/A  4

Pat O’Driscoll3     2  1  N/A  1

John robins4     3  N/A  2  1

John Bramley4     3  N/A  2  2

David Hodgson4     3  N/A  2  N/A

1 Resigned from Audit and Remuneration Committees on 22 May 2008. 
2 Resigned 31 December 2008. 
3 Appointed 3 November 2008. 
4 Retired from the Board on 22 May 2008.

Directors’ induction, training and information
The Board has a full induction programme for all new Directors. 
Pat O’Driscoll is currently undertaking this programme. The 
Directors receive ongoing updates to improve their knowledge 
and enable them to discharge their duties. For example, during 
2008, Board members received presentations on the various 
changes to the law under the Companies Act 2006.

Directors receive written reports prior to each Board meeting 
which enable them to make an informed decision on the issues 
under consideration. In addition to formal Board meetings, the 
Chairman maintains regular contact with the Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive Directors to discuss specific issues. 
The Company Secretary acts as an adviser to the Board on 
matters concerning governance and ensures Board procedures 
are complied with. All Directors have access to his advice and 
during 2008 this was sought in relation to employee share 
dealing. Directors may also take independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense. 

Board conflicts
in preparation for the introduction on 1 october 2008 of the 
new Companies Act 2006 Directors’ conflicts of interest regime, 
(Section 175), the Company’s Articles of Association were amended 
at the May 2008 AGM to enable the Board to authorise matters 
giving rise to an actual or potential conflict of interest. Pursuant to 
such power, prior to 1 October 2008, each Director completed and 
returned a detailed form, sent to them by the Company Secretary, 
listing all other positions held (e.g. Directorships) and detailing any 
other conflict situations that each thought required prior Board 
authorisation. Each Director’s Section 175 return was reviewed 
and any potential conflict of interest was approved where relevant 
(for example, in relation to Tom Tinsley’s appointment by General 
Atlantic (a major shareholder) and Johannes Maret’s incentive 
arrangements under his consultancy arrangements with Xchanging 
GmbH). In each such situation, the Director under consideration 
did not vote on the matter. The Nominations Committee will 
continue to review the conflict authorisations annually to 
ensure the authorisations, and any conditions attached to them, 
are appropriate for the relevant matter to remain authorised. 
The Company Secretary maintains a list of all authorisations 
granted to Directors, setting out the date of authorisation 
and its expiry, scope and any limitations. 
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Board performance evaluation
Formal evaluation of the performance of the Executive Directors 
is appraised annually by the Chief Executive Officer. The evaluation 
of the Board and its Committees was conducted during 2008 
under the leadership of the Chairman. Each Director completed 
a detailed questionnaire covering their assessment of the Board 
structure (the content and functionality of meetings, corporate 
governance and interaction with management) and Board 
Committee members reviewed the activities of each Committee 
against the actions required by their terms of reference. 
The Non-Executive Directors met separately to evaluate the 
performance of the Chairman, who then joined them to evaluate 
the performance of the Chief Executive Officer. 

Following the 2008 Board assessment, the Company Secretary 
held interviews with each of the Directors, the details of which 
were included in a report, prepared by the Company Secretary in 
conjunction with the Chairman and presented to the February 2009 
Board. Based on this assessment it is considered that the Board is 
operating effectively, but that it must be moved to full compliance 
with the code. 

Election and re-appointment of Directors
All Directors are subject to re-election at the Annual General Meeting 
at intervals of no more than three years. At the next AGM 
(May 2009), Tom Tinsley and David Andrews will retire by rotation 
and seek re-appointment. At the year end, both Tom Tinsley and 
David Andrews had one year and four months unexpired on their 
Directors’ Service Agreements. Pat O’Driscoll will retire at the 
AGM, having been appointed by the Board on 3 November 2008. 
At the year end, Pat O’Driscoll had five months unexpired on her 
Director’s Service Contract. All three retiring Directors will seek 
election by the members (see Notice of AGM). 

Board Committees
The Group Board has established Audit, Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees. The Committees have all reviewed 
their terms for the 2008 year end, and the changes recommended 
to the Board have been accepted. The minutes of Committee 
meetings are sent to all Directors and oral updates are given 
at Board meetings.

The Audit Committee
Until the May 2008 AGM, the Group Audit Committee comprised 
four independent Non-Executive Directors: Dennis Millard 
(Committee Chairman), Stephen Brenninkmeijer, John Bramley 
and Nigel Rich. Following the retirement of John Bramley at 
the May 2008 AGM, and the departure of Nigel Rich from 
the Committee because of his move to Group Chairman, 
the Group Audit Committee was reduced to only two 
independent Non-Executive Directors until 3 November 2008, 
when Pat O’Driscoll joined. Therefore, for the period between 
the AGM and the appointment of Pat O’Driscoll, the Company 
was not compliant with provision C.3.1 of the Combined Code 
relating to Audit Committee composition, but now considers 
itself fully compliant. Dennis Millard, a chartered accountant, 
was Group Finance Director of Cookson Group plc from 1996 
to 2005, held further previous executive roles as Finance Director 
and is currently also Chairman of the Group Audit Committee 
of Debenhams plc. Thus the Board considers him to have recent 
and relevant financial experience. 

The Group Audit Committee met four times during 2008. 
Also in attendance, by invitation, were the Group Chairman, 
the Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Group Internal Audit 
and the external auditors and other executives for specific 
specialised subjects. Both the Head of Group Internal Audit 
and the external auditors have access to the Audit Committee 
Chairman outside of formal Committee meetings.

The Committee maintains a formal calendar of items to be 
considered at each meeting to ensure that its work is in line with 
the requirements of the Code. Key items considered during 2008 
include the review of key accounting policies; material judgements; 
quality of earnings and estimates; scope of work and findings of 
the 2008 and 2009 internal and external audits; interim and full 
year financial statements; IT security; regulatory framework; risk 
register process; whistle-blowing policy; non-audit services; results 
from Enterprise Partnership Audit Committee meetings; and the 
effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems.

Corporate governance
continued
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The Group Audit Committee reviews the Group’s annual report 
and accounts, as well as reports from the external auditors 
identifying any accounting or judgemental issues requiring 
its attention. In its July 2008 and February 2009 meetings, 
the Committee approved the half year and full year financial 
statements respectively, and confirmed agreement with key 
accounting policies and material judgements.

Reports summarising internal audit activities and key matters 
of control are presented at each meeting by the Head of Group 
Internal Audit. In 2008, the Committee reviewed management’s 
progress against actions throughout the year, agreeing the 
appropriateness of key recommendations made. In addition, 
the Committee reviews and approves both internal and external 
audit’s plans for the coming year. The plan for external audit’s 
2008 year end audit was approved in September 2008 and 
internal audit’s plan for 2009 was approved in December 2008. 

The Committee receives updates from the Head of Group 
Internal Audit and Executive Directors on the subject of risk and 
the processes employed to both identify and mitigate the risks. 
The Committee reviews changes to the Group’s risk register and 
receives other reports on individual risk areas, such as Information 
Security. The Board then reviews the risks identified by this process. 
In December 2008, the Committee reviewed the changes to the 
latest Group risk register and concluded that the process 
undertaken to identify and mitigate risks was effective.

In September 2008, the Committee conducted its annual 
assessment of the suitability and performance of the external 
auditors in making its recommendation to the Board for their 
re-appointment. In addition, to ensure that the objectivity and 
independence of the audit is not compromised, a review is 
undertaken of the level of non-audit services provided by the 
external auditors and safeguards are put in place such as:
•  adherence to a detailed policy for non-audit services 

prohibiting the use of auditors for certain services and for 
permissible services, defining clear guidelines and safeguards 
to be put in place with defined approval levels based on 
materiality and nature of the service

•  seeking confirmation that the auditors are, in their 
professional judgement, independent of the Company

•  obtaining from the external auditors an account of all 
relationships with the Company and considering whether, 
taken as a whole, the various relationships between the 
Company and the external auditors impair, or appear to 
impair, the auditors’ judgement or independence.

In addition to the Group Audit Committee, each UK Enterprise 
Partnership (EP) has its own Audit Committee whose members 
and chairman are independent of the ep. such committees are 
attended by Xchanging’s partners, nominated Xchanging 
Executive Directors and senior EP management. The Head of 
Group Internal Audit attends EP Audit Committees on a regular 
basis. EP Audit Committees have similar terms of reference to 
the Group Audit Committee. In Germany, Xchanging Transaction 
Bank (XTB) has a Shareholder Committee attended by 
representatives from Xchanging’s partner and nominated 
Xchanging Executive Directors. Key issues and the minutes of 
each EP meeting are reported to the Group Audit Committee. 
the chairman of the group audit committee meets with the 
chairmen of the ep audit committees as is necessary.

Nominations Committee
Following the retirement of John Robins, David Hodgson and 
John Bramley at the May 2008 AGM, the Group Nominations 
Committee was reduced to four Board members: Nigel Rich 
(Committee Chairman), Stephen Brenninkmeijer, Dennis Millard 
and David Andrews. On 3 November 2008, Pat O’Driscoll also 
joined the Committee. Throughout the year, the majority of 
the Committee has been independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The Committee meets as and when required. It met three times 
during 2008, in February, May and June, where it agreed the 
process for the selection of a new independent Non-Executive 
Director, the candidate to be proposed to the Board (Pat O’Driscoll) 
and the experience required for a further independent Non-Executive 
Director to join the Board. Going forward, the Committee will 
review Directors’ conflicts of interest. 

The Committee’s broader role remains to assist the Board 
in discharging its responsibilities relating to the structure, 
composition and size of the Board and has approved plans 
for the orderly succession of changes to the Board to move 
it towards full compliance with the Code as outlined above. 
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Remuneration Committee
Details of the Group Remuneration Committee, its composition, 
role and activities are given in the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 58 to 64.

The Remuneration Committee believe that Tom Tinsley continues 
to provide valuable knowledge and experience to proceedings 
and so at present will remain a member. As he is not considered 
to be an independent Non-Executive Director, the Company 
does not comply with provision B.2.1 of the Code which 
states that all members of the Committee are independent 
Non-Executive Directors. 

The plan is for Stephen Brenninkmeijer to hand over Chairmanship 
of the Committee to Pat O’Driscoll after the May 2009 AGM.

Communication with shareholders
The Board places importance on communication with shareholders 
and gives them the opportunity to meet the Chairman and 
Directors as appropriate. Shareholders will continue to be given 
the opportunity to meet the chairman and directors in the 
coming 12 months. Arrangements can be made for major 
shareholders to meet with Pat O’Driscoll and any other newly 
appointed Directors. The Company’s Investor Relations team 
organises an ongoing programme of dialogue and meetings 
between the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
and institutional investors, fund managers and analysts. 

Brokers’ reports and analysts’ briefings are circulated to the 
Board, who discuss any key matters raised with management 
by large investors.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2009 will 
provide a valuable opportunity for the Board to communicate 
with private investors. We encourage shareholders to attend 
the meeting and to ask questions of the Directors following 
the conclusion of the formal part of the meeting. Details of proxy 
voting by shareholders, including votes withheld, will be made 
available on request and will be placed on the Company’s website 
following the meeting.

Corporate responsibility and whistle blowing
The Group Board is responsible for how the Group manages its 
corporate, social and environmental responsibilities. Details are 
set out on pages 38 to 43. 

The Group is committed to the highest standards of openness, 
probity and accountability. A Group-wide whistle-blowing policy 
has been established to enable employees to voice concerns 
in a responsible and effective manner, without fear of reprisal. 
Employees can communicate concerns in confidence about any 
possible improprieties or other matters, through a dedicated 
email address, to which only the Head of Group Internal Audit 
and the Group Company Secretary have access.

Reported concerns are investigated at the earliest opportunity 
by the Head of Group Internal Audit, the Group Company 
Secretary and, if appropriate, by management of the respective 
business. The Head of Group Internal Audit reports to the 
chairman of the group audit committee on the concerns 
raised and any action taken.

Internal control and risk management
The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing the operation and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. The internal control 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material errors, 
losses or fraud.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control systems for 2008 and the period prior to approval of the 
annual report. The review was undertaken by the Audit Committee 
and its findings were reported to the Board by the Audit Committee 
Chairman at the 10 December 2008 and 27 February 2009 Board 
meetings. It considered all material controls in accordance with 
the Turnbull guidance. No significant failings or weaknesses were 
identified during this review and the Board confirms that the 
necessary actions are in place to remedy any less than significant 
ones. The Group’s key internal control and risk management 
procedures include the following:

Corporate governance
continued
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•  reviews of the Group’s strategy and the performance of 
principal subsidiaries and EPs through a comprehensive system 
of reporting based on variances to annual budgets, key 
performance indicators and regular forecasting

•  well-defined Group policies and processes, communicated 
through the Group Financial Reporting Procedures Manual 
and intranet portal and a strict process governing the 
approval of sales opportunities and capital expenditure

•  a defined organisational structure with appropriate 
delegation of authority

•  formal authorisation procedures for all investments with 
clear guidelines on appraisal techniques and success criteria 
(Xchanging’s ‘Authority to Invest’ process)

•  formal authorisation procedures for all significant sales 
opportunities, with clear guidelines on success criteria 
(Xchanging’s Sales opportunities approval process including 
‘Authority to Proceed and Contract’)

•  a monthly review by the Xchanging Performance Committee 
(XPC), a sub-committee of the XMB, of performance reports 
for each business sector. This covers financial performance 
and a detailed range of qualitative information such as 
customer satisfaction, service levels and the quality of 
processes. This identifies the key operational issues and 
actions required to address any deficiencies

•  the maintenance of risk registers for each business sector 
and for other key parts of the Group, assessing the probability 
of those risks occurring, the consequences should those 
risks crystallise and the controls in place to mitigate them. 
The registers and mitigating actions are monitored on an 
ongoing basis within the respective sector’s or business unit’s 
management team. The Group risk register incorporates risks 
pervasive or material to the whole Group and is reviewed at 
least annually by the XMB, the Board and the Audit Committee

•  the Audit Committee routinely monitors the internal control 
environment through its review of control matters from both 
internal audit and external audit and other related reports 
from management

•  the work performed by the Group’s Internal Audit department 
is focused on areas of greatest risk to the Group (as identified 
through the risk management process outlined above), as 
well as issues identified by monthly performance reporting. 
Internal audit’s objective is to provide independent assurance 
to the Board and Audit Committee over operational and 
financial controls and to assist the Board in its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal controls. The Head of Group 
Internal Audit reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer, 
but has the right to report to the Audit Committee Chairman 
independently of Executive Management. All internal audit 
reports are reviewed by the Audit Committee and made 
available to the external auditors

•  each business sector has a Head of Quality, responsible for 
the quality of controls and processes within that sector as 
well as for ensuring compliance with policies and procedures, 
legislation and the operation of risk management procedures. 
Each sector Head of Quality reports to the business sector’s 
Managing Director and attends, by invitation, the EP Audit 
Committees relevant to their business sector.

The internal control environment will continue to be monitored 
and reviewed by the Board which will, where necessary, ensure 
improvements are implemented.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors consider that the Group and 
the Company have adequate resources and committed borrowing 
facilities to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Consequently, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

The attention of shareholders is drawn to the independent 
auditors’ report on page 65 which incorporates their report 
on corporate governance. 

By order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
company secretary
2 March 2009
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The remuneration report covers the 12-month period to 
31 december 2008. it shows remuneration paid to directors 
over that period by Xchanging plc.

This part of the remuneration report is unaudited.

Foreword 
Xchanging’s business success is founded on the performance 
and commitment of its employees. Xchanging’s policy aligns the 
remuneration structure with business objectives and individual 
performance so that it can attract, motivate and retain executives 
of the highest calibre to achieve a high-performing management 
culture, known as the Xchanging Way, enabling Xchanging to 
become the global business processor.

It has been a successful year in terms of growth and our 
remuneration strategy has helped to drive this. For 2009, executive 
remuneration will continue with the principles established in 
2008, the components of which are outlined below. In light of 
the expansion of Xchanging’s global footprint with the acquisition 
of Cambridge and the increasingly challenging market conditions, 
Xchanging will conduct a comprehensive review of the structure 
of executive remuneration during 2009 to ensure we continue to 
attract, motivate and retain executives of the highest calibre and 
deliver the Xchanging Way.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the total remuneration 
packages for Executive Directors for 2009, to ensure that they 
continue to have the right balance of incentives to encourage and 
reward superior performance, whilst not incentivising excessive 
risk-taking. Specifically we have:
•   a remuneration strategy that encourages and rewards high 

performance amongst the management team who are key 
in generating returns to shareholders

•   a fixed-pay policy that ensures the Company is competitive 
in its particular market for talent 

•   a variable-pay policy that rewards superior performance in 
terms of both annual underlying financial performance 
and longer-term generation of above-market returns 
to shareholders.

The overall guideline is to reward the executive team towards 
the upper quartile level of total remuneration of the FTSE 250 
comparator group, provided that superior performance is 
achieved. Specifically, the Remuneration Committee has 
approved the following for 2009: 
•  no increase in salaries for the Executive Directors
•  the bonus maximum will remain at 150% for Executive 

Directors. The bonus will be paid on a graduated scale, linked 
to stretching profit before tax targets, with 70% payable on 
achievement of the high-growth targets and 130% payable 
on achievement of the superior-growth targets. For the 
Executive Directors, aggressive revenue-growth targets continue 
to be applied. If revenue targets are not achieved, then the 

  bonus will be adjusted downwards. Twenty percent of the 
bonus maximum for all Executive Directors will be reserved 
for compliance with the Xchanging Way. The Xchanging Way 
ensures that the executive team drives the right behaviours 
and the Xchanging values that achieves success

•  the long-term variable element will be delivered via the 
Performance Share Plan, which will contain stretching 
performance conditions, graduated on a scale from median 
through to upper decile, relative to total shareholder return 
(TSR) performance (subject also to the achievement of a 
minimum level of real earnings per share growth).

The Remuneration Committee believes that the policy is aligned 
to Xchanging’s business objectives and the interests of the 
shareholders. The Remuneration Committee will continue to 
monitor performance against the total remuneration policy to 
ensure that it achieves its aims of attracting, motivating and 
retaining the senior management talent that is required to 
develop the Company.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Stephen Brenninkmeijer 
and appointed by the Board. The terms of reference can be found 
under the Corporate Governance section of the Xchanging website. 
Its primary purpose is to review the ongoing appropriateness of 
the remuneration policy as it applies to the Executive Directors 
and key senior management, make recommendations on the 
framework for their remuneration, and to determine their specific 
remuneration packages. In addition, the Remuneration Committee 
is responsible for monitoring the remuneration strategy and policy 
of the Group. In making its decisions, the Remuneration Committee 
considers the Employee, Social and Governance (ESG) implications 
in making its decisions. It is also mindful to ensure that 
inappropriate risk-taking is not incentivised. 

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following 
Non-Executive Directors: Stephen Brenninkmeijer, Dennis Millard, 
Tom Tinsley and Pat O’Driscoll. They are all deemed independent, 
with the exception of Tom Tinsley who is an appointee of General 
Atlantic, a founding shareholder of Xchanging. However, as he 
sits on the board of a number of companies, his experience of 
remuneration issues is considered invaluable to the Committee. 
Nigel Rich was Chairman of the Committee until he stepped 
down in May 2008 to become Chairman of the Board. John 
Bramley was a member until he retired from the Board at the 
AGM in May 2008. The Company Secretary is secretary to the 
Remuneration Committee. Only Committee members and 
the Company Secretary (except when his own remuneration is 
being directly considered) are entitled to attend meetings of the 
Remuneration Committee. However, the Chairman of the Board, 
the Chief Executive Officer, Group HR Director and others may 
attend by invitation.

Remuneration report
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the remuneration committee met four times in 2008. 
Stephen Brenninkmeijer, Dennis Millard and Tom Tinsley were 
present for all meetings. Pat O’Driscoll attended her first meeting 
following her appointment on 3 November 2008. Nigel Rich 
attended two meetings until he was appointed Chairman of the 
Board and John Bramley attended two meetings until his 
retirement in May 2008. 

The Remuneration Committee received advice from New Bridge 
Street Consultants LLP in respect of market data, market practice, 
governance and advice on long-term incentive schemes. New Bridge 
Street Consultants LLP provided no other services to the Company. 

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors
Total remuneration is benchmarked against relevant FTSE 250 
market peers and also takes account of remuneration levels offered 
at non-listed professional business consultancies (who are viewed 
as competing for the same management talent). Xchanging also 
takes into account the appropriate geographic considerations for 
determining competitive remuneration. 

The only fixed payment to Executive Directors is their base 
salary. Therefore, a significant proportion of Executive Director 
remuneration is linked to corporate and individual performance.

Remuneration packages for the Executive Directors consist of base 
salary, annual bonus, awards under long-term incentive schemes 
and other benefits. The Executive Directors have never participated 
in any of the Group’s pension schemes and have formally waived 
their right to do so.

Base salary
Salaries are reviewed annually at the start of each year by the 
Remuneration Committee. Salaries are set with due account 
given to Company performance, prevailing market conditions, 
individual performance, market competitiveness and changes 
in responsibilities.

With effect from 1 January 2009, the base salaries of the 
Executive Directors (along with those of other key senior 
managers) have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. 
The Executive Directors (along with other key senior managers) 
will receive no increase to their base salaries and their 2009 
salaries will remain as:
•  David Andrews – £585,000
•  Richard Houghton – £411,000.

Annual bonus
Bonuses payable for performance in 2008 are set out in the 
emoluments table (page 62) and reflect another year of strong 
performance. For the year 2008, a maximum bonus entitlement 
of 150% of salary applied. The maximum bonus entitlement 
comprised: 130% based on profit before tax (PBT), and 20% 
based on measurable personal performance objectives. 

Additionally, revenue-growth targets were set, which led to a 
reduction of up to 50% in the bonus entitlement, if the revenue 
target was not reached. The maximum bonus opportunity 
reflected the Remuneration Committee’s desire that a significant 
portion of the Executive Directors’ pay be at risk if profit and 
revenue targets were not met, with a full bonus payable only 
for truly outstanding performance.

Long-term incentive plans
The Company established a number of share incentive plans around 
the time of the initial public offering (IPO), namely an Approved 
and Unapproved Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP) and a 
Performance Share Plan (PSP). Other share plans, namely the 
Share Purchase Plan and earlier Approved, Unapproved and 
Unapproved G Share Options Plans were also in existence at 
the IPO but no further awards will be made under these plans. 

Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP)
No ESOPs were granted to the Executive Directors in 2008. 
There are no plans to make ESOP awards to Executive Directors. 
ESOPs may be granted to senior employees. 

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
the remuneration committee chose the psp as the primary 
vehicle through which share-based long-term incentives were 
offered to Executive Directors and other senior executives in 2008. 
Under the PSP, conditional awards of shares (or phantom shares 
where tax/regulatory conditions made it more appropriate) were 
made up to 150% of salary. For Executive Directors, a basic award 
was made over shares worth 100% of base salary. 25% of this 
basic award vests if the Company’s TSR is equal to the median 
TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 250 index (excluding 
investment trusts) at the end of a fixed three-year period. 
Full vesting of basic awards will occur for TSR performance at 
or above the upper quartile. In addition, the Executive Directors 
received a stretch award of a further 50% of salary. Stretch 
awards begin to vest at the upper quartile against the comparator 
group, with full vesting only in return for upper decile performance. 
In addition, both basic and stretch awards only vest if the 
Company’s annual average EPS growth over the relevant 
three-year period is no less than the Retail Price Index (RPI) + 3%.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the TSR-based 
performance conditions that apply to basic and stretch awards, 
together with the related EPS growth condition, ensure that the 
Executive Directors are further incentivised to deliver outstanding 
returns to shareholders whilst also enhancing underlying financial 
performance. The extent to which the performance conditions are 
achieved, will be determined by the Remuneration Committee 
having received appropriate third party advice.
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Remuneration report
continued

Share Purchase Plan (SPP)
At the start of 2007, prior to the listing of Xchanging plc, 
certain Executive Directors, and members of senior management 
(excluding David Andrews), purchased class F Common Shares 
(in Xchanging BV), under the terms of the SPP, at the prevailing 
market price (equivalent to £1.33 following the four-for-one share 
split at IPO). The Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust 
provided non-interest bearing loans to the participants to 
enable them to fund the purchase of the class F Common Shares. 
The SPP shares were subject to an 18-month lock-in period, 
which expired in August 2008. The SPP shares may now be 
sold on the condition that a pro rata proportion of any loan 
from the Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust is repaid. 

With the exception of David Andrews, the non-interest bearing 
loans provided to the Executive Directors become repayable on 
the earliest of the employee ceasing employment, the employee 
transferring or otherwise disposing of their shares (or attempting 
to do so), the employee accepting another loan from a member 
of the Group to refinance the loan and the ‘long stop’ date of 
31 December 2011. Such repayments must all be for the whole 
of the loan amount, save where the trigger event is a sale or 
transfer of the shares, in which case the amount to be repaid 
will be pro rata to the percentage of such shares sold.

Other benefits
The Executive Directors are eligible to participate in benefit 
plans on the same basis as other employees. However, they 
have waived their right to join the Company’s defined 
contribution pension arrangements. 

The Executive Directors are eligible to receive other benefits 
including life assurance, permanent health insurance and are 
eligible to join Xchanging’s private medical insurance scheme in 
accordance with the scheme terms and conditions under which 
cover is provided. They are covered by the Group’s Life Assurance 
and Permanent Health Insurance scheme, which provides a 
benefit equal to four times their basic salary at the time of their 
death and 75% of their basic salary should they be off work due 
to a critical illness for 26 continuous weeks. These benefits are 
valid until they reach their 65th birthday and as long as they 
remain employees of Xchanging. 

Dilution and the pre-IPO share pool for 
entrepreneurial achievement
As disclosed in Xchanging’s IPO prospectus, 4,006,388 shares 
authorised by shareholders prior to the IPO but not allocated to 
employees at that time, may be placed under option or issued 
under the Company’s share incentive plans without counting 
towards the ongoing Association of British Insurers (ABI) guideline 
dilution limits. The Remuneration Committee has subsequently 
approved that such pool of options will be awarded to employees 
in recognition of entrepreneurial achievement or to new senior 
employees. In 2008, a total of 154,557 options were granted to 
three senior managers. 

Total shareholder return performance graph 
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Service contracts
The Executive Directors entered into new service agreements 
with the Company which took effect on Admission to the 
London Stock Exchange on 30 April 2007. Executive Directors 
have service contracts with notice periods of 12 months from 
either the Director or the Company. This is in line with best 
practice for listed companies. The Company has the right to elect 
to terminate the employment of the Executive Director without 
notice or with less than 12 months’ notice by making a payment 
in lieu of notice equal to the base salary the Executive Director 
would be entitled to receive during any unexpired period of 
the notice period. The Executive Directors’ service contracts do 
not contain provisions for compensation in the event of early 
termination. In the event of termination, the Executive Directors 
lose their entitlement to receive any bonus payment. However, 
the Remuneration Committee may, in its complete discretion, 
choose to make an award.

Fees retained for Non-Executive Directorships 
The policy on Non-Executive Directorships is that the Chief 
Executive Officer may hold up to two Non-Executive Directorships 
and other Executive Directors may hold one position each. 
Directors may retain any fees payable to them with the consent 
of the Remuneration Committee, except in the case where the 
Directorship is as a representative of the Company.

David Andrews held a Non-Executive Director position with 
Thala SA from 1 June 2008 until 20 November 2008. In view 
of the short period of this appointment, David has paid the 
$40,000 fee to Xchanging. No other Executive Director held 
an external Non-Executive Director position during 2008.

Non-Executive Directors 
The Board aims to recruit Non-Executive Directors of a high 
calibre with broad commercial, international or other relevant 
experience. Non-Executive Directors are expected to bring an 
objectivity and independence of view to the Board’s discussions, 
and to help provide the Board with effective leadership in relation 
to the Company’s strategy, performance, risk and people 
management as well as ensuring high standards of financial 

probity and corporate governance. Nigel Rich was appointed 
as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nominations 
Committee with effect from 22 May following John Robins’ 
retirement. His letter of appointment dated 22 May 2008 is for 
a fixed three-year term and may be terminated by either party 
upon six months’ notice. Pat O’Driscoll was appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director with effect from 3 November 2008. 
Her contract of service dated 29 October 2008 continues until 
the date of the 2009 Annual General Meeting (in May 2009), 
at which time she will be subject to election by members of the 
Company. During this period her appointment may be terminated 
by either party giving to the other not less than three months’ 
written notice. Thereafter, and subject to her election, her 
appointment will be for a term of three years unless otherwise 
terminated earlier by, and at the discretion of, either party upon 
three months’ written notice. 

The other Non-Executive Directors of the Company have agreed 
terms of appointment with the Company which took effect 
on Admission to the London Stock Exchange on 30 April 2007. 
These letters of appointment are all dated 2 April 2007 and 
are for a fixed term of three years. 

their appointments may be terminated by either party upon 
three months’ written notice. The appointment of Tom Tinsley, 
as a Non-Executive Director is also subject to the terms of a 
Relationship Deed, entered into between the Company and 
General Atlantic, details of which are set out in the IPO Prospectus. 
The appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors does 
not give rise to any entitlement to compensation in respect of 
their termination.

The fees paid to Non-Executive Directors are reviewed regularly. 
In setting the fees, independent external advice is sought on 
current market practice with account taken of time commitment 
and responsibility. The fees payable to Non-Executive Directors 
are ratified by the Board, based on the recommendations of 
the Executive Directors and the Chairman. The Non-Executive 
Directors do not participate in the Company’s incentive or 
pension schemes nor do they receive any employee benefits.
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This part of the remuneration report is audited.

Individual Directors’ remuneration 
Total emoluments in respect of the 12-month period ended 31 December 2008 paid by Xchanging plc are as follows: 

Directors’ remuneration  
 For the financial year ended 31 December 2008 

    Base salary    2007 
director    and fees (£) Bonus (£) Benefits (£) Total (£) Total (£)

Executive Directors      
David Andrews   585,000 413,000 32,336 1,030,336 874,480
Richard Houghton   411,000 310,709 61,255 782,964 753,194
Adele Browne    377,000 285,006 50,058 712,064 555,253

Non-Executive Directors     
John robins    52,083 – – 52,083 125,000
Nigel Rich (Chairman)   123,692 – – 123,692 82,221
John Bramley    16,667 – – 16,667 40,000
Stephen Brenninkmeijer   46,103 – – 46,103 40,000
David Hodgson   15,793 – – 15,793 26,667
Johannes Maret   65,000 – – 65,000 103,967
Dennis Millard (Senior Non-Executive Director)  50,000 – – 50,000 50,000
Tom Tinsley    40,000 – – 40,000 26,667
Pat O’Driscoll    6,667 – – 6,667 –

notes
• Adele Browne resigned from the Board on 31 December 2008.
•  The amount paid to Johannes Maret in the year to 31 December 2008 comprises three separate tranches. Fees of £40,000 

(2007: £26,667) have been paid in respect of the period January to December 2008 for his services as Director of Xchanging plc. 
Additionally, base fees of £25,000 (2007: €12,500 and £18,750) have been paid under the terms of the special adviser agreement 
dated 26 March 2007 as detailed below. The 2007 balance was converted into Sterling at the average exchange rate for the year 
based on £1:€1.46206. No payment was made (2007: £50,000) in accordance with the special adviser agreement as consideration 
for his contribution to business development as detailed in the notes below.

•  The fee paid to John Robins was in relation to his appointment as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nominations 
Committee from 1 January until his retirement on 22 May 2008.

•  The fee paid to Nigel Rich was in relation to his appointment as Deputy Chairman to the Board, Senior Independent Director and 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee from 1 January to 21 May 2008, and as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the 
Nominations Committee from 22 May to 31 December 2008. Nigel Rich’s revised fee of £150,000 was effective from 22 May 2008.

•  The fees paid to John Bramley and David Hodgson were in relation to their appointments as Non-Executive Directors from 
1 January until their retirement on 22 May 2008.

•  The fee paid to Stephen Brenninkmeijer in relation to his Non-Executive Director appointment included his fees increasing 
by £10,000 per annum on appointment to Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 22 May 2008.

•  The fee paid to Dennis Millard in relation to his Non-Executive Director appointment included a fee of £10,000 in relation 
to his appointment as chairman of the audit committee.

•  The fee paid to Pat O’Driscoll in relation to her appointment as Non-Executive Director was for the period 3 November 
to 31 december 2008.

•  In addition to the fees and benefits mentioned above, the Company will reimburse all expenses reasonably incurred by the 
Non-Executive Directors in the performance of their duties and the Company has obtained appropriate directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance.

Remuneration report
continued
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•  In addition to his letter of appointment, Johannes Maret has entered into a special adviser agreement with Xchanging GmbH 
dated 26 March 2007 pursuant to which Johannes Maret assists the Group in the development of the Group’s customer base in 
Germany and other countries in Europe. Johannes Maret receives the following under the terms of the special adviser agreement 
with Xchanging GmbH:

 •  a fee of £25,000 per annum (payable in quarterly instalments)
 •  in relation to each potential customer or partner in respect of whom Johannes Maret has assisted the Group, a fee of £200,000 

on each occasion that a member of the Group signs a contract with a customer or partner with an annual value to the Group 
in excess of €100 million

 •  in relation to each potential customer or partner in respect of whom Johannes Maret has assisted the Group, a fee of £50,000 
on each occasion that a member of the Group signs a contract with such customer or partner with an annual value to the 
Group of less than €100 million, but greater than €30 million.

Johannes Maret’s special adviser agreement is subject to termination by either party giving no less than three months’ notice in writing.

Share options and long-term incentive schemes
Details of share options held, granted and exercised in 2008 in respect of qualifying services are outlined below. 

Xchanging plc share options – Approved scheme
     number of 
  Number of Granted Exercised options held at Exercise Date from 
  options held at during during  31 December price which 
Director  1 January 2008  the year  the year 2008  £ exercisable Expiry date

Richard Houghton   85,180 – –  85,180  0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Xchanging plc share options – Unapproved scheme
     number of 
  Number of Granted Exercised options held at Exercise Date from 
  options held at during during  31 December price which 
Director  1 January 2008  the year  the year 2008  £ exercisable Expiry date

Richard Houghton  414,820 – –  414,820  0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
   500,000 – –  500,000  0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Adele Browne  314,820 –  314,820 –  0.33 24/11/2006 24/11/2013
   400,000 – –  400,000  0.94 24/11/2006 24/11/2013

Johannes Maret  200,000 – –  200,000  1.63 15/03/2010 15/03/2017

The options exercised above occurred when the market price of the shares was £2.18.

The market price of the Company’s shares on 31 December 2008 was £2.355. The highest and lowest market prices during the year 
for each share under option that was unexpired at the end of the year was £2.96 and £1.95. 

The options shown above have no performance conditions attached. They were all issued prior to IPO. All options issued after IPO 
will be subject to performance conditions. 

Xchanging plc 2007 Performance Share Plan
   Number of   Total conditional 
   psp shares   psp shares 
   held on Grants on 31 March 2008  held at 
   1 January Basic Stretch  Total Date of 31 December  
Director   2008 award award grant vesting 2008

David Andrews   – 208,370 104,185 312,555 31/03/2011 312,555

Richard Houghton   – 146,393 73,196 219,589 31/03/2011 219,589

Adele Browne   – 134,283 67,141 201,424 31/03/2011 201,424 1

1  In accordance with the rules of the Xchanging plc 2007 Performance Share Plan (PSP Rules), the Remuneration Committee have determined that Adele Browne shall be 
treated as a good leaver on leaving employment in March 2009. Consequently, upon leaving employment, Adele shall retain rights to such PSP Shares, a percentage of 
the total number of PSP Shares granted that is pro rata to the percentage of three years she held such PSP Shares. The performance conditions already agreed by the 
Remuneration Committee (set out in PSP) will determine how many of these retained PSP Shares will actually vest.

Each PSP Award will normally vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the satisfaction of the Performance 
Conditions (set out in PSP) and continued employment with the Xchanging Group. 

The market price at the time of the award was £2.8075.
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Directors’ shareholdings 
   number of   shares issued number of 
  shares at Disposals of Acquisition of following shares at 
  1 January shares during shares during exercise of 31 December 
director  2008  the year the year  share options 2008 

David Andrews  21,677,388 1 (2,058,140) 319,200 3 – 19,938,448

Richard Houghton  2,200,200 2 (800,000) – – 1,400,200 2

Adele Browne  1,935,464 2 (400,000) – 314,820 1,850,284 2

John robins4  480,000 (80,000) – – 400,000

Nigel Rich  200,000 – – – 200,000

John Bramley4  348,000 – – – 348,000

Stephen Brenninkmeijer 350,000 – – – 350,000

Johannes Maret  1,224,004 – – – 1,224,004

Dennis Millard   100,000  –  –  –  100,000

Tom Tinsley  –  –  –  –  –

Pat O’Driscoll  –  –  –  –  –

1 Includes 400,000 shares held by the Trustees of the David William Andrews Discretionary Fund. 
2 Includes 500,000 shares which were issued under the Share Purchase Plan (SPP) in 2007. 
3  David Andrews acquired 319,200 shares on 24 October 2008. 
4 John Robins and John Bramley retired from the Board at the May 2008 AGM.

As at 27 February 2009 there have been no changes to the Directors’ shareholdings above.

Employee Benefit Trust 
Xchanging has three Employee Benefit Trusts. The Infrex Employee Share Trust, the Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust and the 
Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust.

The trustees of the Infrex Employee Share Trust are David Andrews and Richard Houghton. The Infrex Employee Share Trust is a 
discretionary trust for the benefit of employees of Xchanging UK Limited and its subsidiaries as the trustees decide. The Infrex 
Employee Share Trust holds 191,108 shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee Benefit Trustee Limited, an independent professional trustee 
situated in Jersey. The Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust is a discretionary trust for the benefit of such employees of Xchanging BV 
and its subsidiaries as the trustees decide. The Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust does not hold any shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee Benefit Trustee Limited, an independent professional 
trustee situated in Jersey. The Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust is a discretionary trust for the benefit of such employees of 
Xchanging UK Limited as the trustees decide. The Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust does not hold any shares.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

Stephen Brenninkmeijer
chairman of the remuneration committee
2 March 2009

Remuneration report
continued
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Xchanging plc (Group)

We have audited the Group financial statements of Xchanging plc 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of 
recognised income and expense, the consolidated balance sheet, 
the consolidated cash flow statement and the related notes. 
These Group financial statements have been prepared under 
the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 
and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that 
is described as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report 
and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement 
of Directors’ responsibilities within the Directors’ report.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, 
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the 
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, 
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group 
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information 
given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group 
financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ 
report includes that specific information that is cross referred 
to in the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects 
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 
Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules 
of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. 
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements 
on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance 
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the annual report and 
consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial 
statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman’s 
statement, the business review, corporate social responsibility and 
our people and governance. We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements. 
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of 
the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors 
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Group financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
Group financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
•  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, 

in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, 
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended

•  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 
of the IAS Regulation

•  the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent 
with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
2 March 2009
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       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Revenue      5/6 557,763 468,160
Cost of sales       (493,226) (414,622)

Gross profit       64,537 53,538
   

Administrative expenses – before exceptional items    (18,078) (15,667)
Administrative expenses – exceptional items    8 – (6,200)

Administrative expenses      (18,078) (21,867)

Operating profit     5/9 46,459 31,671
   

Finance costs – before exceptional items    11 (11,388) (10,502)
Finance costs – exceptional items    8 – (719)

Finance costs       (11,388) (11,221)
Finance income     11 14,095 12,021

Profit before taxation      49,166 32,471

Taxation      12 (13,621) (11,946)

Profit for the year      35,545 20,525

Attributable to:   
 – equity holders of the Company    28 29,155 15,336
 – minority interests     32 6,390 5,189

        35,545 20,525

   
Earnings per share (expressed in pence per share)   
 – basic      13 13.47 7.85
 – diluted      13 12.98 7.52

The notes on pages 70 to 115 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from defined benefit pension schemes  36 (9,394) 14,101
Movement on deferred tax relating to defined benefit pension schemes  25 2,596 (4,082)
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets    19 (2,207) 1,791
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   25 (382) 94
Foreign exchange movement on hedged item     3,208 –
Currency translation differences      11,579 1,628

Net income recognised directly in equity     5,400 13,532
Profit for the year      35,545 20,525

Total recognised income for the year     40,945 34,057
   

Attributable to:   
 – equity holders of the Company     34,615 25,366
 –  minority interests      6,330 8,691

        40,945 34,057

The notes on pages 70 to 115 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Assets   
Non-current assets   
Goodwill      15 95,558 85,620
Intangible assets     16 58,478 39,053
Property, plant and equipment     17 24,486 16,444
Available-for-sale financial assets    19 26,782 23,609
Trade and other receivables     20 5,586 6,056
Retirement benefit assets     36 407 6,158
Deferred income tax assets     25 20,043 16,894

Total non-current assets      231,340 193,834
   

Current assets   
Trade and other receivables     20 112,451 100,855
Cash and cash equivalents     21 117,798 98,366

Total current assets      230,249 199,221
   

Liabilities   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables     22 (117,598) (98,989)
Current income tax liabilities      (4,443) (1,609)
Financial liabilities – borrowings     23 (276) (856)
Financial liabilities – other liabilities    23 (974) –
Provisions      24 (6,617) (8,141)

Net current assets      100,341 89,626

Total assets less current liabilities     331,681 283,460
Non-current liabilities   
Trade and other payables     22 (13,215) (9,974)
Financial liabilities – borrowings     23 – (655)
Financial liabilities – other liabilities    23 (23,145) (17,865)
Deferred income tax liabilities     25 (5,666) (4,837)
Retirement benefit obligations     36 (18,587) (14,836)
Provisions      24 (12,688) (13,375)

Net assets       258,380 221,918
   

Shareholders’ equity   
Ordinary shares     26 10,973 10,740
Share premium     29 76,647 73,715
Merger reserve     31 409,672 409,672
Reverse acquisition reserve     31 (312,238) (312,238)
Other reserves      30 16,492 11,032
Retained earnings     28 41,042 13,661

Total shareholders’ equity      242,588 206,582
Minority interest in equity     32 15,792 15,336

Total equity      31 258,380 221,918

The notes on pages 70 to 115 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 115 were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2009 and signed 
on its behalf by:

D W Andrews R A H Houghton
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2008
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       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations    34  69,715 49,720
Income tax paid      (8,896) (10,910)

Net cash from operating activities     60,819 38,810
   

Cash flows from investing activities   
Acquisition expenses      (391) (1,021)
Acquisition costs of minority interests in subsidiaries    – (56,934)
Acquisition cost of subsidiaries      (5,890) (12,329)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired with subsidiaries   35 627 8,498
Acquisition expenses in relation to future acquisitions    (3,287) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment     (13,476) (5,477)
Purchase of intangible assets      (18,967) (8,710)
Pre-contract expenditure      (394) (225)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    85 113
Interest received      5,888 4,638

Net cash used in investing activities     (35,805) (71,447)
   

Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of shares      3,165 83,611
Transaction costs of shares issued    31 – (4,664)
Interest paid       (890) (1,408)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders    14 (4,297) –
Dividends paid to minority interests     (5,874) (4,262)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities     (7,896) 73,277
Effects of exchange adjustments     2,314 (958)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     19,432 39,682
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January     98,366 58,684

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December    21 117,798 98,366

The notes on pages 70 to 115 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

1 General information
Xchanging plc is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is 
13 Hanover Square, London, W1S 1HN. The nature of the 
Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the 
Directors’ report on pages 48 to 51 and discussed further on 
pages 1 to 37. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on 
the London Stock Exchange.

2 Principal accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(i) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
EU endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRIC 
interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

With effect from 30 April 2007, the Company became the legal 
parent company of Xchanging BV and its subsidiary undertakings. 
This business combination, effected through an exchange of 
equity interests, was accounted for as a reverse acquisition 
in accordance with IFRS 3, “Business combinations”. The key 
features of this basis of consolidation are:
•  the comparative consolidated income statement presented 

includes the results of Xchanging BV and its subsidiaries for 
the period until 30 April 2007, with the addition of the results 
of Xchanging plc from 30 April 2007

•  the consolidated retained earnings reserves of the Group 
include the pre Xchanging plc acquisition retained earnings 
of Xchanging BV and its subsidiaries.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000) 
except where otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation 
of available-for-sale investments, financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. A summary of 
the more important Group accounting policies is set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
EU endorsed IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results 
ultimately may differ from those estimates. Note 4 of these 
financial statements sets out the areas where significant 
judgements, estimates and assumptions have been made.

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2008
There are no new standards effective in 2008 which are relevant 
for the Group.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2008 
but not relevant for the Group
The following standards, amendments and interpretations are 
mandatory for the first time for the current accounting period 
but are not relevant to the Group’s operations:
• IFRIC 11, “IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions”
• IFRIC 12, “Service concession arrangements”
• IFRIC 13, “Customer loyalty programmes”.

(c) New standards and interpretations to existing standards that are 
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group 
The following new standards and interpretations to existing 
standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group’s 
future accounting but which the Group has not early adopted: 
•  IAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of financial statements – 

Comprehensive revision including a statement of 
comprehensive income” (effective from 1 January 2009), 
which will impact the presentational disclosure of the financial 
statements but will have no impact on the carrying values 
of items 

•  IFRS 3 (Revised), “Business combinations – Comprehensive 
revision on applying the acquisition method” (effective from 
1 July 2009), which will impact the way future acquisitions are 
reported. The Group will apply IFRS 3 from 1 January 2010 
with the main changes being that directly attributable costs 
such as advisers’ fees and stamp duty will be charged to the 
income statement, revisions to contingent cash consideration 
in the period following the acquisition will be recorded in the 
income statement and any difference between the fair value 
of the consideration in the buy out of minority interests and 
the value of their reported minority interest will be recorded 
against equity rather than goodwill

•  IFRS 8, ”Operating segments” (effective from 1 January 2009), 
the expected impact of which is still being assessed by 
management but is not likely to have a material impact 
on the Group’s segmental reporting disclosure

•  IFRIC 14, “IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, 
minimum funding requirements and their interaction” 
(effective from 1 January 2009), providing guidance on 
assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of surplus that 
can be recognised as an asset. It also provides an explanation 
for how the pension asset or liability may be affected by 
a statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement. 
This interpretation is not likely to have a material impact 
on the Group’s financial statements
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2 Principal accounting policies continued
(i) Basis of preparation of the financial statements continued
(c) New standards and interpretations to existing standards that 
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group continued
•  IFRIC 16, “Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation” 

(effective from 1 October 2008), clarifies the accounting 
treatment in respect of net investment hedging. This includes 
the fact that net investment hedging relates to differences in 
functional currency not presentation currency, and hedging 
instruments may be held anywhere in the Group. The 
requirements of IAS 21, “The effects of changes in foreign 
exchange rates” do apply to the hedged item. The impact of 
IFRIC 16 is being assessed by management, but it is not likely 
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements

•  There are a number of minor amendments to IFRS 7, 
“Financial instruments: Disclosures”, IAS 8, “Accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors”, 
IAS 10, “Events after the reporting period”, IAS 18, “Revenue”, 
IAS 19, “Employee benefits”, IAS 34, “Interim financial 
reporting”, IAS 36, “Impairment of assets”, IAS 38, 
“Intangible assets” and IAS 39, “Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement”, which are part of the 
IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. 
These amendments are unlikely to have an impact on the 
Group’s financial statements, and have therefore not been 
analysed in detail.

(d) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations
The following interpretations to existing standards have been 
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 but are not relevant for the 
Group’s operations:
•  IAS 16 (Amendment),”Property, plant and equipment” 

and consequential amendment to IAS 7, “Statement of 
cash flows”

•  IAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and separate financial 
statements – consequential amendment arising from 
amendments to IFRS 3” 

• IAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing costs” 
•  IAS 28, “Investments in associates – consequential 

amendment arising from amendments to IFRS 3”
•  IAS 31, “Investments in joint ventures – consequential 

amendment arising from amendments to IFRS 3”
•  IAS 32 (Amendment), “Financial instruments: Presentation” 

and IAS 1 (Amendment), “Presentation of financial 
statements” in respect of puttable financial instruments 
and obligations arising on liquidation

•  IFRS 1 (Amendment), “First time adoption of IFRS”, and 
IAS 27, “Consolidated and separate financial statements”

•  IFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based payments – 
amendment to vesting conditions and cancellations”

• IFRIC 15, “Agreements for construction of real estates”
•  There are a number of minor amendments to IAS 20, 

“Accounting for government grants and disclosure of 
government assistance”, IAS 29, “Financial reporting 
in hyperinflationary economies”, IAS 31, “Interests in joint 
ventures”, IAS 32, “Financial instruments: Presentation”, 
IAS 38 (Amendment), “Intangible assets”, IAS 40 
(Amendment), “Investment property”, IAS 41, “Agriculture”, 
IFRS 5, “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations”, which are part of the IASB’s annual 
improvements project published in May 2008. These 
amendments are not relevant for the Group’s operations.

(ii) Basis of consolidation 
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company 
and all of its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 December 
each year and are based on consistent accounting policies. 
Subsidiary undertakings include those companies in which the 
Company has a 50% equity stake, commonly referred to by the 
Directors as Enterprise Partnerships, but over which the Company 
has the power of overall operational and financial control. 

Interests acquired in subsidiary undertakings are consolidated 
from the date power to control passes to the Group. 
Transactions and balances, including unrealised profits and 
losses, between Group companies are eliminated. The interest 
of minority shareholders in the balance sheet is stated at the 
minority’s proportion of the carrying values of the assets and 
liabilities recognised. 

(iii) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase 
method of accounting as set out in IFRS 3. A business 
combination is deemed to have occurred where the Group 
acquires a third party business, either in whole or in part, 
so that it obtains control of that business. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
acquisition date. Any excess of the fair value of purchase 
consideration (and direct expenses of acquisition) over the fair 
value of the net assets acquired, including intangibles and 
contingent liabilities, is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in 
the income statement.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 
are initially stated on a provisional basis, but are finalised 
over a 12 month period, as permitted under IFRS 3.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

2 Principal accounting policies continued
(iv) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, excluding value added tax, rebates and discounts. 
It comprises the value of services provided for human resources, 
procurement services, securities processing, finance and 
accounting services, customer administration and software sales. 

Revenue from the provision of human resources and finance 
and accounting services is recognised according to the period 
to which the service relates, net of guaranteed rebates to 
customers, when all obligations are fulfilled.

Revenue from the provision of procurement services is recognised 
on a gross basis where the Group is responsible for the whole 
supply chain process and associated business process from 
end-to-end. Where the Group acts as an agent, revenue is 
recognised on a net basis. Revenue is recognised, net of 
guaranteed rebates to customers, according to the period 
to which the service relates and only when all obligations 
are fulfilled.

Revenue from the provision of securities processing services is 
recognised according to the period to which the service relates, 
net of guaranteed rebates to customers. 

The Group provides administration services to the insurance 
market, from which there are three principal sources of revenue. 
These, together with the bases of revenue recognition, are set 
out below:
•  revenue in respect of the provision of administration 

services comprises amounts receivable for subscription fees, 
a transaction charge for the provision of administration 
services and other ad hoc services. Subscription fees are 
recognised in the income statement according to the period 
to which they relate. Transactional revenue for these services 
is recognised in the period in which the transaction takes 
place. Ad hoc revenue is recognised in the period in which 
the service is provided

•  revenue in respect of business process services contracts is 
divided into an implementation phase and a service provision 
phase. Revenue in respect of the implementation phase is 
accounted for on a long-term contract basis where it is 
separable from the provision of administration services. 
Revenue and attributable profit are recognised on a percentage 
completion basis representing the stage of completion of 
contractual obligations. Revenue in respect of the provision 
of post-implementation administration services to business 
process services customers is recognised in the period to 
which the service relates

•  revenue in respect of the rental or maintenance of computer 
software programs is recognised as earned. Billings are 
included in trade receivables in accordance with the terms of 
the relevant rental or maintenance contract. To the extent that 
billings are recorded in advance of the relevant revenue, such 
advance billings are included in deferred income. The income 
arising from the sale of an initial licence is recognised upfront 
with implementation income being recognised over the period 
of implementation of the software.

(v) Finance costs
Finance costs are charged to the income statement using the 
effective interest rate method.

(vi) Finance income
Finance income is reported in the income statement as it arises 
through the application of the effective interest rate method.

(vii) Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are 
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

(viii) Foreign currency transactions 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, 
which is the Group’s presentation currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement. 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such 
as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the 
revaluation reserve in equity. 

(c) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of 
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have 
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
•  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are 

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet

_4_XCH_ar08_back.indd   8 31/03/2009   09:50:30



Financial statem
ents and inform

ation
a nnua l  re po rt  a n d  accou n ts  2008

73Xchang ing  p lc

2 Principal accounting policies continued
(viii) Foreign currency transactions continued
(c) Group companies continued 
•  income and expenses for each income statement are 

translated at monthly average exchange rates (unless this 
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate 
on the dates of the transactions)

•  all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate 
component of equity. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Hedging
The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting when it hedges 
exposure to variability in cash flows associated with a recognised 
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and 
where the hedge is expected to be highly effective.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while any ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

(ix) Goodwill 
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of transition 
to IFRS, 1 January 2003, is stated at net book value at the date 
of transition. This goodwill had been amortised on a straight-line 
basis over its useful economic life (being 10 years). 

Goodwill recognised subsequent to 1 January 2003, arising from 
the purchase of subsidiary undertakings, represents the excess 
of the fair value of the consideration paid over the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets (including intangible assets) acquired. 
Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment reviews are 
performed annually to ensure the present value of estimated 
future net income streams from the associated contracts, being 
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated, and 
discounted using discount rates specific to the Group, exceeds 
the goodwill capitalised. Any impairment losses identified are 
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include 
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Purchases of the minority interests’ shareholdings result in 
goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid 
and the relevant share of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired.

(x) Intangible assets
(a) Development costs
Development costs are stated at cost less a provision for 
amortisation and any provision for impairment. Research 
costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs incurred during the development period of new contracts, 
including the costs of process and system designs that 
substantially improve those processes and systems already 
installed in the Enterprise Partnerships, are treated as 
development costs. Expenditure relating to these clearly defined 
and identifiable development projects is recognised as an 
intangible asset only where costs can be reliably measured 
and after the following criteria have been met:
•  the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the 

development project have been demonstrated
•  the availability of adequate technical and financial resources 

and an intention to complete the project have been confirmed
•  future economic benefits are expected.

Costs that are capitalised comprise directly attributable incremental 
costs incurred during the development period, including wages 
and salaries of staff employed solely for the purpose of improving 
the processes and systems, and third party costs. 

Development costs do not include restructuring costs (including 
redundancy, early termination penalties and such like) which are 
expensed to the income statement as they are incurred.

Amortisation of development costs occurs on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the contract to which they relate (between 
6 and 12 years). This period represents the useful life of the 
intangible asset.

(b) Software costs
Software costs are capitalised where they meet the criteria for 
recognition under IAS 38. Where the criteria for capitalisation are 
not met, software development expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Software development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis 
at an annual rate of 20% or over the life of the related contract, 
where appropriate, so as to write off the asset cost on a 
straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life.

Purchased software is stated at cost and amortised 
on a straight-line basis over three years.

(c) Assets in the course of development
Assets in the course of development are not amortised until the 
asset is brought into use.

Subsequent expenditure undertaken to ensure that an asset 
maintains its previously assessed standard of performance, 
for example, routine repairs and maintenance expenditure, 
is recognised in the income statement as it is incurred. 
Where subsequent expenditure significantly enhances 
an asset, this is capitalised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

2 Principal accounting policies continued
(x) Intangible assets continued
(d) Contractual customer relationships
Contractual customer relationships are capitalised on acquisition 
where they meet the criteria for recognition under IFRS 3 and IAS 
38. Amortisation of customer contractual relationships is in line 
with the expected length of the customer relationship, which is 
between one and eight years. 

(xi) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of 
property, plant and equipment is their purchase cost, together 
with any incidental costs of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of the assets, 
less their estimated residual values, on a straight-line basis over 
the expected useful economic lives of the assets concerned. 
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease 
Computer equipment  20 – 33%  
Fixtures and fittings  10 – 25% 
Motor vehicles  25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

(xii) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, management reviews its tangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. Intangible assets are 
reviewed if a trigger event is deemed to have happened. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that 
are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement immediately.

(xiii) Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following 
categories: loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. The Group determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition: 
•  loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date. These are classified as non-current assets 

•  available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are 
either designated in this category or not classified in any of 
the other categories. They are included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date 

•  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are residual 
equities purchased as part of a requisitioned trade on behalf 
of a client of the Financial Markets sector and are held at their 
fair value until the opportunity arises to sell the equity as part 
of a new requisitioned trade by a client. They are included 
within current assets and classified as held-for-trading assets 
within trade and other receivables in the balance sheet.

Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised 
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair 
value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Held-for-trading assets are carried 
at fair value through profit and loss.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or 
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised 
in equity are included in the income statement as gains and 
losses from investment securities.
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2 Principal accounting policies continued
(xiii) Financial instruments continued
(a) Financial assets continued
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised 
in the income statement as part of finance income when the 
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair values of other financial assets 
at fair value through profit and loss are presented within cost of 
sales in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary 
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as 
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered to be an 
indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence 
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – 
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity 
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses 
recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are 
not reversed through the income statement. 

(b) Convertible debt
Short-term and long-term convertible loans are classified as loans 
and are separated into debt and equity elements upon initial 
recognition. The liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the 
market rate in effect at the date of inception of the instrument. 

The initial carrying amount is then accreted over the expected life 
of the instrument to the face amount payable on maturity. The 
equity element is recognised directly in the equity reserves and is 
not subsequently re-measured during the life of the instrument.

On conversion of the convertible debt, the fair value of the 
liability together with the portion recognised in equity is 
transferred to share capital and share premium.

(xiv) Put options granted to minority shareholders
In accordance with IAS 32, when minority interests hold put 
options that enable them to sell their investments to the Group, 
the net present value of the future payment is reflected as a 
financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet. At the end 
of each period, the valuation of the liability is reassessed with 
any changes recognised in the income statement for the period. 

(xv) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised 
when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Pre-contract costs comprise legal and other professional expenses 
and other directly attributable staff costs incurred in order to 
obtain specific customer contracts. Costs that are directly 
attributable to a contract are deferred when it is virtually certain 
that the contract will be awarded and the contract will result in 
future net cash inflows with a present value at least equal to all 
amounts recognised as an asset. 

Pre-contract costs are included within trade and other receivables 
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
contract, starting from the date when the contract commences.

(xvi) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, demand 
deposits and short-term highly liquid investments which are 
readily convertible to cash and are subject to minimal risk of 
changes in value. 

(xvii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(xviii) Operating and finance leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Lease incentives provided by lessors to the Group are amortised 
over the lease term together with any related costs of acquiring 
the lease.

Assets held under finance leases are initially reported at the lower 
of the fair value of the assets and the present value of minimum 
lease payments with an equivalent liability categorised as 
appropriate under current or non-current liabilities. The asset 
is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful 
economic life. Finance charges are allocated to accounting 
periods over the period of the lease to produce a constant rate 
of return on the outstanding balance. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

2 Principal accounting policies continued
(xix) Taxation including deferred taxation 
Current and deferred tax is recognised at the amount expected 
to be paid to (or recovered from) the taxation authorities on the 
basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised under the liability method on an 
undiscounted basis in respect of all temporary differences that 
have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where 
transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more, 
or a right to pay less, tax in the future have occurred at the 
balance sheet date, with the following exceptions:
•  where the temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss

•  deferred tax assets are regarded as recoverable and therefore 
recognised, only when, on the basis of all available evidence, 
the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there 
will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal 
of the underlying temporary differences can be deducted. 

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to 
items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise, income 
tax is recognised directly in the income statement.

(xx) Employee benefit costs
(a) Pension obligations
The Group operates, or participates in, both defined contribution 
and defined benefit pension schemes. All the pension schemes 
are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19.

Professional independent actuaries value the defined benefit 
schemes triennially and the valuations are updated at each year 
end using the projected unit credit method. Scheme assets are 
measured using closing market values at the balance sheet date. 
Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit 
method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high 
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the 
liability. Variations between the scheme assets and liabilities 
identified as a result of these actuarial valuations (actuarial gains 
and losses) are recognised in full through the statement of 
recognised income and expense (SORIE) in the period in which 
they arise. Current service costs, expected returns on plan 
assets and interest costs are charged to the income statement. 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless 
the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees 
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting 
period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The Group participates in a number of defined benefit schemes 
which are multi-employer schemes and where insufficient 
information exists to be able to account for the schemes as 
defined benefit plans as there is no consistent and reliable basis 
for allocating the obligations, plan assets and costs to individual 
entities participating in these schemes. In accordance with IAS 19 
such schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes 
and contributions are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are 
charged to the income statement as incurred.

(b) Share-based compensation
The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based 
compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of an equity-settled transaction 
is recognised as an expense over the periods in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the vesting date 
of the award. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted. Non-market vesting conditions are included 
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected 
to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates 
of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises 
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
Awards, where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, 
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
conditions are satisfied.

The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share 
premium when the options are exercised.

(xxi) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when a present obligation exists as the 
result of a past event and it is probable that this will result in an 
outflow of economic benefit, the amount of which can be reliably 
estimated. Where the provision is long-term, such as onerous 
contract provisions where the unavoidable costs of meeting 
obligations exceed any economic benefits expected to be 
received, the net cash flows are discounted using the Group’s 
appropriate pre-tax discount rate. 

Restructuring provisions are only recognised if an obligation exists 
at the balance sheet date, i.e. a formal plan exists and those 
affected by that plan have a valid expectation that the 
restructuring will be carried out.

(xxii) Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of all issued shares. 
On subscribing for shares any excess consideration over the 
nominal value of the shares issued less any issue costs is 
credited to the share premium account.
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2 Principal accounting policies continued
(xxiii) Fair value estimation
The fair values of short-term loans and overdrafts with a maturity of 
less than one year are assumed to approximate to their book values. 
For loans due in more than one year the fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the market interest rate available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value for 
available-for-sale investments and held-for-trading equity securities 
is based on their quoted market price. 

(xxiv) Exceptional items
Exceptional items are events or transactions that fall within the 
activities of the Group, and, which by virtue of their size or 
incidence, have been disclosed in order to improve a reader’s 
understanding of the financial statements.

3 Financial risk management 
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks. 
The Group manages these risks under financial risk management 
policies, which the Board reviews and agrees. The Group’s 
financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and liquid 
resources and various items, such as trade receivables and trade 
payables that arise directly from its operations. The Group does 
not normally enter into derivative transactions. However, such 
transactions may be undertaken to hedge certain currency risks 
arising from the Group’s operations.

It is the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments 
or speculative transactions be undertaken.

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group reviews its interest rate profile against acceptable 
risk profiles.

Currently the Group has a letter of credit, with interest rates 
on a fixed basis. The Group considers debt financing on a 
case-by-case basis, assessing variable rate versus fixed rate 
proposals based on the value and term of the facility and 
projected economic conditions.

Working capital is generally held in variable rate operational 
accounts, with surplus cash placed on fixed rate short-term 
deposits.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s international operations expose the Group to foreign 
exchange risk. The Group currently operates in a number of 
foreign currencies (Euro, Indian Rupee, US Dollar, Australian 
Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit and Thai Baht), of which the only 
significant transactional foreign currency cash flow exposures 
are Euros, Indian Rupees and US Dollars. 

The Group does not hedge profit translation risk. The Group will 
create natural balance sheet hedging by matching assets and 
liabilities by currency where possible. Annuity exposures will not 
be hedged except under exceptional circumstances. Specific 
one-off exposures may be hedged. 

(iii) Liquidity risk
The Group actively manages its liquidity risk through cash 
management, including detailed weekly short-term and monthly 
long-term cash flow forecasting, which support regular reviews 
of funding strategies. The Group’s policy is to ensure that all 
projected borrowing needs are covered by committed facilities, 
maintaining a minimum funding headroom of £30 million of 
committed funding for a period of 12 months.

(iv) Market risk and price risk
The Group holds listed investments, which expose the Group to 
equity securities price risk. These investments are reviewed on a 
regular basis to ensure their suitability according to the Group’s 
risk profile.

(v) Credit risk
The Group has a concentration of credit risk with respect to trade 
receivables due to the nature and structure of the Enterprise 
Partnerships. Credit risk assessments are performed when signing 
up to a new Enterprise Partnership and for new customers. 
Exposures with banking counterparties are monitored on a 
regular basis to ensure exposures are maintained within the 
Group’s treasury policies.

(vi) Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders and sell or purchase assets to reduce 
or increase debt.

The Group seeks to maintain a strong credit profile to aid its 
ability to partner in business. The Group will ordinarily aim not 
to exceed net debt of 2.5 times XEBITDA (Xchanging’s share 
of EBITDA) where net debt is defined as all financial 
indebtedness under its loan facility less cash.

Xchanging operates in a number of regulatory regimes. 
The securities processing and retail investment account 
management businesses in Germany, XTB and Fondsdepot Bank, 
maintain banking licences and are regulated under the German 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Components of 
the insurance businesses are regulated in the United Kingdom 
by the Financial Services Authority (FSA). The Group has complied 
with all the BaFin and FSA regulations during 2008.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

4 Critical accounting estimations and judgements
The Group’s principal accounting policies are set out in note 2 
to these financial statements. Management is required to 
exercise significant judgement and make use of estimates 
and assumptions in the application of these policies.

Areas which management believes require the most critical 
accounting judgements are:

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of defined benefit plans. 
The retirement benefit obligations recorded are based on 
actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, expected 
long-term rate of return on plan assets, inflation and mortality 
rates. These assumptions are based on current market conditions, 
historical information and consultation with, and input from, 
actuaries. Management reviews these assumptions annually. 
If they change, or if actual experience is different from the 
assumptions, the funding status of the plan will change and 
the retirement benefit obligation will be adjusted accordingly. 
The assumptions used are detailed in note 36.

Xchanging participates in various BAE Systems pension schemes. 
The terms on which Xchanging participates in these schemes 
give Xchanging protection against any requirement to fund 
future deficits that arise in the schemes, and against future 
exit debts that may arise on withdrawal from these schemes. 
However, in the event of BAE Systems becoming insolvent, 
there is a risk that Xchanging could become liable to fund the 
wider pension schemes of these companies, which would result 
in a significant exposure should these events occur. The Directors 
consider that the risk of this event is extremely remote and 
consequently the schemes are accounted for as defined 
contribution schemes as per note 36. 

(ii) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated 
in 2(xii). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
have been determined based on value in use calculations. 
These calculations require the use of estimates (see note 15).

(iii) Exceptional items
The Directors consider that items of income or expense which are 
material and non-recurring by virtue of their nature and amount 
should be disclosed separately if the financial statements are to 
fairly present the financial position and financial performance 
of the Group. The Directors label these items collectively as 
“exceptional items” (see note 8).

(iv) Calculation of cost and appropriate amortisation period
The original cost of pre-contract costs includes project development 
costs (including appropriate direct internal costs) which are 
deferred from the point that it is virtually certain that the project 
will proceed to completion. The Directors consider that this point 
of virtual certainty is reached when the memorandum of 
understanding related to the contract is signed by all parties 
involved (see note 20). 

Depreciation of these developed assets is charged so as to write 
down the value of the asset to its residual value over its estimated 
useful life.

(v) Assumptions on put options
Three put options are accounted for as financial liabilities under 
paragraph 23 of IAS 32. These liabilities are carried at fair value 
through profit and loss and measured at the fair value of the 
future cash flows associated with them. The levels of these cash 
flows and the relevant discount rates used in the fair value 
calculations are based on future projections and incorporate 
a certain element of management judgement (see note 23).

5 Segmental information
The Group has three reportable operating business sectors for 
financial reporting purposes: Business Lines, Insurance and 
Financial Markets. Business Lines is a cross-industry sector in 
which the Group provides procurement, human resources, 
finance and accounting and technology infrastructure services. 
In both of the Insurance and Financial Markets sectors the Group 
provides industry specific BPO services and software to customers.
These three operating sectors are supported by the Group’s 
offshore business processing services facility (BPS) and 
‘Corporate’, which provides the infrastructure, resources and 
investment to sustain and grow the Group, including sales and 
commercial, performance management, implementation and 
business management functions.

Measurement of operating segment profit and loss, 
assets and liabilities
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same 
as those described in note 2. Xchanging measures segmental 
performance on operating profit before exceptional items, 
share-based payments, and amortisation and impairment of 
intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity.

Xchanging’s reportable segments account for inter segment sales 
and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties,  
i.e. at current market prices.

Unallocated assets include deferred tax assets and inter segment 
assets. Unallocated liabilities include current income tax liabilities, 
deferred tax liabilities, borrowings, other financial liabilities and 
inter segment liabilities.
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5 Segmental information continued
    Business  Financial BPS and 
    Lines Insurance Markets Corporate Total 
Year ended 31 December 2008   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue    261,785 166,956 150,280 794 579,815

 – from external customers   241,619 165,151 150,199 794 557,763
 – inter segment   20,166 1,805 81 – 22,052

Depreciation and amortisation   4,882 4,173 6,118 3,542 18,715
     

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)  21,421 28,687 15,846 (16,296) 49,658
Adjusted operating profit percentage  8.2% 17.2% 10.5%  8.6%
     

Adjustment of certain non-cash items:  
 – share-based payments   (381) (262) (168) (1,502) (2,313)
 –  amortisation of intangible assets previously  

unrecognised by an acquired entity  (428) (88) (370) – (886)

Operating profit/(loss)   20,612 28,337 15,308 (17,798) 46,459
     

Allocation of central costs:     
 – investment in Enterprise Partnerships  – (24) – 24 –
 – depreciation and amortisation  (529) (1,145) (527) 2,201 –
 – other    (97) 548 (315) (136) –

Segment result   19,986 27,716 14,466 (15,709) 46,459
     

Finance costs        (11,388)
Finance income       14,095
Taxation        (13,621)

Profit for the year       35,545
     

Reportable segment assets     
Assets    156,869 101,817 120,859 107,118 486,663
Unallocated assets       (25,074)

Total assets        461,589
     

Reportable segment liabilities     
Liabilities    62,582 68,449 58,553 25,214 214,798
Unallocated liabilities       (11,589)

Total liabilities       203,209

Capital expenditure   11,702 12,665 18,705 1,372 44,444

Capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment through normal business activities 
(£39,009,000), acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as a result of the Mercuris SA business 
combination (£628,000), and the related increase in goodwill as a result of this transaction (£4,807,000).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

5 Segmental information continued
    Business  Financial BPS and 
    Lines Insurance Markets Corporate Total 
Year ended 31 December 2007   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue    215,775 164,710 102,929 195 483,609

 – from external customers   202,729 162,541 102,695 195 468,160
 – inter segment   13,046 2,169 234 – 15,449

Depreciation and amortisation   3,871 3,453 3,416 4,193 14,933
     

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)  19,727 28,391 10,056 (19,317) 38,857
Adjusted operating profit percentage  9.1% 17.2% 9.8%  8.0%
     

Exceptional items   (158) (184) (66) (5,792) (6,200)
Adjustment of certain non-cash items:     
 – share-based payments   (117) (114) (40) (245) (516)
 –  amortisation of intangible assets previously  

unrecognised by an acquired entity  (344) (126) – – (470)

Operating profit/(loss)   19,108 27,967 9,950 (25,354) 31,671
     

Allocation of central costs:     
 – investment in Enterprise Partnerships  – (1,162) – 1,162 –
 – depreciation and amortisation  (500) (1,012) (526) 2,038 –
 – other    8 482 (1,480) 990 –

Segment result   18,616 26,275 7,944 (21,164) 31,671
     

Finance costs (excluding exceptionals)      (10,502)
Exceptional finance costs       (719)
Finance income       12,021
Taxation        (11,946)

Profit for the year       20,525
     

Reportable segment assets     
Assets    138,022 108,473 90,673 82,628 419,796
Unallocated assets       (26,741)

Total assets        393,055
     

Reportable segment liabilities     
Liabilities    56,342 63,396 47,298 21,914 188,950
Unallocated liabilities       (17,813)

Total liabilities       171,137

Capital expenditure   58,916 4,639 15,555 897 80,007

Capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment through normal business activities 
(£14,188,000), acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as a result of the Fondsdepot Bank GmbH business 
combination (£10,247,000), the related increase in goodwill as a result of this transaction (£1,445,000) and the increase in goodwill 
attributable to the buy out of the HR Enterprise Limited and Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited minority interests from 
BAE Systems plc (£54,127,000).
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5 Segmental information continued
The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers, assets by location and capital expenditure by location:

       2008 2007 
Revenue by geographical destination     £’000 £’000

United Kingdom      388,961 349,229
Continental Europe      156,304 110,146
Rest of the world      12,498 8,785

Total revenue      557,763 468,160

       2008 2007 
Assets by location      £’000 £’000

United Kingdom      336,577 304,136
Continental Europe      121,342 76,709
Rest of the world      37,261 24,929

Assets       495,180 405,774
Unallocated assets      (33,591) (12,719)

Total assets       461,589 393,055

       2008 2007 
Capital expenditure by location      £’000 £’000

United Kingdom      19,426 64,311
Continental Europe      24,522 15,560
Rest of the world      496 136

Total capital expenditure      44,444 80,007

6 Analysis of revenue by category
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Revenue from services      557,366 467,677
Sale of goods       397 483

Total revenue      557,763 468,160

7 Expenses by nature
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Cost of goods and services directly related to sales    172,388 128,770
Direct staff costs     10 193,755 166,752
Other staff related costs      33,707 30,419
Technology and communications     64,208 58,936
Property costs       21,549 24,182
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges    18,715 14,993
Other costs       6,982 6,237
Exceptional items     8 – 6,200

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses    511,304 436,489
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

8 Exceptional items
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Exceptional items included in administrative expenses comprise the following:  
Costs in relation to the IPO      – 3,995
Costs related to the share gift to employees by the CEO    – 2,205

Total exceptional items included in administrative expenses   – 6,200

Exceptional items included in finance costs comprise the following:  
Costs in relation to the IPO      – 719

The IPO costs and Group restructuring costs incurred during the prior year related to specific expenses incurred in listing the Group 
on the London Stock Exchange and for management and legal restructuring undertaken in preparation for the listing. The charge 
consisted mainly of external legal and professional advisers’ fees of £3,370,000, with staff and other costs totaling £625,000. 
An additional £4,664,000 was charged directly to equity in respect of the IPO for listing fees, underwriting fees and other professional 
advisers’ fees directly associated with the raising of capital.

Upon the successful listing of Xchanging on the London Stock Exchange, the CEO, David Andrews, gave every qualifying Xchanging 
employee 200 of his own personal Xchanging shares. This gift fell within the scope of IFRS 2 and consequently the Group incurred an 
accounting charge of £1,969,000 during 2007, equivalent to the value of the shares at the date of the gift. In addition, social security 
costs of £236,000 were incurred.

The finance cost element related to adjustments that were made to existing onerous lease provisions due to the change in the discount 
rate used to calculate the present value of these provisions. This change in discount rate was a direct result of the IPO.

9 Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Staff costs      10 193,755 166,752
Exceptional items     8 – 6,200
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  
 – owned assets     17 6,191 5,327
 – assets held under finance leases    17 – 151
Net amortisation of intangible assets    16 11,090 8,299
Amortisation of pre-contract costs    20 1,434 1,216
Research and development      1,494 1,018
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets   349 (25)
Impairment of trade receivables      226 515
Operating leases  
 – land and buildings      9,677 9,069
 – plant and machinery      571 685
Foreign exchange gain      (2,326) (53)
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9 Operating profit continued
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors in the year were as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Audit services   
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 220 220
 

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for other services  
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries     673 629
Other services pursuant to legislation     53 67
Tax services       365 289
Valuation and actuarial services      337 150
Transaction related services      829 1,443
Other services       120 –

       2,597 2,798
 

10 Employees and Directors
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Staff costs for the Group during the year   
Wages and salaries (including Directors)     161,270 140,582
Social security costs      20,428 16,521
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes     7,138 6,404
Pension costs – defined benefit schemes     2,860 2,833
Share-based payments     27 2,313 516

       194,009 166,856

Included within:   
 – operating expenses     7 193,755 166,752
 – finance costs      254 104

       194,009 166,856

Staff costs included within exceptional costs   
Staff costs related to the IPO     8 – 625
Costs related to the share gift to employees by the CEO   8 – 2,205

       – 2,830

   

       2008 2007 
       Number Number

Average number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by business sector  
Business Lines       928 848
Insurance       1,605 1,666
Financial Markets      1,203 840
BPS and Corporate      629 460

       4,365 3,814

Disclosures in relation to Director and key management compensation are included within related party transactions (note 38).
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11 Finance costs and income
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Finance costs   
Interest payable on convertible loan note      – (291)
Bank and other interest      (884) (847)
Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes    36 (8,221) (7,144)
Imputed interest on deferred consideration for acquisitions    (51) (1,239)
Imputed interest on put option to acquire minority interest    (2,232) (813)
Foreign exchange loss on financial liabilities     – (168)

Total finance costs      (11,388) (10,502)

Finance income   
Bank interest       5,183 4,335
Expected return on plan assets – defined benefit pension schemes   36 7,967 7,040
Dividends received on available-for-sale assets     497 177
Imputed interest on employee loans through the Share Purchase Plan   238 343
Other interest       210 126

Total finance income      14,095 12,021

Net finance income pre exceptional items     2,707 1,519

Finance costs – exceptional items     – (719)

Net finance income      2,707 800
 

12 Taxation 
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Analysis of tax charge/(credit) in the period  
Current tax       13,058 9,476
Deferred tax       563 2,470

       13,621 11,946

In addition to the above amounts charged to the income statement, a current income tax credit of £1,987,000 (2007: £4,979,000) 
has been credited directly to equity in respect of share options exercised in the year, and a deferred tax credit of £619,000 
(2007: £2,336,000 charge) has been credited directly to equity (note 25).
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12 Taxation continued
Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax for the period is lower than (2007: higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (being three months 
at a tax rate of 30% and the remaining nine months of the year at 28%) (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below: 

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Profit before tax      49,166 32,471

Profit before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%)   14,012 9,741
Changes in tax rates      38 1,402
Taxable overseas dividend income     118 243
Overseas losses not available for group relief     – 41
Utilisation of tax losses      (2,081) (357)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     1,661 1,949
Tax in respect of prior years      (685) (967)
Difference on foreign tax rates      558 (145)
Withholding tax written off      – 39

Tax charge for the year      13,621 11,946

Factors that may affect future tax charges
Tax losses arising in previous years and other temporary differences total an estimated carried forward amount of £13,093,000 
(2007: £17,946,000) which, assuming a tax rate of 28% (2007: 28%), gives rise to an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £3,666,000 
(2007: £5,025,000). As the respective Group undertaking in which these tax losses arise becomes profitable, future tax charges will 
be reduced as these tax losses are offset against the profits made. However, no asset in relation to this has been recognised as there 
is insufficient certainty over the timing and availability of such future profits. 

13 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares of Xchanging plc and, for periods prior to 30 April 2007, the weighted average number of Xchanging BV 
shares having applied the same share for share exchange ratio as were applied to each class of Xchanging BV share on the acquisition 
of Xchanging BV by the Company on 30 April 2007.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in existence is adjusted to include all potential dilutive 
ordinary shares. The Group has four types of potential dilutive ordinary shares: share options, share awards under the Performance 
Share Plan to the extent that the performance criteria for vesting of the awards are expected to be met, convertible debt and warrants. 
Prior to listing on the London Stock Exchange, the warrants were exercised and the debt was converted into ordinary shares. 

       Weighted 
       average 
       number Earnings 
      Earnings of shares per share 
      £’000 thousands pence

Basic earnings per share:   
 – 31 December 2008     29,155 216,447 13.47
 – 31 December 2007     15,336 195,428 7.85
Diluted earnings per share:   
 – 31 December 2008     29,155 224,628 12.98
 – 31 December 2007     15,336 203,871 7.52
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13 Earnings per share continued
The following reflects the share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:

       2008 2007 
       thousands thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share   216,447 195,428
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:  
 – employee share options      4,918 7,653
 – awards under the Performance Share Plan     3,263 –
 – unexercised warrants      – 790

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share  224,628 203,871

Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share
In addition to the above, an adjusted earnings per share value is disclosed to provide a better understanding of the underlying trading 
results of the Group. This adjusted value is in line with the KPIs as used to measure the Group’s performance. 

       Weighted 
       average 
       number Earnings 
      Earnings of shares per share 
      £’000 thousands pence

Adjusted basic earnings per share:   
 – 31 December 2008     32,952 216,447 15.22
 – 31 December 2007     22,826 195,428 11.68
Adjusted diluted earnings per share:   
 – 31 December 2008     32,952 224,628 14.67
 – 31 December 2007     22,826 203,871 11.20

The adjusted earnings per share figures are calculated based on the Xchanging adjusted profit after tax (Xpat), divided by the basic 
and diluted weighted average number of shares as stated above.

The XPAT is calculated as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Net profit attributable to Xchanging equity holders    29,155 15,336
Exceptional items (net of tax)      – 6,246
Share-based payments (net of tax)     1,782 325
Amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity (net of tax)  613 316
Imputed interest on historical debt (net of tax)     – 204
Imputed interest and fair value adjustments on put options (net of tax)   1,562 639
Imputed interest on employee loans through the Share Purchase Plan (net of tax)   (160) (240)

Adjusted net profit attributable to Xchanging equity holders   32,952 22,826

14 Dividends per share
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008 of 2.5 pence per share, amounting to a total dividend of £5,487,000, 
is to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2009. These financial statements do not reflect this proposed dividend 
payable. There are no material tax consequences of this dividend.

A dividend of 2.0 pence per share relating to the year ended 31 December 2007, amounting to £4,297,000 was paid on 30 May 2008.
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15 Goodwill
       Note £’000

Cost  
At 1 January 2007       29,362
Acquisition of minority interests       54,127
Business combinations       1,445
Revision of deferred contingent consideration on prior year business combinations    604
Exchange adjustments       82

At 31 December 2007       85,620
Business combinations      35 4,807
Revision of deferred contingent consideration on prior year business combinations    (420)
Fair value adjustments relating to prior year business combinations   35 2,514
Exchange adjustments       3,037

At 31 December 2008       95,558

Aggregate impairment  
At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008     –

Net book amount  
At 1 January 2007       29,362
At 31 December 2007       85,620
At 31 December 2008       95,558

The fair values of consideration and net assets in respect of the Fondsdepot Bank GmbH Enterprise Partnership have been revised in accordance 
with IFRS 3 resulting in an increase to goodwill in 2008 of £2,514,000 (refer to note 35). Further, estimates of the provisional amounts payable 
in relation to one business combination effected in 2006 have been revised during 2008 based on current year results and future projections. 

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to Enterprise Partnership and business sector. 
The carrying amounts of goodwill are as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Xchanging Procurement Services     44,319 44,319
HR Enterprise       9,808 9,808
Ins-sure Holdings      3,942 3,942
RebusIS – Insurance sector      8,460 8,460
RebusIS – Business Lines sector      8,460 8,460
Xchanging Transaction Bank GmbH     270 270
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH      5,526 1,527
Xchanging Advisory Services (formerly Landmark Business Consulting)   3,794 4,214
Ferguson Snell and Associates      4,591 4,591
Xchanging Broking Services      29 29
Xchanging Procurement Services (France) SA (formerly Mercuris SA)   6,359 –

       95,558 85,620

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based 
on budgets approved by the Directors covering a three year period, which incorporate growth rates specific to each CGU. Cash flows 
beyond the three year period are extrapolated to year five using a nil growth rate; a terminal value using nil growth is then added. 
These long-term growth rates do not exceed the long-term average market growth rates in which the CGUs operate. A pre-tax 
discount rate of 12.35% (2007: 12.35%) is then applied to the projections. This has been assessed as an appropriate discount rate 
for CGUs to which significant amounts of goodwill have been allocated, based on management’s estimate of the Group’s weighted 
average cost of capital. Management believes it is appropriate to use the same rate for all significant CGUs as they operate in 
geographical and operational segments with similar risks and these have not significantly changed from the prior year. Sensitivity 
analysis performed around the base case assumptions has indicated that no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions would 
cause the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to significant CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amounts.
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16 Intangible assets
      Customer Assets in 
    Development  contractual  the course of  
    costs Software relationships development Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost     
At 1 January 2007   13,237 33,380 2,478 1,456 50,551
Acquisitions     – 9,602  –  – 9,602
Additions – internally generated  1,649 2,734  –  – 4,383
Additions – external   414 3,913  –  – 4,327
Transfers to/(from) assets in the course of development  – 735  – (735)  –
Transfers to tangibles    –  –  – (491) (491)
Write-offs     – (218)  – (230) (448)
Disposals     – (157)  –  – (157)
Exchange adjustments    – 1,826  –  – 1,826

At 31 December 2007   15,300 51,815 2,478  – 69,593
Acquisitions (note 35)   – – 618 – 618
Fair value adjustments relating to prior year  
business combinations (note 35)  – (5,648) 2,484 – (3,164)
Additions – internally generated  2,361 5,728 – – 8,089
Additions – external   48 17,396 – – 17,444
Transfers (to)/from tangibles   (42) 637 – – 595
Disposals    (408) (159) – – (567)
Exchange adjustments   – 12,102 1,184 – 13,286

At 31 December 2008   17,259 81,871 6,764 – 105,894
     

Amortisation     
At 1 January 2007   4,480 16,247 1,353  – 22,080
Charge for the year   1,506 6,323 470  – 8,299
Write-offs     – (218)  –  – (218)
Disposals     – (157)  –  – (157)
Exchange adjustments    – 536  –  – 536

At 31 December 2007   5,986 22,731 1,823  – 30,540
Charge for the year   1,876 8,328 886  – 11,090
Transfers (to)/from tangibles   – 54 – – 54
Disposals    (131) (95) – – (226)
Exchange adjustments   – 5,848 110 – 5,958

At 31 December 2008   7,731 36,866 2,819  – 47,416

Net book amount     
At 1 January 2007   8,757 17,133 1,125 1,456 28,471
At 31 December 2007   9,314 29,084 655  – 39,053
At 31 December 2008   9,528 45,005 3,945  – 58,478

Amortisation expense of £9,073,000 (2007: £5,907,000) has been charged through cost of sales and £2,017,000 (2007: £2,392,000) 
through administrative expenses. 
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17 Property, plant and equipment
       Assets in the  
   Leasehold Computer Fixtures  Motor course of  
   improvements equipment and fittings  vehicles development Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost      
At 1 January 2007  7,607 14,078 6,603  192 – 28,480
Acquisitions   158 301 187 – – 646
Additions   594 3,898 405  1 579 5,477
Transfers from intangibles  16 438 37 – – 491
Write-offs   – (1,605) (448) – – (2,053)
Disposals   (241) (101) (183)  (134) – (659)
Exchange adjustments  164 667 212  2 – 1,045

At 31 December 2007  8,298 17,676 6,813  61 579 33,427
Acquisitions   – 1 9 – – 10
Additions   1,894 6,362 1,868 – 3,352 13,476
Transfers to/(from) assets  
in the course of development  – 534 – – (534) –
Transfers (to)/from intangibles  – (655) 60 – – (595)
Write-offs   – (136) – – – (136)
Disposals   (2) (1,156) (46) – (4) (1,208)
Exchange adjustments  1,025 2,883 963 – – 4,871

At 31 December 2008  11,215 25,509 9,667  61 3,393 49,845
      

Depreciation      
At 1 January 2007  1,680 8,613 2,964  127 – 13,384
Charge for the year  973 3,508 961  36 – 5,478
Write-offs   – (1,605) (448) – – (2,053)
Disposals   (241) (62) (146)  (122) – (571)
Exchange adjustments  49 510 185  1 – 745

At 31 December 2007  2,461 10,964 3,516  42 – 16,983
Charge for the year  1,168 3,759 1,245 19 – 6,191
Transfers to intangibles  – (54) – – – (54)
Disposals   (1) (1,084) (30) – – (1,115)
Exchange adjustments  394 2,352 608 – – 3,354

At 31 December 2008  4,022 15,937 5,339 61 – 25,359

Net book amount      
At 1 January 2007  5,927 5,465 3,639  65 – 15,096
At 31 December 2007  5,837 6,712 3,297  19 579 16,444
At 31 December 2008  7,193 9,572 4,328 – 3,393 24,486

Depreciation expense of £5,095,000 (2007: £4,514,000) has been charged through cost of sales and £1,096,000 (2007: £964,000) 
through administrative expenses. 
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18 Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

      Assets at  
      fair value 
      through 
     Loans and profit Available- 
     receivables and loss for-sale Total 
Assets as per the balance sheet   note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2008    
Available-for-sale financial assets  19 – – 26,782 26,782
Trade and other receivables (see below)   66,573 466 – 67,039
Cash and cash equivalents   21 117,798 – – 117,798

Total     184,371 466 26,782 211,619

31 December 2007    
Available-for-sale financial assets  19 – – 23,609 23,609
Trade and other receivables (see below)   62,829 321 – 63,150
Cash and cash equivalents   21 98,366 – – 98,366

Total     161,195 321 23,609 185,125

Financial assets within trade and other receivables comprise net trade receivables, corporate income taxes receivable, other receivables, 
loans to related parties and deferred consideration on acquisition which have been classified as loans and receivables in the table 
above, and held-for-trading equity securities classified as assets at fair value through profit and loss (note 20).

      Liabilities at  
      fair value  Other 
      through profit  financial 
      and loss  liabilities Total 
Liabilities as per the balance sheet    Note £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2008    
Trade and other payables (see below)    – 54,711 54,711
Borrowings     23 – 276 276
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships 23 24,119 – 24,119

Total      24,119 54,987 79,106

31 December 2007    
Trade and other payables (see below)    – 48,258 48,258
Borrowings     23 – 1,511 1,511
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships 23 17,865 – 17,865

Total      17,865 49,769 67,634

Financial liabilities within trade and other payables comprise trade payables, social security and other taxes and other payables 
classified as other financial liabilities (note 22).
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19  Available-for-sale financial assets
       2008 2007 
Non-current available-for-sale financial assets     £’000 £’000

At 1 January       23,609 20,441
Net (losses)/gains transferred to equity     (2,207) 1,791
Exchange adjustments      5,380 1,377

At 31 December      26,782 23,609

There were no disposals or impairment provisions on available-for-sale financial assets during 2008 or 2007.

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Listed equity securities – Eurozone     4,301 7,700
Listed debt security      22,481 15,909

Total available-for-sale financial assets     26,782 23,609

These investments are held at fair value, based on the listed price of the securities at the year end date. The underlying currency of the 
above investments is the euro.

None of the available-for-sale financial assets are either past due or impaired. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 
is the fair value of the debt securities classified as available-for-sale.

20 Trade and other receivables
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Current trade and other receivables   
Trade receivables – non-related parties     43,948 41,027
Trade receivables – related parties    38 3,324 7,788

Trade receivables      47,272 48,815
Less provision for impairment of receivables (see below)    (972) (1,031)

Net trade receivables      46,300 47,784
Corporate income taxes receivable     710 599
Other receivables      11,297 6,667
Other receivables – related parties    38 – 521
Loans to related parties     38 5,593 5,384
Prepayments and accrued income – non-related parties    45,362 37,672
Prepayments and accrued income – related parties   38 750 –
Held-for-trading equity securities     466 321
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     738 476
Pre-contract costs (see below)      1,235 1,431

Total current trade and other receivables     112,451 100,855

Non-current trade and other receivables   
Other receivables      773 519
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     1,161 879
Pre-contract costs (see below)      3,652 4,658

Total non-current trade and other receivables    5,586 6,056
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20 Trade and other receivables continued
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Pre-contract costs   
Written down value at 1 January     6,089 7,034
Pre-contract costs deferred in the year     394 225
Exchange adjustments      40 46

       6,523 7,305
Amortisation charge for the year     (1,434) (1,216)
Costs recovered in the year      (202) –

Written down value at 31 December      4,887 6,089

The carrying values of all financial assets within trade and other receivables are considered to approximate to their fair values. 
It has been assumed that the loans to related parties will be repaid in the short term and no discounting has been applied.

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of £16,448,000 (2007: £30,450,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to 
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. All trade receivables, whether current or past due, 
are reviewed for impairment on a case-by-case basis to identify impairment taking into account the ageing of the debt, the likelihood 
of recoverability and other external factors. The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Current       29,852 17,334
Past due:   
1 – 30 days       11,515 22,100
31 – 60 days       2,398 4,291
61 – 90 days       659 1,672
Over 90 days       1,876 2,387

Net trade receivables      46,300 47,784

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

At 1 January       1,031 1,003
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:   
 – provided in the year      196 675
 – released in the year      (285) (191)
Used in the year      (29) (451)
Exchange adjustments      59 (5)

At 31 December      972 1,031

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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21 Cash and cash equivalents
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand      117,798 98,366

The cash reflected on the Group’s balance sheet not only includes cash immediately accessible for operations but also includes cash held 
within the Enterprise Partnerships, which is paid to the Group on an annual, or in some cases quarterly, basis as contractual dividends 
and licence fees. Therefore, cash available for the Group’s 100% owned operations is dependent on the periodic distributions from 
the Enterprise Partnerships, all of whom have a 100% distribution policy. At 31 December 2008, the Group held £75,252,000 of 
cash available in 100% owned operations (2007: £57,436,000) including £25,502,000 cash held in escrow (see below). 

Included within cash and cash equivalents is an amount of £25,502,000 which is held in an escrow account. This amount is equivalent 
to the maximum consideration that may have to be paid out under the Open Offer process relating to the acquisition of Cambridge 
Solutions Ltd (see note 39 for details), assuming full take-up under the Open Offer. The Group has entered into an escrow agreement 
which delegates responsibility for the maintenance and management of this escrow account to an escrow agent, including the ability, 
to the exclusion of all others, to make payments or appropriations from this account. Once the Open Offer process has been completed, 
any funds deposited in the escrow account in excess of those payments made to shareholders who take up the offer will be refunded 
to the Group. This is expected to occur by 31 March 2009.

22 Trade and other payables
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Current liabilities   
Trade payables – non-related parties     23,340 23,587
Trade payables – related parties     38 6,319 3,511

Trade payables       29,659 27,098
Social security and other taxes      9,342 9,195
Other payables       15,508 11,965
Accruals and deferred income – non-related parties    59,741 49,829
Accruals and deferred income – related parties    38 3,348 902

Total current liabilities      117,598 98,989

Non-current liabilities   
Accruals and deferred income       13,013   9,974 
Social security and other taxes       202  – 

Total non-current liabilities      13,215 9,974

The carrying values of all financial liabilities within trade and other payables are considered to approximate to their fair values.

23 Financial liabilities
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Current borrowings   
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     276 856
   

Non-current borrowings   
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     – 655
   

Current other financial liabilities   
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships   974  –

Non-current other financial liabilities   
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships   23,145 17,865
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23 Financial liabilities continued
All of the deferred consideration on acquisitions (2007: £996,000) represents consideration payable for the acquisition of Xchanging 
Advisory Services Limited (formerly Landmark Business Consulting Limited) in 2006 and takes the form of non-interest bearing bonds, 
contingent on the performance of the business over the period to 31 December 2008. The amount of consideration payable has been 
discounted using the effective interest rate at the time of acquisition, being the market rate of 5.75%. In 2007, the remainder of the 
balance, £515,000, related to the acquisition of Fondsdepot Bank GmbH. This amount was not contingent, and was payable in cash 
within one year.

The Group has minority shareholders in three Enterprise Partnerships that hold the right to sell their shares to the Group at a future date. 
In accordance with IAS 32, the cash flows associated with these options are fair valued and discounted back to their present value.

The carrying amounts of the financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Sterling       9,227 8,839
Euros       15,168 10,537

       24,395 19,376

The fair value of the current financial liabilities equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current financial liabilities are as follows:

   Carrying amount  Fair value 

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on acquisitions   – 655 – 646
Put options to acquire the minority interest in Enterprise Partnerships 23,145 17,865 23,145 17,865

     23,145 18,520 23,145 18,511

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the year end effective interest rate of 4.25% for 
Sterling-denominated instruments and 4.5% for Euro-denominated instruments (2007: 6.85%). 

The maturity profile of the undiscounted amount of the non-current liabilities at 31 December was as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Expiring later than one year but not more than two years    974 701
Expiring later than two years but not more than five years    25,024 19,948

       25,998 20,649

The Group has the following borrowing facilities available:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Expiring within one year      5,000 –
Expiring later than one year but not more than two years    10,000 –
Expiring later than two years but not more than five years    75,000 35,000

       90,000 35,000

€20 million (2007: €20 million) has been drawn down against the above facility as a letter of credit provided to Allianz Global Investors 
in relation to the Fondsdepot Bank Enterprise Partnership. 

The facility is subject to a number of covenants in respect of interest cover, leveraging and minimum net worth. The Group complied 
with these covenants during the period.
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24 Provisions
         Early and  
     Onerous  Operational part-time Long  
    Phoenix lease Restructuring risk retirement service Other Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007    – 2,243 1,866 2,454 6,252 1,689 3,663 18,167
Acquired in the year    3,147 50 – – 130 – 393 3,720
Transfer from deferred tax   – – – – – – 1,164 1,164
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:
 – provided in the year   – 2,666 – 780 1,054 – 2,018 6,518
 – released in the year   – (182) (139) (861) (112) (461) (2,286) (4,041)
 – unwinding of discount   29 1,193 – – – – – 1,222
Used in the year    – (1,142) (1,577) (505) (2,534) (202) (712) (6,672)
Exchange adjustments   180 175 16 186 473 109 299 1,438

At 31 December 2007   3,356 5,003 166 2,054 5,263 1,135 4,539 21,516
Transfers (to)/from accruals   – – – – – 604 (347) 257
Reallocation of provisions held  
by recently acquired subsidiaries  424 – – – – – (424) –
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:        
 – provided in the year   – 276 811 265 503 – 1,380 3,235
 – released in the year   – (535) (168) (946) (1,494) (242) (1,354) (4,739)
 – unwinding of discount   193 134 – – – – – 327
Used in the year    – (1,822) – (442) (1,752) (199) (1,498) (5,713)
Exchange adjustments   1,257 645 2 405 1,051 458 604 4,422

At 31 December 2008   5,230 3,701 811 1,336 3,571 1,756 2,900 19,305

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Current       6,617 8,141
Non-current       12,688 13,375

       19,305 21,516

The Phoenix provision relates to future payments which one of the Group companies, Fondsdepot Bank GmbH, may have to make 
to the Entschädigungseinrichtung der Wertpapierhandelsunternehmen (EdW), a federal special fund aimed at protecting investors, as 
a result of a securities fraud committed by one of the EdW member companies. As the outcome of any legal proceedings is yet to be 
finalised, the timing of any payment is uncertain, however the Group’s liability under this is capped at €3,575,000 with any amounts 
payable in excess of this to be reimbursed by Allianz Global Investors. A corresponding receivable equivalent to any excess has been 
recognised as deferred consideration on acquisitions in trade and other receivables.

The onerous lease provision relates to dilapidations and a shortfall between expected sub-letting rents and future costs on three 
onerous operating leases. The leases provided for have between two and eight years left to run. 

The restructuring provision relates to restructuring of the senior management team in preparation for the integration of Cambridge 
Solutions Limited. This is expected to be utilised during 2009.

The operational risk provision comprises an estimated liability in respect of identified operating errors which had occurred in the 
ordinary course of business in the Financial Markets sector up to 31 December 2008. This is an ongoing provision representative of the 
nature of the securities processing market.

The early and part-time retirement provision arises from a statutory requirement for German businesses and is calculated under IAS 19 
with reference to actuarial reports. The Group offers long-serving employees the opportunity to retire before reaching the statutory 
age of retirement. As the utilisation of the provision is dependent on the uptake of this opportunity by employees, and the timing of 
their decision to do so, the provision is determined using actuarial assumptions. 
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24 Provisions continued
Employees within XTB receive long service payment awards for 10 years or more of service. As the amount and timing of utilisation 
of this provision is based on estimates of the number of employees likely to stay with the Group in excess of 10 years, which is outside 
the Group’s control, there is an element of uncertainty surrounding this provision.

The other provisions include other personnel related provisions, being provisions for profit sharing, retention bonuses, gratuities and 
leave encashment, provisions for archiving required under banking regulations, technology and communications, consultancy, and, 
in the prior year, a tax reimbursement due to one of the minority shareholders and VAT provisions due to changes in regulations. 
The majority of these other provisions are expected to be utilised within a year other than the provision for archiving, which relates 
to a requirement under German banking regulations, whereby records must be archived for a minimum of 10 years. 

25 Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (2007: 28%) 
for differences arising in the UK and 32% (2007: 31-32%) for those arising in Germany.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legal right of offset and there is intention to settle the balance net. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Assets   
Retirement benefit obligation      9,009 7,643
Tax losses       9 168
Decelerated tax depreciation      1,800 577
Share-based payments      3,116 4,128
Put option       99 –
other       6,010 4,378

       20,043 16,894

Liabilities   
Retirement benefit asset      (114) (1,724)
Accelerated tax depreciation      (3,541) (1,439)
Put option       (294) (604)
other       (1,717) (1,070)

       (5,666) (4,837)

The Group has recognised all deferred tax assets in 2008, with the exception of deferred tax assets arising in one subsidiary company, 
which has been loss-making in the past. The unrecognised deferred tax assets for this company amount to £2,789,000 (2007: £4,226,000) 
in respect of tax losses carried forward and £877,000 (2007: £799,000) in respect of decelerated tax depreciation and other temporary 
differences. These assets have not been recognised due to the uncertainty of future suitable taxable profits within this company. 
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25 Deferred tax continued
The movement in the net deferred tax position is as follows:

    Retirement  Accelerated Share- 
    benefit Tax tax based Convertible Put  
    obligation losses depreciation payments debt option Other Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007    10,861 1,586 (798) 2,430 591 (858) (12) 13,800
Recognised on business combinations  129 – – – – – 326 455
(Charged)/credited to the income statement (1,489) (1,418) 26 200 (698) 207 702 (2,470)
(Charged)/credited to equity   (4,082) – – 1,498 107 47 94 (2,336)
Transfers for tax reimbursement   121 – – – – – 2,090 2,211
Exchange adjustments   380 – (90) – – – 107 397

At 31 December 2007   5,920 168 (862) 4,128 – (604) 3,307 12,057
Recognised on business combinations  – – (204) – – – – (204)
Fair value adjustments relating to prior year  
business combinations (note 35)  – – 948 – – – 112 1,060
(Charged)/credited to the income statement (827) (159) (1,345) 583 – 401 784 (563)
Credited/(charged) to equity   2,596 – – (1,595) – – (382) 619
Exchange adjustments   1,206 – (278) – – 8 472 1,408

At 31 December 2008   8,895 9 (1,741) 3,116 – (195) 4,293 14,377

26 Called up share capital
With effect from 30 April 2007, Xchanging plc became the legal parent company of the Xchanging Group, by exchanging 
174.3 million shares for 100% of the shares of Xchanging BV. As this was accounted for as a reverse acquisition under IFRS 3, 
prior to 30 April 2007, the share capital in the consolidated financial statements is that of Xchanging BV.

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Authorised share capital of Xchanging plc  
350,000,000 ordinary shares of 5p each     17,500 17,500

        2008 
Allotted, called up and fully paid       Number

Xchanging plc ordinary shares of 5p each at 1 January 2008      214,799,304
Exercise of share options       4,669,483

Total number of ordinary Xchanging plc shares at 31 December 2008     219,468,787

Total nominal value (£’000)         10,973
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26 Called up share capital continued
Increase in allotted share capital – 2008
4,669,483 share options were exercised during 2008 for cash consideration of £3,165,000.

   Number  Number Exchange  
   of BV shares at  of BV shares at to plc shares at  
Allotted, called up and fully paid  1 January 2007 Issued 30 April 2007 30 April 2007

All BV shares nominal value 0.01 Euro     
Convertible preference class A shares  19,600,000 – 19,600,000 78,400,000
Convertible preference class B shares  4,826,255 – 4,826,255 19,305,020
Convertible preference class D shares  1,818,181 – 1,818,181 7,272,724
Convertible preference class E shares  1,895,020 1,363,636 3,258,656 13,034,624
Common class A shares  1,785,714 – 1,785,714 6,000,000
Common class C shares  1,785,715 – 1,785,715 4
Common class F shares  – 1,215,766 1,215,766 4,863,064
Common shares   4,900,485 1,262,521 6,163,006 24,652,024
Scheme shares A   937,500 – 937,500 3,750,000
Scheme shares B   126,000 – 126,000 504,000
Class G shares   73,537 – 73,537 16,546,948

All Xchanging plc ordinary shares nominal value 5p    
Total number of Xchanging plc ordinary shares at 30 April 2007    174,328,408
Shares issued for cash on initial public offering    31,250,000
Exercise of share options     9,220,896

Total number of ordinary Xchanging plc shares at 31 December 2007    214,799,304

Total nominal value (£’000)     10,740

Increase in allotted share capital – 2007
In advance of the initial public offering Xchanging BV issued 1,215,766 common class F shares to various members of senior 
management for £6,444,000 consideration, General Atlantic LLC converted their loan note (note 29) in exchange for 
1,363,636 convertible preference class E shares, BAE Systems exercised its warrant over 772,019 common shares in exchange 
for consideration of £444,000 and $2,212,000 and various employees exercised options over 490,502 common shares in exchange 
for £1,550,000 consideration.

Upon the initial public offering, all the shares in Xchanging BV were exchanged for ordinary shares in Xchanging plc with the exchange 
ratio dependent on the class of share. An additional 31,250,000 Xchanging plc ordinary shares were issued at £2.40 each in exchange 
for £75 million consideration. 

Subsequent to the initial public offering, 9,220,896 share options were exercised during 2007 for cash consideration of £5,403,000. 

Share rights
All Xchanging plc ordinary shares carry equal share rights. Xchanging BV shares carried differing rights depending on the class of share 
but these rights are no longer relevant.
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26 Called up share capital continued
Share options
At 30 April 2007, as part of the share for share exchange, all options in Xchanging BV were exchanged for options over Xchanging plc 
shares. Approved and unapproved options were exchanged at the ratio of 4:1, whilst G share options were exchanged at the ratio of 
225.11:1. Option exercise prices were adjusted accordingly, with all other terms and conditions remaining the same.

At 31 December 2008 options over 8,708,740 shares were outstanding (2007: 13,490,655 shares). Options over 4,669,483 shares 
were exercised in 2008 (2007: 11,182,904 Xchanging plc equivalent shares). 

The number of shares subject to options, the periods in which they were granted and the periods in which they may be exercised are given 
below. For comparative purposes, all share numbers and exercise prices reflected below are stated on an Xchanging plc equivalent basis.

 Approved options  Unapproved options  G share options

   Number WAEP* pence Number WAEP* pence Number WAEP* pence

At 1 January 2007   3,603,816  75.48 13,925,732  80.79 4,347,976  14.42 
Movements during 2007      
 – options granted  609,342  135.07 3,305,165  146.32 – – 
 – options exercised  (2,554,784)  72.49 (6,189,868)  78.40 (2,438,252) 9.61 
 – options forfeited  (245,644)  121.32 (617,816)  129.51 (255,012)  14.59 

At 31 December 2007  1,412,730  100.42 10,423,213  100.53 1,654,712  21.51 
Movements during 2008      
 – options granted  12,158 246.75 142,399 274.14 – –
 – options exercised  (151,932) 97.11 (3,037,687) 88.46 (1,479,864) 22.30
 – options forfeited  (77,920) 127.48 (149,213) 132.50 (39,856) 32.23

At 31 December 2008  1,195,036 100.56 7,378,712 108.20 134,992 9.65

*Weighted average exercise price

    Approved options Unapproved options G share options

Range of exercise prices:   
2008    33.20p – 277.00p 33.20p – 280.80p 9.65p
2007    33.20p – 277.00p 33.20p – 277.00p 9.57p – 32.23p
   

Weighted average remaining contractual life:   
2008    2,483 days 2,329 days 1,944 days
2007    2,811 days 2,866 days 2,440 days

Number of options exercisable at:   
31 December 2008   434,524 4,370,160 134,992
31 December 2007     581,456 4,434,980 1,654,712
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27 Share-based payment plans
The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based payment plans as follows:

(i) Share options
Options are granted with a fixed exercise price at the date of grant. The contractual life of an option is 10 years. Awards are granted 
to Directors and employees on a merit basis, and are subject to continuous employment. Options granted become exercisable on the 
third anniversary of the date of grant, and are valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The Group has no legal or constructive 
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. For comparative purposes, all share prices reflected below are stated on an 
Xchanging plc equivalent basis. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

General assumptions       
Vesting period (years)       3
Option life (years)       10
Expected life (years)       3.25
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield (%)     1
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)     20
Risk-free interest rate (%)       3.8 – 4.7

       2008 2007

Weighted average share price at grant date (pence)    272.24 143.04
Weighted average exercise price (pence)  
 – approved options      246.75 135.07
 – unapproved options      274.14 146.32
Weighted average fair value of options granted in the period (pence)  
 – approved options      59.00 30.57
 – unapproved options      62.22 33.04
Expected volatility (%)      27 – 28 24 – 26

There were no grants of options over G shares during 2008 or 2007.

As limited historical volatility exists for Xchanging, the expected volatility is based on historical volatility of a peer group of companies 
over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. The risk-free rate of return is the yield on 
zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. A reconciliation of option movements over 
the year to 31 December 2008 is in note 26. 

The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised over the year was £2.46 per share (2007: £2.86). The total 
charge for the year relating to employee share-based payments under the share option plans was £548,000 (2007: £622,000), 
all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. £106,000 of the 2007 charge was classified as exceptional 
as it related to accelerated charges due to early exercises as a result of the IPO. 
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27 Share-based payment plans continued
(ii) Performance Share Plan (PSP)
Awards have been granted under the Performance Share Plan to Executive Directors and certain members of Xchanging’s management 
group. Under the terms of the scheme, conditional awards of shares are granted, which will vest at the end of the three year 
performance period. Both basic and stretch awards have been granted, the proportion of each award that will vest is dependent 
on the performance of the Company’s total shareholder return (TSR) as compared with the performance of its comparator group 
(defined as the constituents of the FTSE 250 index excluding investment trusts) and on the attainment of an EPS growth underpin. 
25% of the basic awards will vest if TSR is at a median position and 100% if TSR is in the upper quartile. In between these positions, 
the basic award will vest on a straight-line basis. The stretch award will also vest on a straight-line basis, with 0% vesting if TSR is at 
an upper quartile position, up to 100% if TSR is in the top decile. The EPS underpin is the UK RPI plus 3%. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the awards in cash.

Awards are granted to Directors and employees on a merit basis, and are subject to continuous employment over the length of the 
vesting period. Awards granted vest three years from the date of the award and are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. 
The Monte Carlo simulation model used for valuing PSP awards with a TSR performance condition requires additional assumptions. 
A single co-efficient assumption of 32% (based on historical analysis) has been used in the current year, representing the level of 
correlation of growth in TSR between the comparator companies simulated in the model. The three year historical volatility for each 
company in the comparator group at grant date has been analysed and this historical volatility has been used in the model to project 
TSR for each company. As limited historical volatility exists for Xchanging, the expected volatility for the Group is based on historical 
volatility of a peer group of companies over the last three years. The fair value per award granted and the assumptions used as inputs 
into the model are as follows:

General assumptions 
Vesting period (years)       3.00 – 3.14
Expected life (years)       3.00 – 3.14
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield (%)     1
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)     20
Expected volatility (%)       28
Risk-free interest rate (%)       4.02 – 4.05
Weighted average share price at grant date (£)       2.59
Weighted average fair value at grant date (£)      1.36

Movements during 2008 

 – awards granted       5,186,288
 – awards forfeited       (194,254)

At 31 December 2008       4,992,034 

The total charge for the year relating to the PSP, including social security on the awards, is £1,765,000 (2007: £nil). 

(iii) Share Purchase Plan 2007 (SPP)
The Group adopted the SPP during 2007, in which Executive Directors and certain members of senior management were invited to 
participate. Under this scheme, set up in February 2007, an employee benefit trust loaned money to the participants in order to allow 
them to purchase class F shares in Xchanging BV at the market value at the time of £5.30 (Xchanging plc equivalent value £1.33). 
These loans are non-interest bearing and the terms and conditions are described further in note 38. Participants may not normally sell, 
transfer or otherwise dispose of the shares awarded under the scheme for a period of 18 months from issue. Shares may now be sold 
on the condition that a pro rata proportion of any loan from the employee benefit trust is repaid. As the shares were granted at the 
fair market value at the time there is no share-based payment charge as a result of this scheme. The share awards are subject to 
continued employment for a period of 18 months from the date of grant although the employee benefit trust may repurchase any 
shares awarded at the current market value for good leavers.
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28 Retained earnings
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

At 1 January       13,661 (10,209)
Retained profit for the financial year     29,155 15,336
Value of employee services attributable to share-based payments    2,131 622
Value of employee services attributable to the CEO’s gift   8 – 1,969
Deferred and current income tax on share-based payments recognised in equity   392 6,477
Other equity movements      – (534)
Dividends paid     14 (4,297) –

At 31 December      41,042 13,661

29 Share premium account
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

At 1 January       73,715 82,589
Premium on shares issued on initial public offering    – 73,437
Premium on shares issued during the year under the share option schemes   2,932 6,488
Premium on shares issued under employee incentive schemes    – 6,544
Premium on shares issued during the year on exercise of warrants    – 1,546
Premium on exchange of convertible loan note into shares    – 13,679
Transactional costs of shares issued     – (4,664)
IFRS 3 reverse acquisition conversion     – (105,904)

At 31 December      76,647 73,715

In January 2004, a Sterling convertible loan note was issued to Rebus Insurance Services Holdings Limited, and was subsequently 
transferred to General Atlantic LLC, on the acquisition of the RebusIS group. The face value of the loan note was £15 million 
on its maturity date of 28 January 2009. Before maturity the loan note could be converted into convertible preference shares in 
Xchanging BV at a price of £11 per share and was secured over such shares. In April 2007, the loan was converted into 1,363,636 
convertible preference class E shares in Xchanging BV. The equity element recognised on inception was transferred to the share 
premium reserve on conversion.

30 Other reserves
    Revaluation Translation Hedging Other  
    reserve reserve reserve reserves Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007   (1,114) 290 – 2,075 1,251
Revaluation of investments   1,969 – – – 1,969
Actuarial gain on pensions   – – – 9,294 9,294
Deferred tax on pensions and revaluations taken to reserves 48 – – (2,680) (2,632)
Conversion of loan note into shares  – – – (249) (249)
Currency translation differences   – 1,399 – – 1,399

At 31 December 2007   903 1,689 – 8,440 11,032
Revaluation of investments   (2,791) – – – (2,791)
Actuarial loss on pensions   – – – (6,099) (6,099)
Deferred tax on pensions and revaluations taken to reserves (195) – – 1,689 1,494
Foreign exchange movement on hedged item  – – 3,208 – 3,208
Currency translation differences   – 9,648 – – 9,648

At 31 December 2008   (2,083) 11,337 3,208 4,030 16,492

_4_XCH_ar08_back.indd   38 31/03/2009   09:50:34



Financial statem
ents and inform

ation
a nnua l  re po rt  a n d  accou n ts  2008

103Xchang ing  p lc

30 Other reserves continued
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve comprises the fair value adjustments and related tax on the available-for-sale assets held by the Group.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises the exchange adjustments arising from translating the results of foreign operations into the Group’s 
presentation currency of Sterling. 

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the amounts taken to equity in respect of a cash flow hedge relating to an amount placed in escrow 
in respect of the Open Offer as part of the Cambridge Solutions Limited acquisition (note 39).

Other reserves
The other reserves comprise the amounts taken to equity in respect of retirement benefit obligations and convertible debt prior 
to its conversion to equity.

31 Movement in shareholders’ equity
       Reverse   
    Share Share Merger acquisition Other Retained Minority  
    capital premium reserve reserve reserves earnings interests Total 
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007    221 82,589 – – 1,251 (10,209) 11,778 85,630
Total recognised income  
and expense for the year   – – – – 10,030 15,336 8,691 34,057
Share-based payments  
 – share options   27 – – – – – 622 – 622
 – CEO’s share gift  8 – – – – – 1,969 – 1,969
Deferred and current  
income tax on share options   – – – – – 6,477 – 6,477
Buy out of minority interests   – – – – – – (3,165) (3,165)
Other equity movements   – – – – – (534) 1,047 513
Shares issued    
 – initial public offering   1,563 73,437 – – – – – 75,000
 – employee share-based payments  472 13,032 – – – – – 13,504
 – exercise of warrants   5 1,546 – – – – – 1,551
 – conversion of loan note   9 13,679 – – (249) – – 13,439
Transactional costs of shares issued  – (4,664) – – – – – (4,664)
Dividends payable    – – – – – – (3,015) (3,015)
IFRS 3 reverse acquisition conversion  8,470 (105,904) 409,672 (312,238) – – – –

At 31 December 2007   10,740 73,715 409,672 (312,238) 11,032 13,661 15,336 221,918
Total recognised income  
and expense for the year   – – – – 5,460 29,155 6,330 40,945
Share-based payments    – –  – – – 2,131 – 2,131
Deferred and current income tax  
on share-based payments   – – – – – 392 – 392
Shares issued         
 – employee share-based payments  233 2,932  – – – – – 3,165
Dividends paid    – – – – – (4,297) (5,874) (10,171)

At 31 December 2008   10,973 76,647 409,672 (312,238) 16,492 41,042 15,792 258,380
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31 Movement in shareholders’ equity continued
Share capital
The balance classed as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 5p ordinary shares.

Share premium
The amount paid to the Company by shareholders over and above the nominal value of the shares issued to them, less the direct costs 
of issuing the shares, is classified as share premium.

Merger reserve and reverse acquisition reserve
The merger and reverse acquisition reserves arise as a result of the share for share exchange undertaken in advance of the initial 
public offering. The merger reserve comprises the excess of the market value of the Xchanging plc shares issued to the Xchanging BV 
shareholders over the nominal value of those shares and arises as a result of the application of merger relief under Section 131 of the 
Companies Act 1985. The reverse acquisition reserve consists of the difference between the market value of the Xchanging plc shares 
issued to the Xchanging BV shareholders and the total share capital and share premium of the Xchanging BV shares.

Other reserves
Composition of the other reserves is described in note 30. 

Retained earnings
These represent the accumulation of the Group’s net profits retained within the business, after the payment of any dividends.

Minority interests
These represent the minority interests’ share in the assets and liabilities of the Enterprise Partnerships.

32 Equity minority interests 
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

At 1 January       15,336 11,778
Minority interests’ share of profit for the year     6,390 5,189
Minority interests’ share of net income directly recognised in equity   (1,994) 3,273
Other equity movements including currency translation differences   1,934 1,276
Buy out of minority interests      – (3,165)
Dividends payable to minority interests     (5,874) (3,015)

At 31 December      15,792 15,336

The profits of the Xchanging Group companies in which the minorities have an interest are not necessarily shared in proportion to the 
shareholding interest in that company as each of the individual Enterprise Partnerships has a distinct contractual method of profit share.
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33 Financial commitments and contingent liabilities
The Group has agreed to acquire 75% of the fully diluted share capital of Cambridge Solutions Limited for total consideration 
of approximately £88 million. This acquisition is expected to complete in April 2009. Refer to note 39 for further details.

At 31 December future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows: 

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Within one year      11,456 9,758
Later than one year but not more than five years     37,749 33,013
Later than five years      19,226 26,612

The Group’s most significant leases are those of the premises at Leadenhall Street, London and in Frankfurt. The London lease expires 
in July 2021 and is subject to a rent review in July 2009. The German lease expires in May 2013.

The Group is contractually obligated to invest amounts, on behalf of the Enterprise Partnerships it has established, in technology 
development and maintenance and in the development of new processes and systems. The total commitment outstanding at 
31 December is presented below as analysed by the period in which the commitment falls due:

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Within one year      6,144 1,015
Later than one year but not more than two years     3,333 1,667
Later than two years but not more than five years    1,667 13,970

       11,144 16,652

In the prior year the Group had a contingent liability in respect of the acquisition of Xchanging Advisory Services Limited (formerly 
Landmark Business Consulting Limited) in 2006, which included an element of deferred contingent consideration, dependent on the 
performance of the business over the period to 31 December 2008. The amount of deferred contingent consideration has now been 
determined based on the 2008 performance and is included as a current financial liability per note 23. 

During 2008 the Group put in place a guarantee covering contributions to one of its pension schemes as part of an agreement 
reached with the scheme’s trustees for funding the scheme at the 2007 actuarial valuation. The guarantee will remain in place 
until 30 April 2017 and will reduce in value in line with contributions paid to the scheme under the agreed contributions schedule. 
the value of the guarantee was £13,369,000 at 31 December 2008. The Group would be required to make contributions to the 
scheme under the guarantee following any of the below occurring:
• an insolvency event of the sponsoring employers of the scheme
•  a failure by the sponsoring employers to make contributions to the scheme under Section 75 or Section 75a of the Pensions Act 1995 
•  a failure by the sponsoring employers to make contributions to the scheme under the agreed contributions schedule within 

15 business days of that payment becoming due. 
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34 Cash generated from operations 
       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Profit before tax      49,166 32,471
Net finance income     11 (2,707) (800)

Operating profit      46,459 31,671
Adjustment for non-cash items:   
 – employee share-based payment charges     2,131 2,591
 – depreciation     17 6,191 5,478
 – amortisation of intangibles    16 11,090 8,299
 – amortisation of pre-contract costs    20 1,434 1,216
 – loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangibles  9 349 (25)
 – write-off of intangibles and property, plant and equipment    136 230

       67,790 49,460
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of business combinations):   
 – increase in trade and other receivables     (1,480) (12,610)
 – increase in payables      5,992 15,913
 – decrease in pensions      (148) (288)
 – decrease in provisions      (2,439) (2,755)

Cash generated from operations     69,715 49,720
 

35 Business combinations
(i) Fondsdepot Bank GmbH (revision)
Due to the proximity to the year end of signing the Fondsdepot Bank GmbH Enterprise Partnership, provisional fair values were 
included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007. In accordance with IFRS 3, the accounting adjustments 
have been finalised in relation to this acquisition and prior year goodwill of £1,445,000 has been revised as stated below. Prior year 
balances have not been restated as the amount of the adjustment is not significant to the Group.

     Acquiree’s    
     carrying Provisional   Final fair  
     amount fair value Adjustments value 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Intangible assets    9,602 9,602 (3,164) 6,438
Property, plant and equipment    646 646 – 646
Deferred income tax assets    – 1,055 1,009 2,064
Held-for-trading financial assets    267 267 – 267
Trade and other receivables    5,728 5,728 – 5,728
Cash and cash equivalents    8,498 8,498 – 8,498
Current tax receivables    121 121 – 121
Retirement benefit obligation    (803) (1,060) – (1,060)
Trade and other payables    (3,625) (3,625) – (3,625)
Provisions     (524) (3,720) – (3,720)
Deferred income tax liabilities    (600) (600) 50 (550)

Net assets acquired    19,310 16,912 (2,105) 14,807

The allocation of projected future cash flows associated with the assets supporting this business have been reassessed during 2008, 
resulting in a reduction in the value attributed to a software asset partially offset by the recognition of customer relationship assets. 
The deferred tax impact of these adjustments has also been recognised.
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35 Business combinations continued
      Provisional   Final fair 
       fair value Adjustments  value 
      £’000 £’000 £’000

Purchase consideration   
 – cash      9,688 (54) 9,634
 – contingent consideration based on the Phoenix provision   (1,281) – (1,281)
 – put option liability     9,483 463 9,946
 – costs of acquisition     467 – 467

Total purchase consideration     18,357 409 18,766
Fair value of net assets acquired (see above)    (16,912) 2,105 (14,807)

Goodwill      1,445 2,514 3,959

(ii) Xchanging Procurement Services (France) SA (formerly Mercuris SA)
On 1 January 2008, XUK Holdco (No 2) Ltd, a company within the Xchanging Group, acquired 100% of the equity of Mercuris SA, 
a procurement services provider based in Paris. The total consideration for the acquisition was £5,085,000. Costs directly associated 
with the acquisition totalled £391,000.

The acquired business contributed revenue of £3,006,000 and profit after tax of £242,000 to the Group for the period from 
acquisition to 31 December 2008. 

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

        £’000

Costs of acquisition – consideration      5,085
Costs of acquisition – fees       391

Total purchase consideration       5,476
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below)      (669)

Goodwill        4,807

Goodwill represents the fair value of the assembled workforce at the time of the acquisition and other potential future 
benefits anticipated to be derived from the integration of services offered by Mercuris SA with existing product and service 
offerings from Xchanging.

The book and fair values of the assets and liabilities as at 1 January 2008 are set out below:

       Acquiree’s  
       carrying  
       amount Fair value  
       £’000 £’000

Intangible assets      – 618
Property, plant and equipment      10 10
Trade and other receivables      552 552
Cash and cash equivalents      627 627
Trade and other payables      (845) (845)
Current income tax liabilities      (90) (90)
Deferred income tax liabilities      – (203)

Net assets acquired      254 669
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36 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of pension plans for its qualifying employees. The principal plans are three defined benefit schemes 
in the UK and two defined benefit schemes in Germany. With the exception of one scheme in Germany, the defined benefit schemes 
are funded and assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. For the Fondsdepot Bank scheme, there is no separate 
Contractual Trust Agreement which is in line with many German companies’ schemes. As a result, pension liabilities are fully 
recognised on the balance sheet as a retirement benefit obligation with pension assets being integrated with the business assets.
The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer defined benefit schemes and operates a number of defined contribution 
schemes. The Group introduced a salary sacrifice arrangement during 2008 for members of certain schemes.

(i) Defined benefit schemes
The disclosures below relate to post-retirement benefit plans in the UK and Germany which are accounted for as defined benefit plans 
in accordance with IAS 19. The valuations used for the IAS 19 disclosures are based on the most recent actuarial valuations undertaken 
by independent qualified actuaries and updated to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the funding position 
of the plans at 31 December each year. Plan assets are shown at the bid value at 31 December each year.

Financial assumptions
The assumptions used by the actuaries are chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the long-term nature 
of the schemes, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. These assumptions are as follows:

   2008  2007 

     UK Germany UK Germany 
     % % % %

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries   3.80 2.50  4.10  2.50 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 5%)  2.70 n/a  3.00  n/a 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (fixed 5%)  5.00 n/a  5.00  n/a 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 2.5%)  2.00 n/a  2.10  n/a 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment   n/a 2.00  n/a  2.00 
Rate of increase in deferred pensions   2.80 2.00 3.10  2.00 
Discount rate     6.40 5.75  5.90  5.50 
Inflation assumption    2.80 2.00  3.10  2.00 
Long-term rate of return expected at 31 December  n/a 5.00  n/a  5.00 
 – equities     7.30 n/a  8.00  n/a 
 – gilts     3.80 n/a  4.50  n/a 
 – bonds     6.40 n/a  5.90  n/a 
Expected return on plan assets    5.10 – 5.98 5.00  5.50 – 6.58  5.00 

To develop the assumption around the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Group considered the current level of expected 
returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset 
classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class 
was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return assumption for the portfolio. 

The post-retirement mortality tables used for the schemes are based on country-specific mortality tables, namely the PA 00 series in 
the UK (based on year of birth with a scaling factor of 110% (2007: 130%) and with allowance for medium cohort improvements) 
and Richtaffeln 2005 G, Heubeck-Richtaffeln GmbH, Köln 2005 in Germany. The table below illustrates life expectancy assumptions 
at age 65 for current pensioners and for future pensioners aged 45 at the accounting date:

   2008  2007 

     UK Germany UK Germany 
     years years years years

Male current pensioner    21.0 18.0 19.7 17.4
Male future pensioner    22.2 23.9 20.9 23.7
Female current pensioner    23.3 22.1 22.0 22.0
Female future pensioner    24.3 28.0 23.0 27.9
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36 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Amounts recognised in the financial statements in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet is:

 2008    2007 

   UK Germany Total UK Germany Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities   32,786 2,325 35,111 41,483 2,301 43,784
Bonds and gilts  33,107 47,113 80,220 33,135 38,409 71,544
Property   2,834 – 2,834 3,658 – 3,658
Cash   22 6,962 6,984 485 7,240 7,725
other   4,067 5,927 9,994 484 – 484

Fair value of plan assets  72,816 62,327 135,143 79,245 47,950 127,195
Present value of funded obligation (87,319) (66,004) (153,323) (85,573) (50,300) (135,873)

Net deficit recognised  
in the balance sheet  (14,503) (3,677) (18,180) (6,328) (2,350) (8,678)

The net deficit of £18,180,000 (2007: £8,678,000) at 31 December 2008 comprises £407,000 retirement benefit asset in respect 
of one of the schemes and £18,587,000 retirement benefit obligation (2007: £6,158,000 and £14,836,000 respectively).

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

 2008    2007 

   UK Germany Total UK Germany Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current service cost  (1,576) (1,030) (2,606) (1,711) (1,018) (2,729)
Interest cost   (5,312) (2,909) (8,221) (4,746) (2,398) (7,144)
Expected return on plan assets  5,384 2,583 7,967 4,715 2,325 7,040

Total included within staff costs (1,504) (1,356) (2,860) (1,742) (1,091) (2,833)

Included within:       
 – cost of sales  (1,576) (1,030) (2,606) (1,711) (1,018) (2,729)
 – finance costs  72 (326) (254) (31) (73) (104)

   (1,504) (1,356) (2,860) (1,742) (1,091) (2,833)

The total amounts for the defined benefit schemes credited/(charged) to the statement of recognised income and expense are as follows:

 2008    2007 

   UK Germany Total UK Germany Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Actuarial (losses)/gains  (10,275) 881 (9,394) 11,541 2,560 14,101
Exchange adjustments  – (855) (855) – (245) (245)

   (10,275) 26 (10,249) 11,541 2,315 13,856

Cumulative amounts recognised 5,876 2,267 8,143 16,151 2,241 18,392
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36 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Analysis of the movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
 2008    2007 

   UK Germany Total UK Germany Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value at 1 January*  (89,146) (50,300) (139,446) (91,602) (50,250) (141,852)
Acquired in the year  – – – – (1,060) (1,060)
Current service cost  (1,576) (1,030) (2,606) (1,711) (1,018) (2,729)
Interest cost   (5,312) (2,909) (8,221) (4,746) (2,398) (7,144)
Actuarial gains   7,475 1,819 9,294 11,699 7,016 18,715
Plan participants contributions paid (649) 3 (646) (641) – (641)
Benefits paid   1,889 2,479 4,368 1,428 1,853 3,281
Exchange adjustments   – (16,066) (16,066) – (4,443) (4,443)

Present value at 31 December (87,319) (66,004) (153,323) (85,573) (50,300) (135,873)

* Value of defined benefit obligation in UK as at 1 January 2008 stated as grossed up for insured pensioners (see below).   

Analysis of the movement in the fair value of the plan assets
 2008    2007 

   UK Germany Total UK Germany Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1 January*  82,818 47,950 130,768 72,215 47,736 119,951
Expected return on plan assets  5,384 2,583 7,967 4,715 2,325 7,040
Actuarial losses  (17,750) (938) (18,688) (158) (4,456) (4,614)
Employer contributions paid  3,604 – 3,604 3,260 – 3,260
Plan participants contributions paid 649 – 649 641 – 641
Benefits paid   (1,889) (2,479) (4,368) (1,428) (1,853) (3,281)
Exchange adjustments  – 15,211 15,211 – 4,198 4,198

Fair value at 31 December  72,816 62,327 135,143 79,245 47,950 127,195

Actual return on plan assets  (12,366) 1,645 (10,721) 4,557 (2,131) 2,426

* Value of plan assets in UK as at 1 January 2008 stated as grossed up for insured pensioners (see below).    

The assets and liabilities at 31 December 2008 for the UK include £3,531,000 in relation to pensioner members of the London 
Processing Centre Ltd Retirement and Death Benefits Scheme who have insurance policies held in respect of their benefits. In previous 
years the policy has been to exclude amounts in relation to these members from both the assets and liabilities. The opening positions 
in the reconciliations for 2008 shown above also include the value of these insurance policies (£3,573,000).
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36 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Historical information of experience adjustments on plan assets and liabilities
The historical information below has been presented in relation to the schemes from the later of 1 January 2004, or the date the 
scheme was acquired by the Group.

    2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

UK      

Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)  72,816 79,245 72,215 65,406 56,002
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (87,319) (85,573) (91,602) (93,260) (83,460)

Net liability recognised (£’000)   (14,503) (6,328) (19,387) (27,854) (27,458)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:      
 – amount (£’000)   (17,750) (158) 1,993 4,943 1,851
 – percentage of scheme assets  (24%) (0%) 3% 8% 3%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:      
 – amount (£’000)   709 3,976 234 1,122 (237)
 – percentage of scheme liabilities  1% 5% 0% 1% (0%)

Germany      
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)  62,327 47,950 47,736 50,928 45,286
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (66,004) (50,300) (50,250) (51,586) (45,713)

Net liability recognised (£’000)   (3,677) (2,350) (2,514) (658) (427)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:      
 – amount (£’000)   (938) (4,456) (3,362) 4,717 2,894
 – percentage of scheme assets  (2%) (9%) (7%) 9% 6%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:      
 – amount (£’000)   268 1,752 200  –  –
 – percentage of scheme liabilities  0% 3% 0% – –

Total      
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)  135,143 127,195 119,951 116,334 101,288
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000) (153,323) (135,873) (141,852) (144,846) (129,173)

Net liability recognised (£’000)   (18,180) (8,678) (21,901) (28,512) (27,885)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:      
 – amount (£’000)   (18,688) (4,614) (1,369) 9,660 4,745
 – percentage of scheme assets  (14%) (4%) (1%) 8% 5%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:      
 – amount (£’000)   977 5,728 434 1,122 (237)
 – percentage of scheme liabilities  1% 4% 0% 1% (0%)

It is expected that the contributions to the schemes during 2009 will be £4,124,000 for the UK schemes and £nil for the German 
schemes. The actuarial valuations for one of the Group’s UK defined benefit schemes is currently in progress and future contribution 
requirements to this scheme are due to be agreed during 2009.

_4_XCH_ar08_back.indd   47 31/03/2009   09:50:36



annual  report  and  ac counts  2008

112 Xc ha n g i n g  p lc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

36 Retirement benefit obligations continued
(ii) BAE Systems defined benefit schemes
The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer defined benefit schemes run for the employees of BAE Systems.

The terms on which the Group participates in these schemes were set in commercial agreements reached with BAE Systems during 2006. 
Under the terms of these agreements, the contributions payable by the Group represent the cost of accrual of future service benefits 
and the Group’s share of the deficit contributions made by BAE Systems to the schemes only (not including any one-off contributions 
made by BAE Systems during 2006). The contributions are expressed as fixed percentages of pensionable payroll. The Group’s 
contribution rates to the schemes are contractually fixed and will only be affected by changes to the cost of accrual of future service 
benefits, as determined at the triennial valuations of the schemes. The Group’s contribution rates are not affected by any future 
changes in the past service position of the schemes, relating to past service of its own employees or other members of the scheme. 

It is not possible to identify the Group’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the schemes on a consistent and reasonable 
basis. Accordingly, the Group accounts for contributions to the schemes as if they were defined contribution schemes under IAS 19.

The pension cost that was charged to the income statement relating to current year contributions was £960,000 (2007: £994,000).

(iii) The Corporation of Lloyd’s pension schemes
Until 30 June 2007 the Group participated in a multi-employer defined benefit scheme operated by the Corporation of Lloyd’s (Lloyd’s). 
The terms on which the Group participated in the scheme were set in commercial agreements reached with Lloyd’s during 2001. 
the Group’s contribution rate was set in relation to the cost of accrual of future service benefits only. No past service costs were 
suffered by the Group as these were borne by Lloyd’s. The Group’s contributions were not affected by any surplus or deficit in the 
scheme relating to the past service of its own employees or other members of the scheme.

Also, it was not possible to identify the Group’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. Accordingly, the Group accounted for contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme 
under IAS 19.

The Group’s participation in the Lloyd’s defined benefit scheme ceased from 30 June 2007. No final payment to the Lloyd’s scheme was 
required by the Group on exit. The Group has implemented its own replacement defined benefit scheme with effect from 1 July 2007 
and the disclosures in relation to this scheme are included in the disclosures for the UK defined benefit schemes. There was no transfer 
of past service liabilities into the new defined benefit scheme.

The Group also participated in defined contribution schemes operated by Lloyd’s. The pension cost that was charged to the income 
statement for the year relating to current year contributions to the Lloyd’s pension schemes was £nil (2007: £1,394,000).

(iv) Xchanging Group defined contribution schemes
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution schemes for the employees of various subsidiary companies of Xchanging plc. 
Pension costs for the Group that were charged to the income statement for the year relating to current year contributions were 
£6,178,000 (2007: £4,016,000).
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37 IFRS 7 sensitivity analysis
The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the income statement and equity of 
either an instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in market interest rates or a 10% strengthening or weakening 
in Sterling against all material currencies (Euro, US Dollar and Indian rupee) for each class of financial instrument with all other 
variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis excludes the impact of market risks on net post-employment benefit obligations. 
This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation. The sensitivity analysis is based 
on the following assumptions:

Interest rate risk
• changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of variable interest financial instruments
•  changes in market interest rates only affect interest income or expense in relation to financial instruments with fixed interest rates 

if these are recognised at their fair value.

Under these assumptions, a 1% increase or decrease in market interest rates would decrease or increase profit before tax by approximately 
£800,000 (2007: £500,000). The impact on equity before tax would be £600,000 if the rate increased (2007: £400,000) or decreased 
(2007: £800,000).

Foreign exchange risk
•  material entities reporting in foreign currencies and material foreign currency financial instruments within Sterling reporting 

entities have been included.

With a 10% strengthening or weakening of Sterling against all material currencies (Euro, US Dollar and Indian Rupee), profit 
before tax would have decreased by approximately £1,000,000 (2007: £300,000) or increased by £1,200,000 (2007: £400,000), 
respectively, and equity would have decreased by approximately £4,700,000 (2007: £3,000,000) or increased by £5,800,000 
(2007: £3,700,000) respectively.

Fair value sensitivity analysis
This fair value sensitivity analysis expresses information about changes in fair values of financial instruments for the year end. 
The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-looking estimates of market risk assuming certain adverse market 
conditions occur. Actual results in the future may vary materially from those projected results due to developments in the global 
financial markets. These may cause fluctuations in interest and exchange rates to vary from hypothetical amounts disclosed in the 
following table, which therefore should not be considered a projection of likely future events and losses.

The estimated changes in fair values of financial liabilities which affect equity are set out in the table below:

      Fair value changes arising from:

      Carrying 1% 10%  
      value at fall in weakening  
      31 December interest rates in Sterling 
     Note £’000 £’000 £’000

2008    
Borrowings     23 (276) – –
Other financial liabilities    23 (24,119) (602) (1,685)

2007    
Borrowings     23 (1,511) – (47)
Other financial liabilities    23 (17,865) (777) (1,127)

Credit risk
Details of the Group’s credit risk policies and exposures are presented in note 3. An analysis of all debts which are past due 
is included in note 20.

Price risk
The Group’s investments, classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are publicly traded. A 5% increase or decrease in the 
market value of the Group’s investments would have a £1,300,000 impact on equity (2007: £1,200,000) and no impact on 
the income statement.
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38 Related party transactions
The following companies are considered to be related parties of the Group as they hold minority shareholdings in a number of the 
subsidiaries of Xchanging plc.

The Corporation of Lloyd’s held a 25% interest in Ins-sure Holdings Limited and a 50% interest in Xchanging Claims Services Limited 
for the full year ended 31 December 2008. Some of the directors of Xchanging Claims Services Limited are employees of the 
Corporation of Lloyd’s. The emoluments of these directors were borne by the Corporation of Lloyd’s. 

The International Underwriting Association held a 25% interest in Ins-sure Holdings Limited for the full year ended 31 December 2008. 

Deutsche Bank AG held a 44% interest in Xchanging etb GmbH for the full year ended 31 December 2008. Some of the directors of 
Xchanging etb GmbH are employees of Deutsche Bank AG. The emoluments of these directors were borne by Deutsche Bank AG.

Aon Limited held a 50% interest in Xchanging Broking Services Limited for the full year ended 31 December 2008. Some of the 
directors of Xchanging Broking Services Limited are employees of Aon Limited. The emoluments of these directors were borne 
by Aon Limited. 

Allianz Global Investors Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH held a 49% interest in Fondsdepot Bank GmbH for the full year ended 
31 December 2008.

A description of the nature of the services provided to/from these companies by/to the Group and the amount receivable/(payable) 
in respect of each at 31 December, are set out in the table below:

     Year end  
   Sales/(purchases)  receivables/(payables)

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
Services provided by/to the Group    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Securities processing services    96,856 68,684 2,756 6,103
Processing, expert and data services   35,327 35,642 1,318 1,929
Property charges    994 1,097 – 277
IT costs, premises, divisional corporate charges  
and other services in support of operating activities  (28,847) (27,654) (7,528) (3,318)
Operating systems, development, premises  
and other services in support of operating activities  (420) (486) (82) (134)
Desktop, hosting, telecommunications,  
accommodation and processing services   (3,741) (6,127) (2,057) (961)
Current accounts    – – 2,619 760

By virtue of a significant shareholding, giving right of representation on the Board, General Atlantic LLC is a related party of the Group. 
Until 30 April 2007, General Atlantic LLC was the holder of a £15,000,000 non-interest bearing convertible loan note issued following 
the acquisition of the RebusIS group. This loan was recorded in the balance sheet at its fair value, having been discounted at the 
market rate of 6.95% on the date of issue. Before maturity the loan could be converted into convertible preference shares in 
Xchanging BV at a price of £11 per share and was secured over such shares. In April 2007, the loan was converted into 1,363,636 
convertible preference class E shares in Xchanging BV. 

Transactions with Directors and key management
The compensation disclosure below relates to the Xchanging plc Directors and key senior managers within the Group, who constitute 
the people having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Group’s activities.

       2008 2007 
Key management compensation (including Directors)     £’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits      6,662 6,275
Post-employment benefits      102 82
Share-based payments      597 189

       7,361 6,546

Further information regarding Xchanging plc Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 58 
to 64 which forms part of these financial statements.

The total gain made by Directors during the year from the exercise of share options was £581,000 (2007: £646,000).
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38 Related party transactions continued
During the prior year, loans were provided by the Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust to a number of employees including Directors 
and key management personnel to enable them to purchase shares in Xchanging BV (these shares have been subsequently exchanged 
for shares in Xchanging plc). The loans are non-interest bearing and become repayable on the earlier of the cessation of employment, 
transfer or disposal of the shares, acceptance of another loan from the Group to refinance the shares and 31 December 2011. 
The Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust has a call option over the shares until the loans are repaid in full.

The balances due from the Directors and key management and the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements are:

   2008  2007

     Balance Carrying Balance Carrying  
     outstanding amount outstanding amount  
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

S Beard     1,590 1,590 1,590 1,531
A Browne     663 663 663 638
M Bruno     424 424 424 408
C Buesnel     530 530 530 510
R Houghton     663 663 663 638
M Margetts     398 398 398 383
D Rich-Jones     1,325 1,325 1,325 1,276

     5,593 5,593 5,593 5,384

39 Events after the balance sheet date
On 3 October 2008, Xchanging plc agreed to acquire 75% of the fully diluted share capital of Cambridge Solutions Limited, an 
international BPO and IT services provider with a global presence through offices in eight countries, including India, the US and 
Australia. Cambridge Solutions Limited is listed on the Bombay, National, Madras and Ahmedabad stock exchanges. This will be 
achieved via agreements reached between Xchanging and the three major shareholders of Cambridge Solutions Limited. In compliance 
with Indian law and as a consequence of these agreements, Xchanging are required to make an Open Offer to acquire up to 20% of 
the fully diluted voting share capital of Cambridge Solutions Limited. The total proportion of shares to be acquired under the agreements 
and the Open Offer is 75% of the fully diluted share capital, the proportion of which to be acquired under the agreements will depend 
on the take up under the Open Offer.

The Open Offer to the public will be open between 25 February 2009 and 16 March 2009, and will complete on 31 March 2009. 
The sale of shares under the share purchase agreements is expected to complete on 2 April 2009, the acquisition completion date. 
However, pursuant to the terms of the sales and purchase agreements entered into, certain rights are assumed by Xchanging plc in 
advance of the final completion date. A number of these rights can be enacted from 1 January 2009, and therefore it is from this date 
that the power of operational control is considered to have passed, and the date from which Cambridge Solutions Limited’s results will 
be consolidated by the Group. David Andrews and Richard Houghton were appointed to the Board of Cambridge Solutions Limited 
on 12 January 2009.

The total consideration for the acquisition is expected to be approximately £88 million. The consideration will be settled through 
the payment of INR 3,712 million in cash (estimated as £52 million at the year end exchange rate), and the issue of 15,249,998 
Xchanging plc shares (estimated as £36 million at the year end share price). An amount of £25,502,000 has been placed in an 
escrow account pending completion of the Open Offer and is therefore restricted in its use (note 21).

Due to the proximity of the assumption of control in relation to the signing of the year end accounts, the Directors are of the 
opinion that it is impracticable to provide detailed disclosure in relation to this acquisition.
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We have audited the parent company financial statements of 
Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which 
comprise the balance sheet, the cash flow statement and the 
related notes. These parent company financial statements have 
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 
We have also audited the information in the Directors’ 
remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements 
of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report, 
the Directors’ remuneration report and the parent company 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the 
statement of Directors’ responsibilities within the Directors’ report.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared 
for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company 
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the 
parent company financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information 
given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the parent 
company financial statements. The information given in the 
Directors’ report includes that specific information that is cross 
referred to in the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration 
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained within the annual 
report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
parent company financial statements. The other information 
comprises only the Chairman’s statement, the business review, 
corporate social responsibility and our people and governance. 
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with 
the parent company financial statements. Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent 
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment 
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 
Directors in the preparation of the parent company financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to 
be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion 
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the parent company financial statements and 
the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
•  the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 

accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2008 

•  the parent company financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985

•  the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent 
with the parent company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
2 March 2009

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Xchanging plc (Company)
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       2008 2007 
      note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets   
Investments      5 12,086 10,188

        12,086 10,188
   

Current assets   
Debtors due within one year     6 100,942 64,426
Cash at bank and in hand      4,219 30,252

        105,161 94,678
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year    7 (4,635) (6,302)

Net current assets      100,526 88,376

Net assets       112,612 98,564

Capital and reserves   
Called up share capital     8 10,973 10,740
Share premium account     9 76,647 73,715
Profit and loss reserve     9 24,992 14,109

Total shareholders’ funds     10 112,612 98,564

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2009 and signed on its behalf by: 

D W Andrews R A H Houghton
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2008
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities    (3,262) 1,071

Returns on investments and servicing of finance   
Interest received      1,057 1,152
Interest paid       (319) –

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance   738 1,152

Acquisitions   
Acquisition of minority interests      – (47,710)
Loan to subsidiary undertaking for future acquisition    (22,377) –

Net cash outflow for acquisitions     (22,377) (47,710)

Equity dividends paid to shareholders     (4,297) –

Financing   
Proceeds from issue of shares      3,165 80,403
Transaction costs of shares issued     – (4,664)

Net cash inflow from financing      3,165 75,739

Net (decrease)/increase in cash     (26,033) 30,252
Cash at 1 January      30,252 –

Cash at 31 December      4,219 30,252

   
 
  

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities   

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Operating loss from continuing activities     (1,495) (2,575)
Share-based payment expense      226 1,969
Increase in debtors      (448) (4,165)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors      (1,545) 5,842

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from continuing operating activities   (3,262) 1,071

   
 
  

Analysis of net funds   

      at  At 
      1 January  31 December 
      2008 Cash flow 2008  
      £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash      30,252 (26,033) 4,219
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1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 1985 and applicable Accounting Standards 
in the United Kingdom. A summary of the more important 
accounting policies, which have been applied consistently with 
the prior year, is set out below.

No profit and loss account or statement of total recognised gains 
and losses has been presented by the Company as permitted by 
Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available 
to parent companies under paragraph 3C of FRS 25, “Financial 
instruments: Disclosure and presentation” not to provide the 
information otherwise required by paragraphs 51 to 95 of the 
standard, as the Group’s consolidated financial statements, in 
which the Company is included, provides equivalent disclosures 
under IFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures”.

(i) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards. 

(ii) Going concern
The Directors believe that preparing the financial statements 
on the going concern basis is appropriate based on projections 
for the foreseeable future.

(iii) Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less any provision for 
impairment. Impairment reviews are conducted at the end of the 
first full year following acquisition and thereafter where indicators 
of impairment are present. As permitted by Section 133 of the 
Companies Act 1985, cost is the aggregate of the nominal value 
of the relevant number of the Company’s shares and the fair 
value of any other consideration given to acquire the share capital 
of the subsidiary undertakings.

(iv) Dividend income
Dividends receivable from the Company’s investments in 
subsidiary undertakings are recognised when the Company’s 
right to receive payment is established.

(v) Debtors
Debtors are recognised at their fair value, which may include 
a provision for impairment.

(vi) Share-based payments
The Company operates a number of equity-settled share-based 
compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of an equity-settled transaction 

is recognised as an expense over the periods in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the vesting date 
of the award. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted. Non-market vesting conditions are reflected 
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected 
to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates 
of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises 
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment to 
equity. Awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the 
market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
conditions are satisfied. 

Equity-settled share-based compensation plans that are made 
available to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are treated 
as increases in equity over the vesting period of the award, 
with a corresponding increase in the Company’s investments 
in subsidiaries, based on an estimate of the number of shares 
that will eventually vest.

The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share 
premium when the options are exercised. 

(vii) Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available 
in FRS 8 not to disclose transactions with related parties that 
are 90% owned by the Group. 

2 Directors’ emoluments
Disclosure of the Directors’ remuneration is contained in the 
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 58 to 64 and in note 38 
of the Group financial statements.

3 Auditors’ remuneration
The audit fees payable in relation to the audit of the financial 
statements of the Company are £135,000 (2007: £166,000). 
Fees paid to the auditors and their associates for non-audit 
services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the individual 
financial statements of the Company because Group financial 
statements are prepared which disclose such fees on a 
consolidated basis.

4 Employees
The Company has no employees. 

Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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5 Investments
        £’000

At 1 January 2008       10,188
Increase in investments in subsidiaries – share-based payments     1,898

At 31 December 2008       12,086

The Company has the following principal subsidiary undertakings:

   Effective interest 
   and proportion  
Name Country of incorporation Principal activity of equity held

Xchanging Holdings Limited* England and Wales Financing company 100%
Xchanging BV Netherlands Intermediate holding company 100%
Xchanging UK Limited England and Wales Management services to  100% 
  Group companies 
Xchanging Claims Services Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 50%
Ins-sure Holdings Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 50%
Xchanging Procurement Services (Holdco) Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 100%
HR Enterprise Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 100%
Ins-sure Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
London Processing Centre Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LPSO Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Non-Marine and Aviation Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Marine Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Procurement Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging HR Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Transaction Bank GmbH Germany Business processing services 51%
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH Germany Business processing services 51%
Xchanging Broking Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Global Insurance Solutions Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Systems & Services Inc USA Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Technology Services India Private Limited India Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Insurance Professional Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Advisory Services Limited 
(formerly Landmark Business Consulting Limited) England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Resourcing Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Ferguson Snell and Associates Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Procurement Services (France) SA  
(formerly Mercuris SA)   France Business processing services 100%
Xchanging GmbH Germany Management services 100%
Xchanging SAS France Management services 100%
Xchanging Pty Limited Australia Management services 100%

*Held directly

A full list of subsidiaries will be annexed to the Company’s next annual return filed with the Registrar of Companies.

Entities in which the Company holds 50% of the equity share capital are treated as subsidiaries because the Company has overall 
operational and financial control. 
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6 Debtors due within one year
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:  
Amounts owed by Group undertakings     96,120 64,283
Corporation tax      142 –
Deferred tax       71 –
Other debtors       4,602 141
Prepayments and accrued income     7 2

       100,942 64,426

Included within amounts owed by Group undertakings above, is an unsecured loan to XUK Holdco (No. 2) Ltd of £47,690,000 
(2007: £47,690,000) which bears interest at 2.5% above LIBOR, with no fixed date of repayment and an interest-free, unsecured loan 
to Xchanging (Mauritius) Ltd of £22,377,000 (2007: £nil) with no fixed date of repayment.

All other amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. 

7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:  
Amounts owed to Group undertakings     2,544 5,468
Trade creditors      465 202
Corporation tax       – 460
Other creditors      77 –
Accruals and deferred income      1,549 172

       4,635 6,302

All amounts owed to Group undertakings included in the above balance are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. 

8 Called up share capital
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Authorised  
350,000,000 (2007: 350,000,000) ordinary shares of 5p each    17,500 17,500
  

       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid   
219,468,787 (2007: 214,799,304) ordinary shares of 5p each    10,973 10,740
 

Authorised share capital
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 23 April 2007 the shareholders resolved that:
• each issued and unissued ordinary share of £1 each be subdivided into 20 ordinary shares of 5p each
•  the authorised share capital of the Company be increased to £17,500,000 by the creation of an additional 349,000,000 ordinary 

shares of 5p each and the cancellation of the redeemable preference shares of £1 each, subject to them being redeemed. 

Issued share capital – ordinary shares
During 2008, share options were exercised over 4,669,483 shares (2007: 9,220,896) for cash consideration of £3,165,000 
(2007: £5,403,000).

Following the resolutions at the Annual General Meeting on 23 April 2007, the 2 ordinary shares in issue were divided into 40 shares 
of 5p each. 174,328,368 additional shares were issued in exchange for the entire share capital of Xchanging BV. 31,250,000 shares 
were issued for cash on the initial public offering. 

Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
continued
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8 Called up share capital continued
Issued share capital – redeemable preference shares
Prior to the initial public offering the 49,998 redeemable preference shares were redeemed at par.

Share rights
Prior to the cancellation of the redeemable preference shares, the ordinary shares were subordinate to the redeemable preference shares 
in the event of liquidation or winding up. The redeemable preference shares did not carry any rights to dividends or voting rights.

Share-based payments
A charge of £226,000 (2007: £nil) has been incurred in the year in respect of the Performance Share Plan. Further details on this 
scheme are included within note 27 of the Group financial statements.

9 Reserves
       Share Profit and  
       premium loss reserve 
       £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2008      73,715 14,109
Premium on shares issued during the year under share option schemes   2,932 –
Profit for the year      – 13,057
Dividends paid      – (4,297)
Value of employee services attributable to share-based payments    – 2,123

At 31 December 2008      76,647 24,992

The Company’s profit for the year was £13,057,000 (2007: £10,669,000).

10 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
       2008 2007 
       £’000 £’000

Opening equity shareholders’ funds     98,564 50
Issue of shares in exchange for cash     3,165 80,403
Issue of shares in exchange for Xchanging BV shares    – 8,716
Transaction costs of shares issued     – (4,664)
Redemption of preference shares     – (50)
Profit for the year      13,057 10,669
Dividends paid      (4,297) –
Value of employee services attributable to share-based payments    2,123 3,440

Closing equity shareholders’ funds     112,612 98,564

11 Contingent liabilities
A subsidiary of the Company has a credit agreement of £90,000,000 (2007: £35,000,000) with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, dated 8 October 2008 
in respect of which Xchanging plc is a guarantor. This consists of a £35,000,000 multi-currency term loan facility, expiring half-yearly 
in tranches of £5,000,000 commencing on 31 December 2009, with the final tranche expiring on 8 October 2012 and a £55,000,000 
multi-currency revolving credit facility, expiring at the earlier of 8 October 2012 or cancellation of all facilities by the Company. 
Utilisations bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, or in the case of drawings in Euro, EURIBOR plus a margin and any mandatory 
costs. As at the year end, £19,470,000 (2007: £14,700,000) of the loan facility had been utilised as a letter of credit by the Group.

12 Events after the balance sheet date
On 3 October 2008, Xchanging plc announced its intention to acquire 75% of the fully diluted share capital of 
Cambridge Solutions Limited. Further details on this acquisition are included within note 39 of the Group financial statements.
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Shareholder information

Financial calendar

Company registration number
5819018

Company’s registered office
Xchanging plc
13 Hanover Square 
London W1S 1HN 
United Kingdom

Registrars
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House  
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA 
United Kingdom 
Tel: +44 (0)871 384 2030 
Overseas tel: +44 (0)121 415 7047

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place  
London WC2N 6RH 
United Kingdom 
Tel: +44 (0)20 7583 5000 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7822 4652

Bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
City Office Gillingham 
PO Box 72 
Bailey Drive 
Gillingham Business Park 
Kent ME8 0LS 
United Kingdom

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street 
London E14 5JJ 
United Kingdom

Corporate brokers
Citigroup
Citigroup Centre 
Canada Square 
London E14 5LB 
United Kingdom 
Tel: +44 (0)20 7986 4000 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7986 2266

UBS
1 Finsbury Avenue 
London EC2M 2PP 
United Kingdom 
Tel: +44 (0)20 7567 8000 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7568 4800

Financial public relations
Tulchan Communications Group Ltd
6th Floor, Kildare House 
3 Dorset Rise 
London EC4Y 8EN 
United Kingdom 
Tel: +44 (0)20 7353 4200 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7353 4201

Share price information
The Company’s share price can be found on the Company’s 
corporate website at www.xchanging.com within the Investor 
Relations section.

Shares online
Equiniti Limited provides a range of shareholder information 
online. Shareholders can access their shareholdings and find 
advice on transferring shares and updating their details on  
www.shareview.co.uk

ShareGift
Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose 
value makes it uneconomic to sell them may wish to consider 
donating them to charity through ShareGift, the independent 
charity share donation scheme (registered charity no. 1052686). 
Further information about ShareGift may be obtained from 
Equiniti Limited or from ShareGift on +44 (0)20 7337 0501 

or at www.sharegift.org. There are no implications for capital 
gains tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to charity 
and it is also possible to claim income tax relief.

Shareholder enquiries
For queries concerning shareholdings, contact Xchanging’s 
registrars, Equiniti Limited, whose contact details are below. 

Shareholders who have any questions about the Group’s 
business should contact Xchanging’s Investor Relations 
team on +44 (0)20 7780 6999 or  
email investor.relations@xchanging.com

Shareholder fraud
Fraud is on the increase and many shareholders are targeted 
every year. If you have any reason to believe that you may have 
been the target of a fraud, or attempted fraud in relation to 
your shareholding, please contact Equiniti Limited immediately.

25 March 2009
Ex-dividend date

27 March 2009
Record date

21 May 2009
Annual General Meeting

29 May 2009
Final dividend payment

30 June 2009
Half year end

July/August 2009
Announcement of half year results

31 December 2009
Financial year end
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Glossary of terms

A
Adjusted operating profit – operating profit 
excluding exceptional items and certain 
non-cash items, which comprise amortisation 
and impairment of intangible assets previously 
unrecognised by acquired entities and 
share-based payment charges.

Adjusted profit for the year – profit for the 
year excluding exceptional items and certain 
non-cash items, which comprise amortisation 
and impairment of intangible assets previously 
unrecognised by acquired entities, share-based 
payment charges, imputed interest on put 
options, imputed interest on employee loans 
and related tax thereon.

AGI – Allianz Global Investors.

AGM – Annual General Meeting.

B
BaFin – German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority overseeing banking, insurance, 
securities and asset management.

Board – the Board of Directors of Xchanging.

BPO – Business Process Outsourcing.

Business Lines – the largest of Xchanging’s 
three sectors. Operates processes common 
across industries and back office such as human 
resources, procurement, accounting and IT.

Business Processing Services – part of the 
Group’s Indian operation.

Business Support – one of Xchanging’s 
offerings.

C
CAGR – compound annual growth rate.

Cambridge – Cambridge Solutions Limited, 
incorporated in India.

Cambridge Group – Cambridge Solutions 
Limited and its subsidiaries. 

Cash conversion ratio – cash generated from 
operations divided by the Group’s adjusted 
operating profit.

Combined group – Xchanging Group and 
Cambridge Solutions Group combined.

Company – Xchanging plc.

E
Enterprise Partnership or EP – a corporate 
partnership between the Xchanging Group 
and a customer.

F
FDB – Fondsdepot Bank GmbH.

Financial Markets – one of Xchanging’s three 
sectors. Operates complex securities trade 
settlement and related processing for a blue 
chip customer base of European banks and 
asset managers.

G
Global Balancing – matching relevant spare 
capacity with capacity shortfalls to optimise 
the use of available resources.

Group – Xchanging plc, its subsidiaries and 
subsidiary undertakings.

I
IFRS – International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Insurance – one of Xchanging’s three sectors. 
Provides business processing, products, services 
and software in international commercial 
insurance markets.

IPO – initial public offering.

K 
KPI – key performance indicator.

O
Outsourcing – one of Xchanging’s offerings.

P
Partnering – Xchanging’s unique offering 
for dealing with complexity and scale.

Process Xcellence – delivers rapid 
transformation of processes through 
simplification, integration and automation. 

Processing centre – a facility staffed and 
equipped to carry out business processing 
transactions.

Production assets – the seven standardised 
tools and methods that help us achieve lean 
processing across all of our processing centres.

Products – one of Xchanging’s offerings.

Pro forma earnings per share (EPS) – XPAT 
divided by a pro forma number of shares. 
The pro forma number of shares used is the 
weighted average number of shares in issue 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 or, for 
the year ended 31 December 2007, the sum 
of the actual number of shares in issue at IPO 
and the weighted average number of shares 
issued between IPO and 31 December 2007.

R
Resolutions – resolutions to be proposed at the 
Xchanging Annual General Meeting (and set out 
in the Notice of Annual General Meeting).

Revenue visibility – recurring revenue 
comprising three components: annuity, 
volume at risk and renewals.

S
SG&A – sales, general and administration.

Straight Through Processing (STP) – one of 
Xchanging’s offerings.

T
The Xchanging Way – our standardised approach 
to service, productivity improvement, scaling the 
platform and performance measurement.

U
UK GAAP – UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles.

W
Workflow Control – one of our standard 
production approaches for managing work 
electronically within and across multiple 
processing centres. It enables balancing of 
resources across locations, transparency, 
automation and improved performance.

X
XBS – Xchanging Broking Services Limited.

Xchanging Group – Xchanging plc, its 
subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings.

Xchanging Transaction Bank – Xchanging 
Transaction Bank GmbH, a German credit 
institution and one of the companies in the 
Xchanging Group. Situated in Sossenheim, 
Germany.

XEBIT – adjusted operating profit attributable 
to equity holders of the Group.

XMB – Xchanging Management Board.

XPAT – adjusted profit for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the Xchanging Group.

XTB – see Xchanging Transaction Bank.

1+4 Go to Market Strategy – ‘1’ represents 
Partnering, our unique offering for dealing 
with complexity. ‘4’ represents our offerings: 
Outsourcing, Products, Straight Through 
Processing and Business Support, for customer 
flexibility and repeatability. In short, a distinctive 
‘1+4 Go to Market Strategy’.
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Xchanging is a fast growing, pure 
play global business processor with 
blue chip customers.

We provide complex industry 
specific processing services to the 
banking and insurance industries 
as well as procurement, finance and 
accounting, and human resources 
services across industries.

Who we are

What we do

 +19%
Revenue growth
up to £558 million from £468 million in 2007

 2.5p
Dividend per share
2.0p per share in 2007, an increase  
of 25% year-on-year

14.67p
Pro forma EPS – diluted2

10.5p in 2007

£527.2m
Revenue visibility
Increased by £81.5 million from £445.7 million in 2007, 
representing 18% year-on-year growth

Key performance indicators1

Find out more information about Xchanging on our website www.xchanging.com

This document is printed on Era Silk which contains 50% de-inked genuine waste and 50% FSC certified virgin 
fibre which promotes the use of timber/pulp from well-managed forests. The pulp is bleached using an ECF 
(Elemental Chlorine Free) process, accordant with ISO 14001 standards.

Spellman Walker Ltd is an FSC and ISO 14001 certified printer that uses vegetable inks and alcohol-free printing processes.

Designed and produced by Design Portfolio.  Printed by Spellman Walker Ltd.

Footnotes
1  A full reconciliation to the statutory numbers can be found on page 31.
2  See glossary of terms on page 124 for definition.

Revenue growth (£ million)
CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 22%

Xchanging has a track record of rapid growth, 
with a compound annual growth rate of 22%.

XEBIT2 (£ million)
CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 46%

Xchanging has continued to deliver strong profit 
growth with XEBIT up 29.0% in 2008 over 2007.

Margin has improved by 50 basis points in 2008, through 
productivity improvement, expanding our processing 
platforms and leveraging administrative expenses.

Operating cash flow has been strong with cash 
generated from operations increasing by 40.2% 
to £69.7 million in 2008.

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

254.1

350.0
393.5

468.2

557.8

20052004 2006 2007 2008

19.7

9.0

22.2

31.6

40.8

Cash generated from operations  
(£ million) CAGR2 (2004 – 2008) 41%

20052004 2006 2007 2008

34.5

17.4

29.4

49.7

69.7

XEBIT2 margin (%)
(2004 – 2008) +370 basis points

20052004 2006 2007 2008

5.6

3.6

5.6

6.8
7.3
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© 2009 Xchanging plc 
(Registered in England and 
Wales company number 5819018)

Registered office: 
Xchanging plc 
13 Hanover Square 
London • W1S 1HN • UK

Telephone +44 (0)20 7780 6999 
Facsimile +44 (0)20 7780 6998

Email  info@xchanging.com 
Website  www.xchanging.com

Our aim is the radical improvement of business 
processing. We are a powerful force for change, 

bringing better service, cost savings and an 
entrepreneurial culture to everything we do. 

Hence our motto ‘Xchanging Cost for Profit’.
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